

Serving the Midlands, South West and Wales

Business Plan 2023 - 2028 SA-02a Supplementary Annex

Our commitments – Justification analysis

December 2021



SA-02a Our commitments – Justification analysis

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Achieving a 'well justified' Business Plan	5
3. Justification assessment criteria	7
4. Justification analysis - How we arrived at the targets and options prese	
to stakeholders	8
How commitments were selected for detailed justification	8
Justification approach for all 42 core commitments	9
5. Detailed justification papers:	
CATEGORY 1: DELIVERING AN ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE NETWORK	11
Commitment 1: Net zero across our regions	
Commitment 2: Electric vehicles (EVs) and heat pumps	20
Commitment 10: Net zero business carbon footprint	
Commitment 11: Leakage from fluid filled cables	
Commitment 14: Undergrounding for visual amenity	
CATEGORY 2: MEETING THE NEEDS OF OUR CONSUMERS AND NETWORK USERS	
Commitment 18: Smart energy action plans for vulnerable customers	
Commitment 19: Fuel poverty reduction	
Commitment 26: Customer satisfaction	
CATEGORY 3: MAINTAINING A SAFE AND RESILIENT NETWORK	
Commitment 33: Power cuts	
Commitment 34: Worst Served Customers	
Commitment 35: Improved network health	
Commitment 37: Safety enhancements near schools	86
6. Wider justification papers:	
Commitment 3: Local authority (LA) engagement	
Commitment 8: Community energy engagement	
Commitment 12: Leakage of SF6 gas	
Commitment 13: Waste sent to landfill	
Commitment 16: Innovation driving efficiency	
Commitment 20: Priority Services Register (PSR) reach	110

Introduction 1.

- 1.1. The next regulatory price control review period, known as RIIO-ED2 is a five year period and is the second for electricity distribution to be determined using Ofgem's Revenue = Incentives, Innovation and Outputs framework. This price control period runs from 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028.
- 1.2. Western Power Distribution (WPD) is required to submit a 200 page Business Plan document, supplementary Annexes, detailed cost tables, financial information and a range of other documents which form our submission under RIIO-ED2 to Ofgem, which will be used to determine allowed revenues for the price control period.
- 1.3. Our RIIO-ED2 Business Plan has been produced and compiled in line with the following key principles:
 - Co-created with our stakeholders and supported by them. •
 - Our Plan 'prepared with our stakeholders for delivery by us'.
 - Aligned with WPD's purpose and values. •
 - Affordable for all of our customers. .
 - Sustainable and will enable net zero before 2050.
- Everything in our Business Plan submission is driven to achieve the following four strategic 1.4. outcomes for customers:



1. Sustainability

Lead the drive to net zero as early as possible.



2. Connectability Customers can easily connect their electric vehicles, heat pumps and renewable generation.



3. Vulnerability

First class vulnerable customer support programme where everyone benefits in a smart future.



4. Affordability

Maintain excellent customer service, safety and network performance and transform the energy grid for future generations, while keeping bills broadly flat.

1.5. The diagram below (figure SA-02a.0) shows the structure of the full Business Plan submission with the red box showing where this document fits into the overall suite of documents.



Figure SA-02a.0 Business Plan submission

- 1.6. This document is a Supplementary Annex to Chapter 2 of WPD's RIIO-ED2 Business Plan document. Annex 2: Our Commitments provides more details on our 42 core commitments and more than 400 wider commitments. This document (Supplementary Annex SA-02a: Our Commitments Justification Analysis) builds on this further by demonstrating how each core commitment was developed and demonstrates the well justified nature of each by detailing the considerations undertaken against six stringent justification criteria.
- **1.7.** We appreciate that the readers of the WPD RIIO-ED2 Business Plan suite of documents will range from regulatory experts and well informed stakeholders through to new customers who may have little previous knowledge of WPD.
- **1.8.** This document is aimed at readers who require a more detailed understanding of the commitments that will be delivered.

1.9. This document is subdivided into the following sections:

Section	Title	Content
2	Achieving a 'well justified' Business Plan	A summary of how we produced a well justified Business Plan.
3	Justification assessment criteria	The section provides details for the criteria used to assess the justifications.
4	Justification analysis - How we arrived at the targets and options presented to stakeholders	This section provides analysis to support the targets we set and options presented to your stakeholders.
5	Detailed justification papers	This section provides further details our justification papers.
6	Wider justification papers	This section provides further details on our wider justification papers.

2. Achieving a 'well justified' Business Plan

- 2.1. WPD has followed an extensive process of co-creation with stakeholders in order to build our Business Plan commitments 'bottom-up', starting from a blank sheet of paper. This process is set out in considerable detail in Supplementary Annex SA-05 Giving customers a stronger voice: Enhanced engagement, including tracking each core commitment from its origins as a high level theme/topic of stakeholder priority, through to its refinement into a specific, measurable and stretching final commitment. In the majority of instances, stakeholder feedback was the originating source for each commitment, although in some cases regulatory or legislative requirements, coupled with WPD's own knowledge and expertise running the electricity network, led us to make some unprompted proposals to for stakeholders to consider. However, in all cases, a final commitment has only been agreed following extensive consultation with stakeholders, negotiating and refining the final levels of ambition we have committed to for RIIO-ED2.
- 2.2. As part of this process, where stakeholders requested high level outputs and actions to be achieved in certain areas, in some cases WPD presented a range of performance target options for consideration. This Supplementary Annex SA-02a outlines the origins and rationale for the scope and scale of these options offered to stakeholders, including the consideration of "left-field", innovative and non-traditional actions, and whether these gained stakeholder support. This demonstrates that WPD's Business Plan commitments do not simply deliver "more of the same" but have sought to deliver high ambition and innovative new approaches wherever possible.
- 2.3. It should be noted that the structure and design of WPD's stakeholder workshops, often using roundtable discussions with a broad cross-section of stakeholders representing diverse perspectives, was purposeful in order to deliver live triangulation of feedback during the event itself, ensuring that consensus was achieved wherever possible. As such, while some extreme or uncommon suggestions may have been made by stakeholders (e.g. outsource and relocate all of WPD's Contact Centres overseas in order to significantly reduce operating costs, but potentially accept some worsening in service levels as a consequence), such examples will have been considered and in some instances rejected at source by the wider stakeholders in attendance. Our focus throughout our engagement processes is to build a plan that has the broadest and strongest support possible across our customer base.
- 2.4. Nonetheless, this has not curtailed the consideration of options for delivery in RIIO-ED2 that are appropriately ambitious and challenging to the way things have been done historically. For example, WPD's co-creation events as part of the 'Stage Three: Business Plan Development' resulted in a long list of over 1,000 suggested actions and initiatives.
- 2.5. Our engagement process has therefore revealed a huge range of actions and new innovations/improvements which stakeholders would like us to deliver. Our 42 core commitments are the headline overarching outcomes which we will deliver for customers. Beneath these there are a host of wider commitments that have been co-created with stakeholders and which are built into the plan. These are key enablers to achieve each core commitment.

- 2.6. This paper sets out the extensive justification considerations for 18 of the total 42 core commitments. These are the commitments with significant material impact, where stakeholders were presented with a range of options in terms of commitment scope and performance targets as part of the Business Plan development and refinement stages. Some core commitments were of a more binary do or do not do nature, where stakeholder support was overwhelming in driving us to take action. A number of these do not materially affect the cost allowances set for WPD. A full explanation of how commitments were selected for this detailed justification is outlined in chapter 2 of this document.
- 2.7. Supplementary Annex SA-05: Giving customers a stronger voice Enhanced Engagement is an essential document to be read in conjunction with this Annex, as it sets out the customer and stakeholder insights that have driven the creation of our Plan and helped to for a set of core commitments that closely address their needs and preferences. This Annex 2a then seeks to take a broader view of the criteria that must be met in order for WPD's Business Plan to be considered well justified. These include whether the plan is sufficiently ambitious/innovative and whether it ultimately will deliver significant value for customers. As part of this it seeks to evidence that stakeholders and customers have had sufficient information on which to express their preferences and sets out the decision-making that led to the options presented for stakeholders to consider as part of the development of WPD's Business Plan.

3. Justification assessment criteria

- **3.1.** Our objective throughout the development process for WPD's RIIO-ED2 Business Plan was to arrive at a set of proposals that are well justified and highly acceptable to our customers.
- **3.2.** Stakeholder support and endorsement of our proposals is one key component of this justification; however, there are additional factors we must consider and thresholds that must be met in order for WPD's Business Plan to be considered fully 'well justified'. In agreement with the Customer Engagement Group, we have identified six key justification criteria as follows. WPD must:
 - Explain why actions are appropriate for a Distribution Network Operator (DNO) to undertake (WPD best placed to deliver) and that electricity distribution customers should fund.
 - Demonstrate that we have **considered alternative approaches** to meet these objectives and explain why the proposed approach is best.
 - Demonstrate that the costs are efficient and that the **benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs** (recognising benefits may not all be quantifiable and may be uncertain.
 - Test whether a representative sample of **customers**, as well as stakeholders, support the **Business Plan** when properly informed of the costs and benefits.
 - Propose how the initiatives included will be treated in the price control so that **customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks** (e.g. paying and not getting the benefits).
 - Provide any **assurance undertaken** or commissioned by WPD and explain how this has been taken into account.
- 3.3. WPD's commitments have been built over the last 18 months, and therefore justification has developed from several different sources. The three initial versions of our Business Plan provided several opportunities to identify areas of weak justification. With the full history of WPD's analysis and engagement on each, the overview below acts as a summary of evidence collected over the full business planning process.
- 3.4. For the Business Plan as a whole to be considered well justified, these six criteria must be met across all of WPD's core commitments, as well as key projects and areas of discretionary spend, as set out in our Engineering Justification Papers (EJPs). The EJPs are separate documents and include an explanation of the various options considered for each major investment and the justifications for selecting the final approach proposed in WPD's final Plan. This Annex does not therefore duplicate these justifications and focuses exclusively on the rationale behind WPD's core commitments.

4. Justification analysis - How we arrived at the targets and options presented to stakeholders

How commitments were selected for detailed justification

- 4.1. The six justification criteria have been considered as part of the creation of all 42 core commitments in WPD's Business Plan, and all significant areas of discretionary spend.
- **4.2.** Justifications can therefore be found in a number of areas including: EJPs (for all discretionary spend greater than £1 million), Consumer Value Propositions (commitments that will generate significant extra value for customers) and key strategies (e.g. Distribution System Operator (DSO) strategy and Whole Systems Strategy).
- **4.3.** This Supplementary Annex SA-02a focuses on the justifications specifically in relation to WPD's 42 core commitments. While the six justification criteria have been considered against all, we have set this out in three levels of detail:
 - i. **Detailed justifications:** Detailed explanatory narrative of WPD's considerations against all six criteria, including outlining every option considered prior to stakeholder consultation and the reasons why certain options were offered and others were rejected prior to stakeholder engagement.
 - ii. Wider justifications: Detailed explanatory narrative of WPD's considerations against all six criteria, with an explanation of the options that were co-created with stakeholders.
 - iii. Stakeholder justifications: How the commitments were co-created and refined with stakeholders, starting from a blank sheet of paper.
- **4.4.** We have selected 12 core commitments for the most detailed justification level. These were selected for the following criteria:
 - Significant financial materiality: The expenditure for each commitment has a material impact on customer bills (Expenditure >£2m per year; >£5m over 5 years).
 - Significant strategic materiality: These commitments are fundamental to delivery against key strategic priorities for RIIO-ED2 identified by either stakeholders, Ofgem or the Customer Engagement Group; for example, those relating to the achievement of net zero.
 - Where a range of options were presented to stakeholders: Commitments where stakeholders were able to significantly shape the type of action taken and the scope of ambition. This does not include commitments that originated from stakeholder co-creation events and we of a binary do or do not do nature, as these have overwhelming stakeholder support to justify their inclusion in the Business Plan.
 - Overarching, umbrella commitments: Commitments that are key flagship deliverables for customers, that are culmination of other actions in the Plan and not contributory to others (and therefore captured by those justifications). E.g. overall customer satisfaction is an overarching commitment, whereas a commitment in relation to the speed of our telephony response is contributory to this.
- **4.5.** Carrying out this in-depth analysis on these twelve has enabled stakeholders, including the Customer Engagement Group and Ofgem, to understand the robustness of our consideration process as a whole, which gives confidence that this has been the case across all commitments, including those of

lesser materiality. A further six commitments have been selected for a wider justification. The remaining 24 commitments are justified via extensive stakeholder engagement and are set out in Supplementary Annex SA-05, chapter 5.

Justification approach for all 42 core commitments

4.6. The consideration of WPD's 42 core commitments and the level of justification outlined in this Supplementary Annex, is set out below:

		C	onsid	eratio	าร:		Level of	justificatio	on:	
	Core commitment (Key: = selected for detailed or wider justification in this annex)	Financial materiality	Strategic materiality	Range of options considered	Overarching, umbrella commitment	Annex 2a: Detailed justification	Annex 2a: Wider justification	Annex 5: Stakeholder justification	EJP	CVP
1	Drive the achievement of net zero across our regions sooner than 2050 in line with stakeholder plans (some areas as early as 2028), by ensuring network capacity is available.	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓				✓
2	Ensure customers are able to connect low carbon technologies quickly and easily, with the network being ready to connect at least an additional 1.5 million electric vehicles and 600,000 heat pumps by 2028.	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark				
3	Make it easy for customers to adopt low carbon technologies and achieve net zero in their region much sooner than 2050, by driving the delivery of ambitious local area energy plans and proactively engaging all 130 local authorities each year via 90 local energy surgeries.		~	 ✓ 	Leads to #1		✓			✓
4	Deliver a network to meet the evolving needs of our customers by aligning our future energy forecasts with the plans of local regions and the Electricity System Operator (ESO), by updating WPD's Distribution Future Energy Scenarios every 12 months.		(Leads to #2)	~	Leads to #2			✓		
5	Keep bills as low as possible and minimise the requirement for load related reinforcement by adopting a 'flexibility first' approach in order to maximise the utilisation of the existing network.		(Leads to #2)		Leads to #2			✓		
6	Unlock capacity from the existing grid and therefore avoid the need for reinforcement, by stimulating the development of flexibility markets and implementing simple, fair and transparent rules for procuring flexibility services, with a six monthly tender and exceptional customer satisfaction for flexibility services.		(Leads to #1&2)		Leads to #1&2			 ✓ 		
7	Deliver solutions that achieve the greatest social benefit to customers by utilising a whole system approach for major reinforcement to improve network efficiency. We will undertake three regional collaboration trial schemes by 2025 involving gas, electricity, water, waste, transport and heating sectors.		(Leads to #1&2)	~	Leads to #1&2			v		
8	Actively support the expansion of green, renewable energy generation and help local communities to decarbonise and lower their bills, by connecting at least 30 community energy groups to the network each year. We will hold 60 community energy surgeries per year and providing a dedicated WPD community energy representative to assist with connection and flexibility offers.		✓	~	~		✓			✓
9	Support a growth in community energy schemes by facilitating their access to available funding streams.		(Leads to #8)		Leads to #8			 Image: A set of the set of the		
10	Achieve net zero in our internal business carbon footprint by 2028 (excluding network losses) and follow a verified science based target of 1.5°C to limit the climate impact of our activities.	✓	~	 Image: A set of the set of the	\checkmark	\checkmark				
11	Avoid damage to the environment by reducing the volume of oil leaked from fluid filled cables by 50% by 2028 and replacing 90km of the worst leaking circuits with non-oil alternatives putting WPD on target to remove all oil-filled cables by 2060.	 Image: A second s	✓	~	Leads to #10	\checkmark			✓	
12	Significantly reduce our impact on climate change by delivering a 20% reduction in SF ₆ losses and drive industry partners to develop technological alternatives to reduce overall volumes of SF ₆ on the system.	~	 Image: A set of the set of the	 Image: A set of the set of the	Leads to #10		✓		\checkmark	
13	Significantly reduce the environmental impact of our operations by achieving zero waste to landfill by 2028 (excluding hazardous waste) and delivering an overall 30% reduction in tonnage waste produced.	~	 Image: A second s	 Image: A set of the set of the	Leads to #10		✓			
14	Improve visual amenity by removing at least 50km of overhead lines in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks.	✓	 Image: A set of the set of the	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
15	Achieve a 10% net gain in biodiversity (in line with nationally recognised assessment tools) for new major projects and for selected primary and grid substation sites.			 Image: A second s	Leads to #10			✓		
16	Keep bills for customers low by delivering an additional stretch efficiency saving of £95m through RIIO-ED2 (on top of £723m of efficiencies already included in the plan) by utilising innovation to improve our processes and show a positive carbon impact.		✓		\checkmark		✓			
17	Enhance access to data that is tailored to the individual needs of our customers, by making 60% of WPD's network data available via an interactive Application Programming Interface.			✓	~			\checkmark		
18	Ensure customers are not left behind in the smart energy transition by offering at least 600,000 Priority Services Register customers a bespoke smart energy action plan each year.	✓	 Image: A set of the set of the	 Image: A second s	\checkmark	\checkmark				✓
19	Support at least 113,000 fuel poor customers to save £60 million on their energy bills over RIIO-ED2.	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				

	Expand the reach of our Priority Services Register to at least 75% of total eligible customers and 80% of customers with critical medical dependencies to									
20	Expand the reach of our Priority Services Register to alreast 7.5% of total engine custometric and 0.% of custometrics with crucal medical dependencies to ensure those in greatest need receive targeted support services. This will include registering at least 50,000 additional hard-to-reach custometre each		\checkmark		Leads to		1			
20	ensure and/ensure and/en				#22					
~	Achieve a 'one-stop-shop' service so that customers only have to join the Priority Services Register once to be registered automatically with their energy				Leads to			1		
21	supplier, water company, gas distributor and telecommunications companies.				#22			✓		
	Maintain high guality data to allow us to deliver bespoke support to customers in vulnerable situations by proactively contacting over two million Priority		Ofgem	<u> </u>	√					
22	Service Register customers once every two years to remind them of our services and update their records (with 60% via direct telephone call).	•	baseline	×	v			×		
	Support and add significant value to our local communities via a 'Community Matters' social initiative associated with the smart energy transition,			1	Leads to					1
23	vulnerability, environment and sustainability. This will include a shareholder-funded annual £1 million community support fund and 1,000 volunteer days			\checkmark	#24			✓		✓
_	per year for WPD staff to support local causes. Deliver enduring, long term support to our communities by publishing an updated WPD Social Contract and performance report every year and maintain									
24	Deriver enduring, long terms support to our communities by publishing an updated WPD Social Contract and performance report every year and maintain our prime Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) rating.		\checkmark		\checkmark			✓		
	Build decarbonised communities and local energy schemes by providing £540,000 shareholder-funded support per year to install solar PV on schools in				Leads to					
25	areas of high economic deprivation.	v			#24			×		✓
26	Deliver exceptional service levels by achieving an overall average customer satisfaction of 93% or higher by the end of RIIO-ED2, with separate reporting	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	1				
20	for emerging technology customers.					•				
27	Ensure a speedy telephone response to customers by answering calls within an average of four seconds and maintain an abandoned call rate of less than				Leads to			✓		
_	1%, within our UK-based, in-region Contact Centres.				#26		-	· · · ·		
28	Ensure a speedy social media response to customers by replying to enquiries within an average of five minutes and Webchats in an average of less than a minute, 24 hours a day.			\checkmark	Leads to #26			✓		
_					Leads to					
29	Provide greater insight on our planned work activities and interruptions on our network by creating an online viewer.				#26			×		
20	When things go wrong ensure we put things right very quickly, by resolving at least 90% of complaints within one day and 99% of complaints within 25				Leads to			 ✓ 		
30	days.				#26			•		
31	Make it as easy as possible for customers to apply to connect individual domestic low carbon technologies by providing a same day connections response		Leads		Leads to			✓		
	via an online self-assessment tool		to #2)		#2					
32	Provide quicker and cheaper connections options for customers by increasing the number of flexible connection offers made, ensuring 100% of schemes receive a flexible alternative to reinforcement where the reinforcement cost is >£75k for LV. 11kV and 33kV connections and >£100k for 66kV or 132kV		Leads to		Leads to			1		
52	connections and/or where works will take more than 12 or 18 months respectively to complete.		#1&2)		#1&2					
	Deliver improved network reliability where on average power cuts are better than one interruption every two years lasting less than 22 minutes (12%	\checkmark	<u> </u>	\checkmark	√	 Image: A set of the set of the				
33	reduction in customer interruptions (frequency) and 16% reduction in customer minutes lost (duration)), utilising vulnerable customer data to prioritise					•				
	network improvement schemes.									
34	Improve the service for at least 8,260 Worst Served Customers by undertaking 70 schemes.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Leads to	\checkmark			\checkmark	
	Counteract deterioration of network assets through an investment of £216 million per annum, delivering a 22% change in risk to keep network risk at				#33 Leads to					
35	Contretact deterioration of network assets through an investment of 2216 million per annum, derivering a 22% change in tisk to keep network risk at similar levels to the start of the price control period.	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	#33	\checkmark			\checkmark	
	Beduce the flooding risk at key sites by undertaking 102 flood defence schemes and engage stakeholders to reduce the need for new assets in flood risk	\checkmark	Leads	√	Leads to			 ✓ 		
36	areas.	•	to #33	•	#33			×	•	
27	Increase the safety of around 200,000 children by delivering 780 schemes to underground, insulate or divert overhead lines that cross school playing	>	 Image: A set of the set of the	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
51	areas.			•		•				
38	Keep our children safe by sending electrical safety education packs to every primary school in WPD's region and educate at least 80,000 children per year			\checkmark	Leads to			✓		
	via direct learning.				#39					
39	Reduce the risk of data loss or network interruption from a cyber-attack by continually assessing emerging threats in order to enhance our cyber security systems.	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark			✓	\checkmark	
-	systems. Reduce the risk of disruption to our operations and enhance the resilience of our IT network security as we deliver greater digitalisation, by increasing	1	Leads		Leads to			×	.(
40	levels of threat monitoring, prevention and alerting systems, and upgrading our disaster recovery capability to ensure continuity of operations.	v	to #40		#40			Ý	v	
41	Demonstrate exceptional and embedded employment practices by achieving Gold accreditation with Investors in People by the end of RIIO-ED2.				\checkmark			 ✓ 		
	Achieve year-on-year improvements to the levels of diversity within the business and publish an annually updated Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Action				Leads to					
42	Achieve year-on-year improvements to the levels of diversity within the business and publish an annually updated Diversity, Equity and inclusion Action Plan				Leads to #41			✓		
L					11-41					

5. Detailed justification papers:

CATEGORY 1: DELIVERING AN ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE NETWORK

Commitment 1: Net zero across our regions

Drive the achievement of net zero across our regions sooner than 2050 in line with stakeholder plans (some areas as early as 2028), by ensuring network capacity is available.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed	Ensure net zero is achieved across WPD's regions as quickly as possible, and dramatically sooner than 2050. Key to this is ensuring
with stakeholders	customers can easily connect low carbon technologies without delays due to a lack of available network capacity, ensuring our
(see Annex 5)	regions lead the way to net zero such that WPD connects more than the national average connecting in the UK.
1. Actions are appropriate	RIIO-ED2 Business Plan guidance sets out the baseline expectations in regards to a DSO transition. The Business Plan must clarify the DNO's
for a distribution	long term overall targets/objectives for the network's environmental impacts, beyond the RIIO-ED2 period. As a DNO, WPD will play a unique
network operator	role in the decarbonisation of the energy system, by enabling the decentralisation of energy resources. WPD interacts and coordinates with a
(DNO)	high number of local authorities (LAs) for the maintenance and development of our network and to enable the decarbonisation of the local and regional economies. In its letter to networks from 8th August 2019, Ofgem mentions that networks shall identify where their baseline investment plan may impede the efficient achievement of any of the pathways to achieve net zero. Networks will need to propose how their Business Plans can flex to address impediments and facilitate timely investments which support potential pathways. In addition, Ofgem's Decarbonisation Action Plan (2020) states that network companies shall undertake comprehensive assessments and put appropriate plans to deliver resilience to climate change.
	Net zero is a national target, but it will be delivered regionally. In the region served by WPD, nearly 80% of the local authorities have declared climate emergencies, setting targets well in advance of 2050. It will take a collaborative approach between WPD and a wide range of stakeholders to achieve a decentralised energy system to deliver these ambitious targets. WPD's expertise is unique for the delivery of this commitment and we are well placed to deliver it to our customers. This is due to our expertise in electrical engineering and in the connection and installation of low carbon technologies (LCTs).
	In RIIO-ED1 WPD is already taking a leading role by engaging local stakeholders extensively to understand their priorities and bake these into our Business Plan commitments. We have engaged every local authority in our region on our plans for RIIO-ED2, while providing key forecast information, as well as trusted advice and support to co-create their bespoke local energy plans, and ensuring they align with and inform WPD's Distribution Future Energy Scenarios (DFES). In project EPIC, WPD is developing a standardised process that can be used with different local authorities to support the creation of integrated local energy plans, and in a format that can be incorporate back in the DFES analysis.

2. Considered alternative approaches (and	and LAs. There we critical to this task, When engaging LA	re sev and is s, we v dev shape	veral i s well also elopm ed the	nenti place seek nent r e accu	ons c ed to feedt ecorc uracy	of the need to bring the re back on the ds as part of of our plan	to align network quisite parties DFES projection four DFES for ning for RIIO-E	
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Options considered:	Dotions considered: Achieves Dottcome ?			Stakeholder Stakeholder Cost Benefit Benefit		Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
	A. Passive and reactive only: Wait for demand in LA regions to arise and provide connections in line with our timescales to provide capacity	×	~	✓	×	Zero	Lower bills as c.£200m Totex increase wouldn't be delivered. However, we would be deferring this investment to later price control review periods and leaving a huge amount of 'catch up' in order to achieve net zero by 2050.	Rejected: Stakeholders expect WPD to show leadership in relation to net zero and to ensure the network is ready so that we actually drive up the ambitions of local regions and bring forward their net zero target dates wherever possible. This option therefore runs entirely contrary to that feedback. Failing to take action in RIIO-ED2 would risk WPD becoming a barrier to new connections, including electric vehicles and heat pumps, due to lack of available network capacity. By doing so this risk having a very detrimental impact on customer satisfaction and not delivering against key aspects of Ofgem's Business Plan guidance. A lack of immediate action will recue the likelihood of net zero being achieved in the UK, and if WPD demonstrates a lack of urgency this would be contrary to all government policy (e.g. the Welsh Government's recent 'Net Zero Wales' plan).

ГГ	-						0000	-	
	В.	Minimum: Deliver enough investment to deliver against a 'base case' (minimum) view of future network requirements and volumes of anticipated LCTs	~	~	~	~	£622m	Ensure sufficient available capacity to meet the minimum likely projections for LCTs. Unlikely to drive ambitions of some regions higher by having capacity ready and available which would enable them to go further and quicker in the transition to net zero.	Offered: WPD's baseline plan includes upfront investment to deliver the capacity required under high certainty, but the actual investment required will be driven by national and local government policy, combined with activity in the consumer market. These factors are likely to change during the price control, so load related expenditure must be agile, in both directions, to respond to these changes. There will be more certainty of the investment in some areas that are supported by historical growth, national targets and local area enablers. Using the DFES, WPD has identified the volumes and locations of constraints triggering in each scenario and the consequential low regret investment required to accommodate the forecast growth. Through stakeholder engagement, forecasting and scenario modelling, WPD's Best View has been created. It identifies the most credible and likely growth which needs investment from WPD to deliver.
	C	Best view: Deliver enough investment to deliver against WPD's 'best view' (most realistic) of future network requirements and volumes of anticipated LCTs	~	~	~	~	£1,095m (£622m base case; £473m subject to an uncertain mechanism volume driver)	Ensure sufficient available capacity to meet the most likely projections for LCTs. Enables WPD to drive ambitions of some regions higher by having capacity ready and available to enable them to go further and quicker in the transition to net zero.	
	D.	Maximum view: Deliver enough investment to deliver against any of the of the three net zero compliant scenarios from the Distribution Future Energy Scenarios	~	~	×	×	£2,269m	Ensure sufficient available capacity to meet the highest conceivable projections for LCTs. Some risk of investment too far in advance of need, well ahead of when capacity is reasonably expected to materialise	

		_			04.0	D 11	011					
E. Proactive:					£1.6m	Provide	Offered:					
Engage every						advanced sight						d from each LA's
LA to						and greater			on energy aspira			
understand their						certainty of						to share our own
requirements to better inform						WPD's network			ork investments			
						capacity so that				nent of net zero	(which has cons	istently been a top
our network						customers	priority for vv	PD's stakeholde	ers).			
planning and enhance the						planning new connections can	Thora are an	tions for how pr		uld ha in ralatia	n to this potion	conging from the
granularity and									oactive WPD sho			
accuracy of our						better plan ahead and			gs per year (allow ngs) through to t			
forecasting	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		make longer		e therefore offe				eve the desired
lorecasting				•		term	outcomes. W		ieu.			
						investments.		Option 1:	Option 2:	Option 3:	Option 4:	Option 5:
						Ensure the local	Ambition	Hold 15	30 per year	60 per year	90 per year	Even further
						energy	level:	Local	(one per	(two per	(three per	ambition /
						requirements in	10101.	Energy	WPD local	WPD local	WPD local	an
						each of our		Surgeries	operating	operating	operating	alternative
						regions are fully		for local	region)	region)	region)	(uncapped)
						understood and		authorities				(
						feed into our		per year				
						long term	Bill		No bill			
						planning.	impact	-0.5p	impact	+0.5p	+1p	-
F. Proactive:						Influencing and						
Engage every						driving up the	Ambition	Engage				
LA to help						ambitions of LA	level:	every local				
develop their						net zero plans		authority				Even further
Local Area						(not just		(130) and				ambition /
Energy Plans						passively		local	Once every	Once every	Once every	an
(LAEPs)						facilitating) by		enterprise	three years	two years	year	alternative
	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		helping LAs and		partnership				(uncapped)
						developers to		once every				
						create local		five years				
						energy plans	Bill		No bill	.0.5-	. 4	
						that are	impact	-1p	impact	+0.5p	+1p	-
						achievable and	· · ·	•		•	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
						help to deliver a						
						network ready						
						for the future.						

G.	Proactive: Community energy surgeries	~	~	✓	~	£1.6m	Community groups with less knowledge and expertise of the connections process receive tailored support to develop their schemes and connect to the network. This will increase their confidence and understanding of our processes, so that they find it easier to gain access to our	 WPD in relation to driving innovation and new services, given the large numbers of peop local communities it could benefit. They see a key role for community energy groups in t carbon transition, both in terms of installing green, renewable generation but also for communities to increasingly flexibility services. We recognise that our local communities key role to play in achieving our net zero goals. We are committed to engaging with, and supporting our communities' bespoke climate and energy plans with 43% of the UK's co energy groups operating within WPD's network area. We currently support nearly 100 community energy organisations, comprising over 12,00 members, who collectively own 100MW of renewable capacity. As many community energy groups are largely volunteer-based, some groups struggle to keep up with rapidly develop policy and changes to our energy system. There are options for how proactive WPD should be in relation to this action, ranging fro maximum number of meetings per year (allowing a period of time for reasonable change development between meetings) through to the minimum that would still achieve the des outcomes. We therefore offered: 						
							network.	Ambition level: Bill	Option 1:	Option 2: Hold 30 Community Energy Surgeries per year (one per WPD local operating region) No bill	Option 3: 60 per year (two per WPD local operating region)	Option 4: 90 per year (three per WPD local operating region)	Option 5: Even further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)	
As tha this	nsideration of wi key enablers to t WPD has comi s area. Of these, nmitments are a	this o nitteo the v	verar d to de vast m	ching eliver. ajorit ambi	core WPI y are tion t	D's co-crea wider com hat stakeh	ation events res amitments that v olders support.	ulted in a la ve will deliv For examp	arge number ver in RIIO-E le:	of unprompt D2. This is a	ed stakehold strong indica	er suggestio	ons in relation to	
					Topic:		re changes and up		sed WPD future	e energy scenar	rios	.		
a)	Invest ahead of p	ed to	keen na	ace wit	h futur		ceholder created action		apacity in areas	of predicted nee	d and ensuring		WPD's Plan?	
reasonable cost of connection										Yes				
b) c)				orking	collab	oratively with	local authorities, ind	iustry, governi	nent, aeveloper	s, energy provide	ers		Yes Yes	
d)				to futu	re ene	rav scenarios	, including nuclear						Yes	
u) e)							nd alternative conne	ction naths wi	th regard to rop	owables			– N/A	
e) f)	Conduct horizon		0 /	Judiist	50 13016	adon pointe di		ouon paulo Wi	an regard to rem	- manico			Yes	
 1)		scatitil	iy										100	

g) Participate in Welsh Government planning to better respond to future energy changes	Yes
h) Invest in, and facilitate, battery storage	No – licence condition restricts ability to do this
i) Monitor evidence and plan long term	Yes
j) Make use of vehicle to rid technology	Yes
k) Consider the National Planning Policy Framework	Yes
I) Make use of embedded generation and create local grids	Yes
m) Lobby for regional regulatory variations: map and create district area scenarios	Yes
n) Model current distribution vs predicted changes to customer use and demand	Yes
o) Participate in a statutory forum to establish cross-utility collaboration	Yes
p) Roll out the work you do with Energy Capital (West Midlands Planning Authority Scheme)	Yes
q) Invest in the local network	Yes
Topic: Where reinforcement is required, ensure it is future proof	
Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan
a) Lobby for investment ahead of need in areas of the network where certain criteria are met, whilst minimising risk of stranded assets	Yes
b) Work with local authorities to clearly identify where to reinforce for growth in housing and EVs in line with local plans	Yes
c) Install three phase supplies	Yes
	Nie Reeserverserversteller
d) Strategically reinforce the network to prioritise demand and generation that meet net zero targets	
 d) Strategically reinforce the network to prioritise demand and generation that meet net zero targets e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity 	
	No – licence condition restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes
e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity	restricts ability to do thi Yes
e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes
e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes j) Publish a plan for EV charging 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes j) Publish a plan for EV charging k) Ensure that you have enough capacity in the network 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes j) Publish a plan for EV charging k) Ensure that you have enough capacity in the network l) Adopt a localised approach 	restricts ability to do the Yes Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes j) Publish a plan for EV charging k) Ensure that you have enough capacity in the network l) Adopt a localised approach m) Support those communities who are off the gas grid 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes
 e) Consider changing the charging mechanisms on reinforcement so that developers cannot hoard capacity f) Keep pace with the latest innovations and renewable technologies and ensure they are future-proofed g) Ensure that reinforcement is future-proofed, albeit with early investment h) Lead the conversation to support new systems, including by working with developers i) Lobby for additional clarity on government policy and an end to gas in new homes j) Publish a plan for EV charging k) Ensure that you have enough capacity in the network l) Adopt a localised approach m) Support those communities who are off the gas grid n) Ensure that your plans are affordable for all customers 	restricts ability to do thi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	We propose to invest around £6.7 billion in the network across the period 2023-2028. This is an increase of around £1.4 billion from current levels. This will deliver significant benefits to customers and move us towards the achievement of net zero carbon emissions in the UK. It is driven primarily by an increase in reinforcement of the network – which is absolutely essential to facilitate the move to net zero carbon emissions. Our current calculations estimate that the impact of the increased expenditure above would result in an approximate £3.37 increase on the average domestic bill if all other elements of the price control were unchanged. However, we predict that this will be offset by our efficiencies, changes to the financing parameters and other aspects of the RIIO-ED2 framework. At present, the combination of these changes means that we intend to keep our portion of bills broadly flat across the five year period 2023-2028. By contrast our willingness to pay research reveals that the value placed by customers on the achievement of WPD connecting LCTs significantly quicker than the national average and therefore helping to achieve net zero much earlier than 2050 across our regions, (at £1.24 per year, per customer) significantly outstrips the costs of delivery and any potential bill increase associated with this expenditure. WPD's proposals to drive the earlier achievement of net zero in our regions have been scoped out in detail, including very specific outcomes, based on extensive discussions with stakeholders. If we did not deliver on these priorities and expenditure will see WPD deliver against key government policy goals, by delivering our responsibility to drive the UK's achievement of net zero ensistions. The benefits of deliver the commitments stakeholders have told us are essential. This expenditure will see WPD deliver against key government policy goals, by delivering our responsibility to drive the UK's net zero aspirations and the government's Ten Point Plan by ensuring that the electricity n
	 Indication be included by include
	 Higher initial upfront costs, but less reinforcement needed in the future However this introduces risk of unnecessary work being undertaken – burdening customers with higher costs and bill increases for works that may not actually be needed
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As set out in detail in Annex 5, stakeholders repeatedly highlighted the need for WPD to demonstrate leadership in relation to net zero and to ensure we not only facilitate the needs of local regions, but play a role in actively driving up these ambitions. Overall there was wide agreement that more engagement is needed and that LAs and enterprise partnerships need to work more closely with WPD to deliver aligned energy plans and streamline the sharing of information. Stakeholders specifically raised the need to increase engagement to assess if there are gaps in EV charging infrastructure and mentioned having a local contact so they can see whether LA plans match those of WPD.



	At the Business Plan refinement stage, stakeholders requested a separation between WPD's own achievement of net zero (based on our business carbon footprint) and the actions we will take to enable local regions to achieve net zero overall, by dates much sooner than the government target of 2050. There was acknowledgement that LAs are going at different paces and not all will be ready by 2030, but WPD needs to be able to provide sufficient capacity for those that are. Almost all stakeholders felt that 2050 was much too late and WPD had a key role to drive earlier achievement (see WPD's Synthesis report 3). This has since therefore become a new, standalone commitment that came out of our initial Business Plan testing. When undertaking final Business Plan acceptance testing, it revealed that a strong majority of our customers (79%) supported this commitment.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the Output Delivery Incentive (ODI). In addition, in terms of primary and secondary load related expenditure WPD is proposing an uncertainty mechanism so that costs are only recovered if requirements are triggered above WPD's base case view, up to our best case. This will be on a volume driver basis and will be upwards against our ex-ante base case view. We will provide annual volumes of projects profiled for the base case view across all load related expenditure categories, and where volumes delivered are in excess of those profiles, an annually triggered uncertainty mechanism based on the unit costs and volumes delivered will be applied to adjust allowed recovery upwards. This therefore removes any risk for customers of WPD over-recovering for expenditure that is not required, with additional costs to customers on passed on where the need has materialised on the network, leading to greater reinforcement costs to provide the required capacity.
6. Assurance undertaken	As part of this work, WPD undertook detailed Future Energy Scenarios engagement to ensure that while new capacity is set to reduce the cost of net zero long term, this is balanced with affordability for customers, especially not disadvantaging the vulnerable or the fuel poor. This engagement with local authorities will continue throughout the process, to provide assurance that not only are WPD's projections detailed and well evidenced now, but that they will continue to be updated as work is delivered throughout RIIO-ED2.

Commitment 2: Electric vehicles (EVs) and heat pumps

Ensure customers are able to connect low carbon technologies quickly and easily, with the network being ready to connect at least an additional 1.5 million electric vehicles and 600,000 heat pumps by 2028.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:							
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Customers can easily connect LCTs without delays due to a lack of available network capacity. We will enable volumes of LCTs in our region that enable the achievement of net zero well in advance of 2050, driving up the ambitions of local regions.							
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	Decarbonisation of transport, heating and electricity production necessitate more EVs, heat pumps and distributed generation all of which will connect to the distribution system. Many of these LCTs will be connected at lower voltages, making it vital to ensure that there is sufficient capacity for the LCTs to connect.							
	WPD will proactively identify parts of the network that are heavily loaded and provide more capacity. We will use smart meter data, increased amounts of network monitoring and enhanced analysis to identify where network reinforcement is required. We will also look at ways in which the LCT loads can be managed to make greatest use of existing network capacity, which may involve steps including controlling when EVs are charged.							
	Together, these proactive actions will enable more LCTs to connect overall and in shorter timescales and at lower cost than if conventiona reinforcement were required.							
	WPD's expertise and position is unique for the delivery of this commitment and we are well placed to deliver it to our customers. This is due to our expertise in electrical engineering and in the connection and installation of LCT solutions, as well as our experience in providing an excellent customer service.							
	The Electricity Distribution Licence states that the Licensee is responsible for the development, maintenance and operation of an efficient, coordinated, and economical Distribution System, as well as for the facilitation of effective competition in the generation and supply of electricity and (so far as is consistent with that) the promotion of such competition in the sale, distribution, and purchase of electricity (Condition 22 – Distribution Connection and Use of System Agreement). RIIO-ED2 Business Plan guidance sets out the baseline expectations in regards to a DSO transition.							
2. Considered alternative	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:							
approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	While areas of government policy are certain, such as the achievement of net zero by 2050 and a ban on the sale of petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030, the exact pace of change to deliver these outcomes is less clear. WPD must therefore plan for a wide range of scenarios. In terms of how to deliver the outcome of ensuring that customers can connect key LCTs, the widespread adoption of which are integral to the achievement of net zero in Great Britain, there are seemingly three key options to consider:							

Options considered:			Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?		Stakeholder support?
A. WPD to gear up for a base case (minim connecting to the system (e.g. appropriat work volumes and utilisation of flexibility sufficient capacity in a timely fashion)	ate resources to match the p and network reinforcement	rojected to provide	✓	~	\checkmark		\checkmark
B. WPD to gear up for a Best View case (n connecting to the system (e.g. appropriat work volumes and utilisation of flexibility sufficient capacity in a timely fashion)	ate resources to match the p	rojected	~	~	√		\checkmark
C. WPD to gear up for a range of uptake D projection of LCTs connecting to the syst match the projected work volumes and up reinforcement to provide sufficient capacity	stem (e.g. appropriate resound the second term of flexibility and ne	rces to	~	~	~	placed t volumes ar that WPD g transitio enabling vo significantl	? ers do not always feel b to speak on the specific nd modelling, but are ke loes at pace that drives on to net zero, including blumes of LCT connecti ly higher than the nation
						ave	erage (see below))
During the Business Plan developme originally quantified as achieving leve in the initial co-creation events.						to accomm	nodate LCTs was
originally quantified as achieving leve						to accomm	nodate LCTs was
n the initial co-creation events. Make it as easy as possible for our customers to connect LCTs, such that WPD connects more than the national average connecting in the UK (prorated	Option 1: In line with national average LCT connection volumes (prorated by our	l average v	volumes, as	this was the lang	Uage and sca	to accomm le of outco han national LCT	nodate LCTs was me stakeholders
n the initial co-creation events. Make it as easy as possible for our customers to connect LCTs, such that WPD connects more than the national	Option 1: In line with national average LCT connection volumes (prorated by our number of customers) -0.5p	Option 2: 2% higher th average of L connection v No bill i	volumes, as	this was the lang Option 3: 4% higher than nation average of LCT connection volumes +0.5p	Option 4: hal 6% higher t average of connection +	to accomm le of outco han national LCT volumes	Option 5: Even further ambitic an alternative (uncapped)

e	Work with key stakeholders, particularly developers on EV charging	Yes
f)	Collaborate with EV and charging infrastructure manufacturers and endeavour to innovate in this area	Yes
g	Plan proactively for the impacts of climate change	Yes
h	Undertake 'quick' feasibility studies for charge point connections, including for homeowners	Yes
i)	Consider different ownership models and to support a move away from private, individual car ownership	No – licence conditions prevent this
j)	Consider the wider economic impact of a wholesale move to EVs - what happens to combustion engine-era vehicles?	No – beyond WPD's role
k)	Focus on long term strategies to reduce charging costs for the consumer	No – licence conditions prevent this
l)	Develop battery storage technology	No – beyond WPD's role
m) Provide clear information on connection, capacity and charging costs	Yes
n	Avoid being a blocker for optimal sites	Yes – the purpose of WPD's actions are to ensure that capacity is never a blocker to viable sites. However, we cannot discriminate by selecting LCT schemes over other connection types.
o	Be mindful of future grid capacity	Yes
p	Work with community groups	Yes
q	Help to facilitate large-scale charging hubs	Yes
r)	Invest ahead of need in the network to ensure enough capacity	Yes
s	Consider cost: who will pay? How can costs be minimised?	No
t)	Support communal, on-street charging projects	Yes
u	Consider all low carbon vehicle / transport options as well as EVs	No – beyond WPD's role
v	Focus on the quantity of charge points	Yes
w) Reconsider the structure of connection charges	No
x	Lobby for changes to the NPPF to support uptake of EVs	No – beyond WPD's role (government policy)
y)	Encourage more local generation to power charge points	Yes – the purpose of WPD's actions are to ensure that capacity is never a blocker to viable sites. However, we cannot discriminate by selecting LCT schemes over other connection types.
z	Consider alternative charge point models e.g. induction pads	Yes – part of WP's innovation programme to test the network impact of different charge solutions. However, it is beyond WPD's role to actually develop different charging technologies
	Topic: Facilitate EV take up and infrastructure	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
aj	Improve communication on EVs to build consumer confidence	Yes – in relation to EV connections to the grid. WPD cannot favour specific technology types however.

	b) Lobby government for a national EV policy	No
	c) Enable the installation of more charge points	Yes
	d) Make clear the costs of connections for EV charge point installers and developers	Yes
	e) Work towards facilitating the roll out and best usage of street-side EV charge points	Yes
	f) Input into planning requirements to encourage EV take up	Yes
		·
	Topic: Facilitate heat pump take up	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Lobby Government to encourage the take up of heat pumps and mandate them in in new builds	No – beyond WPD's role (government policy)
	 Ensure you can invest ahead of need to ensure that there is enough capacity in the network and reinforce the network where necessary 	Yes
	c) Educate customers to foster understanding of heat pumps and their benefits	Yes
	d) Engage with developers and LAs to drive uptake through the planning process	Yes – in relation to planning for HP connections to the grid. WPD cannot favour specific technology types however.
	e) Roll out trials and innovations projects (similar to Electric Nation) to promote models to encourage take up, with tariffs to incentivise customers	Yes – WPD's heat pump strategy will include potential for innovation schemes in this area in RIIO-ED2, subject to Ofgem approval and agreement of innovation funding.
	f) Drive innovation in this area, for example fifth generation district heating	Yes
	g) Make clear the investment needed on the network and in retrofitting older properties to prepare for heat pumps	Yes
	h) Create a heat strategy plan that takes into account implications of a mass take up of heat pumps	Yes
	i) Socialise the costs	No – beyond WPD's role (Ofgem/government policy)
	j) Adopt a whole systems approach, looking at the comparative cost of electricity and gas for heating homes	Yes – WPD has launched a whole systems strategy
	k) Look at local energy generation to accommodate the increased demand	Yes – WPD's rollout of flexibility services and support for community energy schemes
	I) Work with industry to ensure that heat pumps are affordable	No – beyond WPD's role
	m) Provide financial incentives	No – beyond WPD's role (must remain agnostic on technology types)
	n) Also facilitate take up of PVs, battery storage and district heating	Yes
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	This commitment will facilitate a wide availability of EV connection points and heat pumps for our custon will also enable the decarbonisation of transport and heating, with the overall benefit of minimising the ir process to connect and network capacity itself does not deliver benefit, this 'enabler' will be significant ir as a whole.	npact of climate change. While the
	We propose to invest around £6.7 billion in the network across the period 2023-2028. This is an increas levels. This will deliver significant benefits to customers and move us towards the achievement of net ze driven primarily by an increase in reinforcement of the network – which is absolutely essential to facilitat	ero carbon emissions in the UK. It is

	Our current calculations estimate that the impact of the increased expenditure above would result in an approximate £3.37 increase on the average domestic bill if all other elements of the price control were unchanged. However, we predict that this will be offset by our efficiencies, changes to the financing parameters and other aspects of the RIIO-ED2 framework. At present, the combination of these changes means that we intend to keep our portion of bills broadly flat across the five year period 2023-2028. By contrast our willingness to pay research reveals that the value placed by customers on the achievement of WPD connecting LCTs significantly quicker than the national average and therefore helping to achieve net zero much earlier than 2050 across our regions, (at £1.24 per year, per customer) significantly outstrips the costs of delivery and any potential bill increase associated with this expenditure.
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support	During WPD's Social Value Research, stakeholders advocated that we should play a prominent role in actively encouraging uptake of EVs on a mass scale, including pre-emptively reinforcing the network to ensure sufficient capacity. They told us that EVs should be a key consideration when upgrading or building new infrastructure, to provide easy access to chargers, especially in rural areas. During the Business Plan
the Business Plan	development phase, stakeholders revealed that they would be keen to see WPD facilitate LCT uptake, and make this as easy as possible,
	particularly by removing capacity issues. They stated that the more distributed power, the better. Stakeholders felt that WPD's projected LCT uptakes are likely to happen and that associated industries are capable of delivering. Our stakeholders want us to meet the increased demand of
	LCT take up. In our first draft Business Plan, we committed to ensure that connections could be effectively made within our area. After consulting with our stakeholders the results are shown in the figure below:
	1: In line with national averageLCT connection volumes (prorated by our number of customers) -2%
	2: 2% higher than national average of LCT connection volumes (bill as today) 20%
	3: 4% higher than national average of LCT connection volumes (+0.5p on annual bill)
	4: 6% higher than national average of LCT connection volumes (+1p on annual bill) 62%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming) 6%
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%
	Percentage of vote

	A very high proportion of stakeholders (72%) wanted to see greater ambition than option 2, with 62% favouring WPD connecting "6% higher than the national average". Stakeholders felt that high volumes of LCTs are essential in RIIO-ED2 if the UK is to successfully transition to net zero as early as possible. A quality, simple service is therefore essential to encourage adoption of LCTs. Overall, our stakeholders agreed with making LCT connections but asked us to be clearer on the actual levels of connections. We have since reworded the commitment to specify the minimum number of electric vehicle charging connections and heat pumps included in our plan. The Business Plan acceptance testing revealed that a strong majority of our customers (82%) supported this commitment.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI. WPD has a long experience in ensuring that its network has the adequate capacity and technical expertise for multiple connections. Innovation projects such as DynaCov, Electric Nation – Powered Up, Electric Vehicle Emissions Testing and Temporary Event Charging brings insights and experience to WPD's engineers that will be essential to enable the uptake of EVs.
	In addition, in terms of primary and secondary load related expenditure WPD is proposing an uncertainty mechanism so that costs are only recovered if requirements are triggered above WPD's base case view, up to our best case. This will be on a volume driver basis and will be upwards against our ex-ante base case view. We will provide annual volumes of projects profiled for the base case view across all load related expenditure categories, and where volumes delivered are in excess of those profiles, an annually triggered uncertainty mechanism based on the unit costs and volumes delivered will be applied to adjust allowed recovery upwards. This therefore removes any risk for customers of WPD over-recovering for expenditure that is not required, with additional costs to customers on passed on where the need has materialised on the network, leading to greater reinforcement costs to provide the required capacity.
6. Assurance undertaken	As mentioned above, WPD has undertaken significant engagement with LAs, charge point operators, fuel station operators, vehicle manufacturers, transport operators, and the UK and Welsh governments to ensure that our plans align with other key parties. These groups have all had the chance to input and challenge WPD's plans and targets, providing assurance that we are on track.

Commitment 10: Net zero business carbon footprint

Achieve net zero in our internal business carbon footprint (BCF) by 2028 (excluding network losses) and follow a verified science based target of 1.5°C to limit the climate impact of our activities.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome -	
agreed with	Accelerate a reduction in carbon emissions and WPD's overall BCF to minimise our impact on climate change as soon as possible.
stakeholders	Accelerate a reduction in carbon emissions and WPD's overall BCP to minimise our impact on climate change as soon as possible.
(see Annex 5)	
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	This commitment addresses the direct impact of WPD's operations on the environment. The UK government has set a legal obligation for the UK to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050 and therefore major companies have a key role to play to reduce our BCF in line with this target date, or earlier. Our internal BCF amounted to 76,987 tCO2e (tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent) in 2019/2020 (WPD Environment and Innovation Report 2019-2020). Our network is spread over 55,500km ² , so there is a need for a significant fleet of vehicles to serve that territory effectively, such as running maintenance of substations and overhead lines to ensure high network reliability standards. Our business's nature and dimension also require the utilisation of multiple buildings such as offices and substations. These carbon reduction activities are therefore required to drive the scale of impact necessary.
	As a DNO, WPD is expected by customers, stakeholders and the regulator to go further than other companies/industries – leading the way towards net zero. Stakeholders have strongly urged WPD (it is one of their highest priorities – see Supplementary Annex SA-05) to demonstrate leadership in this area by driving down our own carbon emissions at the same time as facilitating the ambitious net zero aspirations of devolved local regions. WPD is well placed to meet this ambition, with the required experience to plan the initiatives to help reach the target and the staff, connections and knowledge to deliver and track the results.
2. Considered alternative	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:
approaches (and	
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Of the options considered in relation to the achievement of net zero in our own BCF it is important to not the following: Losses: As per Ofgem rules, WPD's BCF does not include network losses. WPD is not in direct control of losses as they are a natural function of the network and also dependent on external factors such as the type of electricity generation upstream of the distribution network (e.g. losses on wind generated energy already contains no carbon). Losses can therefore be reduced but not eliminated and WPD has a separate losses strategy and action plan to ensure we are driving down losses as much as possible until all generation in the UK becomes green. All generators must be net zero by 2050, so by that stage all loses will become net zero compliant as they will be losses on green sourced energy Scope 3 emissions: These are included in our BCF in relation to business miles, air, rail and road. Scope 3 in relation to contractors are not required as part of UN Science Based Initiative (SBTi), however we are working with our supply chain to reduce these as much as possible in RIIO-ED2, and will review as part of SBTi compliance audit whether the threshold for including them in our BCF changes later in the RIIO-ED2 period. We have recognised in our Environmental Action Plan that there are opportunities associated with both Scope 3 and embodied carbon and have committed that these will be captured and addressed. We have set out the methodology for how we will achieve this but we're not currently in a position to accurately quantify and set baselines and targets, but will do so as soon as this is possible. This will develop throughout the remainder of RIIO-ED1 and throughout RIIO-ED2. This goes significantly beyond the expectations Ofgem has set for this area as industry

<u>In r</u>	jı	ustifie	d on	the gi	round	s of ambitio	n, when it goe	s would be used by CEG as a reason to state this commitment is not fully s significantly beyond best practice. nerefore considered the following options before consulting with stakeholders
Ор	otions considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
Α.	Do nothing: Net zero by 2050 – legally compliant	×	~	~	×	-1p average domestic bill impact	Achieve net zero in line with legal compliance but no quicker. WPD would therefore continue to emit carbon into the environment for the 27 years from 2023- 2050.	Offered and rejected: This would dramatically under-deliver against strong stakeholder feedback that WPD should demonstrate leadership in relation to achieving net zero as early as possible, irrespective of the cost. There is a consistent view that expenditure today will not be a waste, as it avoids deferring it to a later period when it is considered to be an inevitable requirement. This option would also be contrary to our values, in failing to demonstrate leadership and delivery sustainability. Simply waiting to become net zero by 2050, replacing equipment only in line with its natural end of life would cause an unacceptable environmental impact of the next 27 years (2023-2050) that is entirely avoidable, and stakeholders are insistent they want us to address.
	Slightly accelerate: 2043 – with no offsetting	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	Op average domestic bill impact	Achieve net zero 7 years ahead of the government target and legal obligation of 2050.	Offered and rejected: Stakeholders have been very clear that they want us to be a role model for delivering the government target of net zero by earlier than 2050 and we see this as an essential action in line with our strategy to be the top performing, leading DNO in relation to delivery of a low carbon, smart future. The urgency to delivery net zero earlier than 2050 was therefore clear, but the precise pace of this acceleration was not. As part of our engagement phases one and two, we heard from knowledgeable stakeholders that they were passionate about WPD reducing carbon emissions, by at least as early as 2030, aligning with the common aims of LAs in our region. We found that end user bill payers were less supportive of dramatic accelerations in targets and did not express a high willingness to pa to achieve net zero earlier than 2050. We therefore offered stakeholders the full range of timing options from 2050 through to the earliest this could realistically by achieved of 2028 (by the enc of the RIIO-ED2 period). In order to arrive at the options to consult on, we therefore divided the 22 years between 2050 this achievement, and the costs and bill impacts of the different accelerations. In addition, we offered stakeholders the option to suggest entirely different alternatives and/or to select a targe somewhere between the options initially offered for stakeholder consideration.

C.	2035 – with no offsetting	~	×	~	×	Not costed for stakeholders as it is currently not possible to achieve without offsetting	Achieve net zero 15 years ahead of the government target and legal obligation of 2050.	Offered and rejected: WPD tested with stakeholder appetite for achieving net zero by 2035, irrespective of whether it requires offsetting or not, and it was rejected as not being ambitious enough. The role of offsetting cannot be certain; however based on present day knowledge it is likely it will not be technologically possible to achieve net zero by 2035 with zero offsetting as there are currently a lack of viable low carbon in key areas. Without offsetting, 2043 is the earliest certainty date to achieve net zero based on current, ambitous projections. This is due to the timescales for viable technological alternatives to become widely available in a number of areas; for example, the maximum number of WPD vehicles that can be fully electric by 2028 is 89% as there are currently no electric or hydrogen options for some of the largest, specialist vehicles in our fleet. Moreover, while there are now vacuum-based alternatives to SF ₆ in some switchgear, this is not at all voltage levels and it is expected that these alternatives will not be available (therefore enabling the wholesale removal of SF ₆ from the electricity system) until late in the 2030s. Once these are available, there then has to be the cost/benefit consideration of how quickly all SF ₆ should be removed from the system as this will result in expensive asset replacement costs for customers, in some case switching out fully-functional switchgear (the condition of which is posing a very small risk of leakage) well ahead of its projected lifespan. The achievement of network by earlier than 2043 will therefore require differing levels of carbon offsetting to achieve them, with a commitment from WPD that these will always be kept to a minimum. Stakeholders delivered conflicting views on the role carbon offsetting should play; however we have been transparent that in order to achieve a target of 2028 greater levels will be required than if the target were 2035 or 2043. Noting this area of stakeholder concern we have scoped out the use of Greenhouse
D.	2035 – with offsetting	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	+1p average domestic bill impact	Achieve net zero 15 years ahead of the government target and legal obligation of 2050.	and Carbon Neutral Britain. Offered and rejected: See response to rows B and C.
E.	2028 – with offsetting (79% fleet replaced at end of life)	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	Cost of £48m for 79% fleet replacement above natural replacement programme for internal combustion engine vehicles	Achieve net zero 22 years ahead of the government target and legal obligation of 2050, but with more reliance on Greenhouse Gas removal schemes than is absolutely necessary.	Offered: Based on present day knowledge and the technologies currently available, the only route to achieve net zero by 2028 will require some greenhouse gas removal schemes (due to the lack of zero carbon alternatives for the largest, specialised vehicles in our fleet. However the need for these schemes is not definite, and WPD will do everything it can to avoid the need for them and if developments occur within the RIIO-ED2 which means we can achieve net zero without the need for any offsetting we will do so. Therefore, internal 'insetting' activities may contribute to reducing our BCF by 2028 without the use of 'offsetting' but this will only become clear in the period. Our Environmental Action Plan sets out clearly how we will provide transparency on this to stakeholders and Ofgem. The speed with which we tackle our own BCF and therefore the extent to which we must utilise Greenhouse Gas removal schemes was available for stakeholder consultation and review. The

that WPD has co	vider altern o this overa nmitted to c e, the vast r	rching leliver. najorit	core WP y are	e commitme D's co-creat wider comr	tion events rest mitments that v Iders support.		I intervention would be to replace engine alterative, which currently re this option to be selected, a be required. The maximum B is 89%, which leaves on our w carbon alternatives. Engagement Group, in all focus groups and stated regarding the requirements for w much of WPD's fleet can be tlined for. set out in row C.
				Otaliah	Topic: Net zero	n business carbon footprint	Included in WPD's Plan?
	oranto on omi		- du ati			115	
a) Set cumulative b) Reduce emissi	•						Yes
		0.0000					100
					Topic: Carbon em	ssions from WPD vehicle fleet	
				Stakeh	older created actio	ns	Included in WPD's Plan?
a) Set a target for	ero carbon em	nissions	from y	our fleet. For e	xample, by 2030		Yes
b) Replace smalle	vehicles with	EVs and	d large	er vehicles with	biogas or hydroger	1	Yes
c) Monitor all tran	port associate	d with yo	our bu	siness, using te	elematics, to reduce	the number of miles travelled	Yes
d) Encourage and	incentivise you	ur staff to	use	more sustainab	le methods of trans	port, such as public transport, bikes and car sharing	Yes
e) Improve remote	monitoring, us	sing dror	nes ra	ther than helico	pters		Yes
f) Install and expa	nd EV charge	points a	t depo	ots and office ca	ır parks		Yes
				Тс	opic: Impact on loc	al environment and biodiversity	
				Stakeh	older created action	ns	Included in WPD's Plan?
a) Use Science B	sed Targets to	improv	e biod	iversity, aiming	for a net gain		Yes
b) Put in an ambit	ous tree replac	ement p	orogra	mme (E.g. plan	ting two trees for e	very one removed) and promote this good work	Yes

c) Work in partnership with environmental groups such as Wildlife Trusts	Yes
d) Create an environmental fund which can be accesses by local groups	Yes
e) Partner with parish councils, local authorities and nature reserves on biodiversity and environmental initiatives	Yes
f) Avoid placing infrastructure on flood plains	Yes
In addition to the above examples, stakeholders recommended 58 actions in relation to the associated topics below included in WPD's Plan as wider commitments: • Reducing harmful leaks from WPD's equipment • Reducing the carbon footprint of WPD's buildings • Plastic usage • Waste sent to landfill • WPD announcing a climate emergency • Sustainable procurement	v, of which over 90% are

3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	Summary of analysis WPD will be able to reduce over two thirds of its carbon footprint to zero by 2028. In the meantime, as we await the technologies to address the remaining third, offsetting will achieve excellent additional benefits for our local region in the meantime – demonstrably lowering carbon in the atmosphere. It will see us invest in the localised area via tree planting and the creation of new carbon sinks (via peat bogs etc) as well installing solar PV to allow others to reduce their emissions. We will not purchase carbon credits but invest in measures to benefit our local communities, via accredited schemes. Our commitment is focused on the outcome of reducing our net impact on carbon emissions to zero. The alternative would be to set a target for net zero in our operations alone by c.2043 without the added benefit of offsetting action. But we are instead proposing to drive additional environmental benefits in the meantime, at a cost of less than an additional 1.5p on the average domestic customer bill. Against a total spend of £89 million (£79 million in present value) over the five year RIIO-ED2 period, we have conducted the following cost benefit analysis in relation to the social cost of carbon and direct savings as a result of this core commitment as follows:						
	Activity	Benefit type	Total benefit (non- discounted)	Total emissions avoided (tonnes CO2e)	Benefit period		
		Societal - Carbon emissions	£1,759,251	30,386	6 years		
	EV fleet conversion	Societal – Air quality	£1,412,565	-	6 years		
		Avoided costs	£21,817,944	-	6 years		
	EV charging infrastructure	Avoided costs	£15,638,911	-	5 years		
	Renewable energy in offices and depots	Societal - Carbon emissions	£274790	3,394	10 years		
		Avoided costs	£3,310,651	-	10 years		
	Company car scheme	Societal - Carbon emissions	£481,704	8,201	6 years		
		Societal – Air quality	77,748		6 years		
		Societal - Carbon emissions	£211,735	2,720	10 years		
	Reduced energy use in buildings	Avoided costs	£2,038,598	-	10 years		
	Emissions offsetting	Societal - Carbon emissions	£10,545,049	133,320	10 years		
			£75,277,664	195,407			
	ratio. For example, were WPD to c and operational savings (e.g. cost In the context of the small cost ber overwhelming stakeholder support decarbonisation actions that are te value of £3.89 per customer, as re million per year across WPD's cus	ite cost beneficial, it comes very clos only replace 79% of fleet by 2028, wh of continued fuel vs electric charging hefit deficiency revealed in this option t for WPD to demonstrate leadership echnologically feasible. Customers pl vealed by WPD's willingness to pay tomer base. The total expenditure fo y the value placed on it by customers	nile this would reduce a), it is then important the by achieving net zero ace significant value of research (see Supple r this commitment per	our costs, it would also rec to consider this in the broad by 2028, and to do so by on the achievement of this mentary Annex SA-05), re	duce the carbon savings der stakeholder context of maximising all outcome, with a mean sulting in a total of £32.9		

	Contributes to Primary							options a
Achieve 79% of EVs (lease hire)	Bude on a	Achieves WPD	Statutorily Compliant	Technically Feasible	Cost Effective	Confident in	Deliverability Risk	Discount Option
3 Replace 1,549 vehicles (to achieve 79% of LCV fleet) based on natural end of life with EVs leased by WPD.	Driver	Commitment X	N/A	~	✓	Outcome	MED	YES
Achieve 89% of EVs (ownership) 4 Replace 1,834 vehicles (to achieve 89% of LCV fleet) based on natural end of life with EVs purchased by WPD.	~	~	N/A	~	~	~	LOW	NO
Achieve 89% of EVs (Lease Hire) 5 Replace 1,834 vehicles (to achieve 89% of LCV fleet) based on natural end of life with EVs leased by WPD.	✓	~	N/A	~	~	×	MED	NO
Achieve 100% of EVs (ownership) 6 Replace 2,145 vehicles (to achieve 100% of LCV fleet) based on natural end of life with EVs purchased by WPD.	~	~	N/A	x	×	×	HIGH	YES
Achieve 100% of EVs (Lease Hire) 7 Replace 2,145 vehicles (to achieve 100% of LCV fleet) based on natural end of life with EVs leased by WPD.	~	~	N/A	×	×	×	HIGH	YES

will accelerate the replacement of 284 ICE vehicles for EVs originally scheduled for RIIO-ED3 period. The total number of vehicles in the RIIO-ED2 replacement programme is therefore 1,821, enabling 100% of the WPD LCV fleet to be EV during 2030 of RIIO-ED3.

In terms of environmental justifications, there are very clear impacts set out below, including 40,000 tonnes of CO2e within RIIO-ED2, and 10,000 tonnes every year following. In terms of economic justification, it is true that replacing the vehicles early will increase costs relative to doing nothing (as the upgrade costs are not completely cancelled out by the improved running costs). However, the support for bringing this forward from stakeholders is overwhelming, including considerable willingness to pay for WPD lowering its carbon footprint to net zero, of which this action is critical. Over the duration of RIIO-ED2 our modelling assumed that vehicle costs will remain at 2021 levels. In addition, the economic impact of higher upfront costs will be comfortably offset over the lifetime of the vehicle as a result of the significantly lower running costs that will therefore result in lower operational expenditure as follows:

In regards to savings over the lifetime of an EV compared to an ICE:

	Electric vehicle - cost over lifetime	Internal combustion engine vehicle - cost over lifetime	Total Savings
Fuel/Electricity Cost	£5,400	£21,000	£15,600
Servicing Cost	£1,675	£3,909	£2,234
Vehicle Excise Duty	-	£2,750	£2,750

The various initiatives (listed below) have significant impact as, based on customer and stakeholder feedback, they are the most ambitious option (from those that were feasible).

The initiatives were determined largely by where WPD's current emissions lie – targeting at source to ensure only minimal offsetting is required to meet net zero by 2028. The initiatives include:

EV replacement of the operational fleet

a) Costs:

There is an incremental cost of £63.7 million over RIIO-ED2 to deliver this replacement.

b) Societal benefit:

We have estimated the number of vehicles (by type) that can currently be replaced with an EV alternative (89% of our fleet). This, when modelled using the type of vehicle, the average miles driven per year, average mpg, and the appropriate conversion factors leads to a reduction of ~40k tonnes of CO₂e within RIIO-ED2, and 10k tonnes every year following.

When using the appropriate traded cost of carbon and subtracting for conversion that would have taken place on a current glide path (deadweight), this delivers an additional benefit of £1.76m over 6 years (modelled up to when it would have become mandatory).

c) Financial benefit:

We have also calculated the annual savings due to this replacement. This consists of reduced maintenance, avoided fuel cost and avoided vehicle excise duty.

This benefit, considering the number of vehicles replaced, amounts to £21.8m over 6 years.

EV charging infrastructure

a	Costs:					
	There is a cost of £14.5 million over RIIO-ED2 to install EV charging infrastructure.					
b						
	Significant savings will be realised through avoided public charging costs and reduced lost time for WPD staff being able to charge at WPD sites.					
	Over the RIIO-ED2 period, these amount to £15.6m in savings.					
Bana	ushis energy generation at offices and denote					
	vable energy generation at offices and depots					
a,	 Costs: It is forecasted to cost £4.0 million over RIIO-ED2 to install generation where possible. Societal benefit. 					
	We have estimated the amount of electricity that can be produced from our offices and depots - 2,703 MWh per year once all generation is installed.					
	Assuming an even rollout of installation over the 5-year period and using the traded cost of carbon and projected emissions factor for grid electricity and PV generation, this delivers a benefit of £275k over the 10-year period.					
b						
	Once all capacity is installed, we have calculated this will result in electricity savings of £473k per year using the cost of electricity. We have assumed a gradual progression over RIIO-ED2, reaching the total savings from 2028/2029 onwards. This results in £3.3 million benefit over 10 years (non-discounted).					
Comp	any car scheme					
a	Costs:					
	No additional cost over current Business as Usual.					
b)						
	We have set a target to have all company cars be non-carbon by 2025, with a total of 1,055 cars. Considering the current number of non-carbon cars, we have estimated that 236 cars will have to change to a non-carbon option every year up to 2025. We have considered that this target would have not been in place under the original 2043 target and therefore all emissions from RIIO-ED2 efforts relating to this initiative were included.					
	Assuming that each car drives 9,169 miles per year, 75% of cars left to convert are petrol and 25% are diesel (based on current split) we can calculate the emissions saved per year using the respective emissions factor for diesel and petrol cars versus a					
	battery powered car.					
	This results in 8,201 tonnes of CO ₂ e saved over 6 years, which valued at the traded carbon cost adds up to £482k (non- discounted).					
	ced energy use in buildings					
a)						
	A total of £6 million over RIIO-ED2 is required for the necessary energy efficiency upgrades.					
b)	Societal benefit: We have analysed our property portfolio to assess each building's energy usage and performance. Our 23 worst performing properties from this analysis have been subject to further assessment, from this we estimate that upgrades can save up to					
	320.1 tonnes CO₂e per year.					
c)	Using the traded cost of carbon this results in £211k saved over 10 years (non-discounted), considering a 1-year benefit lag. Financial benefit:					
	We have calculated annual savings due to the improvements to be carried out to our 23 worst performing buildings.					
 4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan As Supplementary Annex SA-05 outlines, a clear majority of stakeholders wanted to see the maximum level of ambition of option 4, net zer 2028. 61% of surveyed end user customers agreed. Only 3% of stakeholders selected option 5 to request an alternative approach, indicating stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious. 	Emissions a) Co b) So	sts: £1.0 million is set aside for the ren cietal benefit: By 2028, we estimate that approx. reductions which have or will We have used a traded carbon pri	r 10 years (non-discounted) ty (costs exceeding benefits ind, WPD has selected the maining emissions of RIIO- k. 19,500 tonnes CO₂e woul I take place during RIIO-ED rice to estimate the benefits	s), the alternative would option where only minim ED2 to be reduced throu d need to be offset to ac 1 as well as the use of a of this, which equate to	be additional offsetting to hal offsetting is required. ugh offsetting. chieve net zero. This acco REGO tariff for electricity £10.5m over 10 years.	reach the target. punts for other
---	-----------------------------	--	--	---	---	--------------------------------------
1: Net Zero 2050 (-1p on appual bil) - 1%	Iders, support 2028. 61% c	of surveyed end user customers agr	reed. Only 3% of stakehold	ers selected option 5 to	request an alternative app	
		1: Net Zero 2050 (-1p on annual bill)	- 1%			
2: Net Zero 2043 (bill as today) 15%		2: Net Zero 2043 (bill as today)	15%			
3: Net Zero 2035 (+1p on annual bill) 28%	Option	3: Net Zero 2035 (+1p on annual bill)	28%			
4: Net Zero 2028 (+1.5p on annual bill) 52%		4: Net Zero 2028 (+1.5p on annual bill)		52%		
5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming) 3%			3%			
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% Percentage of vote		0%			50% 60%	

	In relation to the electrification of WPD's fleet, while 40% of stakeholder favoured the lower ambition (replace 79% of fleet), a combined majority of 55% wanted to see greater ambition. Coupled with the insights on stakeholder's strong preference for net zero to be achieved as soon as possible, and recognising the critical dependency of this achievement on the electrification of our fleet, we propose to deliver the increased ambition of 89%. While more customers wanted to see 100% of fleet replaced, we have since further investigated this possibility and this will require new technological developments for larger vehicles for which there are currently no zero carbon alternatives.
	1: Not applicable
	2: Replace vehicle at end of life: 79% commercial van fleet 40% to be non-carbon vehicles by 2028 (bill as today) 40%
	3: Accelerated programme: 89% commercial van fleet to be non-carbon vehicles by 2028 (+9p on annual bill)
	4: Accelerated programme: 100% commercial van fleet to be non-carbon vehicles by 2028 (+19p on annual bill) 33%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming) 5%
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% Percentage of vote
	In addition, WPD's acceptance testing revealed that a very high level of 80% of customers supported this initiative.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI. This commitment is also submitted as a Consumer Value Proposition (CVP) due to the proposal's significant additional value above business as usual. If WPD cannot deliver the value associated with the CVP, WPD will return any reward associated with delivery.
	In order to minimise the risk to customers of any potential under delivery WPD is proposing a Price Control Deliverable (PCD) associated with the replacement of vehicles in order to electrify our fleet, which will ensure revenue is only received for activities and volumes undertaken. In addition, the overall commitment to achieve net zero by 2028 is proposed as a CVP, which will have penalties and clawback mechanisms in place to recover costs from WPD if this commitment target is missed.
	This commitment accelerates the reduction in carbon emissions with a direct positive impact on the UK's carbon footprint. Having tracked and reduced WPD's BCF over RIIO-ED1, the environmental and transport teams are well placed to understand the work involved in delivery and to meet the ambitious targets set.
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD's published BCF data, the methodology, assumptions, and calculations have been verified and data assured for accuracy and compliance with various standards – including the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) reporting protocol. WPD's performance in this area will also be presented and

externally audited as part of the ISO14001 Environmental Management accreditation standard each year. The commitment is in line the scope of the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) rating and assessment that WPD will voluntarily undergo each year.
Our previous reporting is provided under Ofgem and UK legislative (Streamlined Energy Carbon Reporting) requirements. Ofgem also requires the annual publication of an environment report as part of the Environmental Action Plan to enable comparisons of delivery outcomes between DNOs.
As part of the preparation for RIIO-ED2 and in collaboration with external consultants, WPD has already carried out the required scoping exercise covering Scope 3 emissions. With this in hand, we are now in the process of submitting our proposed Science Based Target (SBT) to be verified by the UN Science Based Initiative (SBTi). Following this 1.5°C target will assure that our target is Science Based, and therefore will meet the goals of the Paris Agreement - limiting global warming to well below 2 degrees above pre-industrial levels. The SBT will be subject to review again in 2026, therefore midway through the RIIO-ED2 period, as which point the decision of whether scope 3 emissions should be included will also be reviewed.

Commitment 11: Leakage from fluid filled cables

Avoid damage to the environment by reducing the volume of oil leaked from fluid filled cables by 50% by 2028 and replacing 90km of the worst leaking circuits with non-oil alternatives putting WPD on target to remove all oil-filled cables by 2060.

Justification criteria:	WP	WPD action:										
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Sigr	Significantly reduce the risk of harm to the local ecology and protect habitats and specifies in the regions we operate in.										
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	envi stror over	nis commitment addresses the direct impact of WPD's operations on the environment. Leakages from fluid filled cables can cause a significant nvironmental impact, including posing potential serious risks to biodiversity, controlled waters and land contamination. Stakeholders have rongly urged WPD to take action to mitigate our impact on the environment, with this issue consistently rated as a high priority at every verarching stakeholder event.										
2. Considered alternative approaches (and	<u>Why</u>	v did we offer th	iese c	option	s/ev	idenc	e of approp	riate ambition:				
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Optio	ons considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:			
		Do nothing, reactive only: Only address and replace fluid filled cables at point of leakage	×	~	~	×	Zero (fault response costs only)	Detrimental environmental impact – leaks continue.	Rejected: This option would be contrary to all stakeholder feedback to date, which places a very high priority on WPD reducing our impact on the environment wherever possible. It would go against our values to demonstrate leadership in relation to environmental performance and sustainability, contradict our Social Contract and place us at risk of being in breach of environmental legislation.			
		Maximum: Remove all 726km of fluid filled cables from the network	~	~	×	×	£727m		Rejected: Given that the profile of leakage is tailing off due to years of investment and the major improvements delivered in RIIO-ED1, this option is not cost efficient as it would require expensive asset replacement to switch out fully-functional equipment (the condition of which is posing very small risk of leakage) well ahead of its projected lifespan. By contrast, targeted asset replacement via early leakage detection and prioritising assets with the poorest health condition will ensure the most efficient spend for customers and deliver actions that deliver the greatest overall environmental benefit. Were WPD to seek to bring forward the replacement of all fluid filled cables (that are currently in good condition and operating effectively) in the interests of removing all potential environmental impact risk this could actually cause negative environmental impacts. For example, we must consider the embodied carbon associated with the manufacturing, transport and installation processes of asset replacement of non-leaking equipment.			

 _														
C.	Maintain current replacement levels in line with RIIO-ED1: 20% reduction in the volume of oil leaks and 60km of worst performing circuits replaced	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£61m	Reduction in the volume of oil leaking into the environment in line with the target level specified.	filled cable oil Stakeholders as a result of comparable le leakage rate a causing dama multi-year vie	I losses, across have been clea the worst perfor evel of asset rep also differs year age to fluid filled w to understand	an 8 year perio r that this need ming circuits ha lacement woul -on-year as it is underground c I WPD's underl	d (achieving a ls to continue to aving already b d lead to a low s closely linked cables and ther ying rate of lea	55% in the first be a key focu been addressed er improvemen to ground cond refore it was ne kage.	s are in RIIO-ED2, but d, continuing at a t rate. The precise ditions and movements cessary to take a	
D.	Increase: 30% reduction in the volume of oil leaks and 70km of worst performing circuits replaced	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£71.5m	Reduction in the volume of oil leaking into the environment in line with the target level specified – marginally increased	huge impact of dry summers, the option to s the options in continued hig worst leaking	on local ecosyst , we gave stakel suggest entirely itially offered for h priority placed circuits from bro to an 86% incre	ems and comm nolders a range different altern stakeholder co by stakeholde badly in line wit base in ambition	nunities in the e e of options as atives and/or to onsideration. In rs on this issue h current levels n of 90km in 5	event of major le follows. We als o select a targe addition, in rec e, we offered op s (48.5km in the years during R	otions to replace the e first 5 years of RIIO- IIO-ED2.	
					-		activity from RIIO-ED1	Ambition	Option 1: 20%	Option 2: 30%	Option 3: 40%	Option 4: 50%	Option 5: Even further	
E.	Increase: 40% reduction in					£81.9m	levels. Reduction in the volume of oil		reduction in oil leaks	reduction	reduction	reduction	ambition / an alternative (uncapped)	
	the volume of oil leaks and 80km				ected				leaking into the environment in	Bill impact	-6p	No bill impact	+8p	+10p
of worst performing circuits replaced	Ambition level:	60km of worst leaking cables replaced	70km replaced	80km replaced	90km replaced	Even further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)								
F.	Increase: 50% reduction in					£92.2m	levels. Reduction in the volume of oil	Bill impact	-3.5p	No bill impact	+3.5p	+7p	-	
	the volume of oil leaks and 90km of worst performing circuits replaced	~	~	~	~		volume of oil leaking into the environment in line with the target level specified – significantly increased activity from RIIO-ED1 levels.							

	G. Uncapped increase: More than 50% reduction in the volume of oil leaks and more than 90km of worst performing circuits replaced V V Reduction in the volume of oil line with the target level specified – significantly increased activity from RIIO-ED1	
	circuits replaced activity from RIIO-ED1 levels, up to 100% removal of fluid filled cables.	
	Consideration of wider alternatives: As well as an overarching commitment to mitigate the risk of leaks in the first place, WPD has also rolled out the innovative perfluorocarbon tracer has been added to every high risk oil fluid filled cable circuit to significantly speed up the detection of In addition, as key enablers to this overarching core commitment there are a number of ambitious new actions, as well as performance, that WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events resulted in a large number of unprompted sta in relation to this area. Of these, the vast majority are wider commitments that we will deliver in RIIO-ED2. This is a strong current commitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support. For example:	of leaks. stretches to existing keholder suggestions
	Topic: Harmful leaks from WPD equipment	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's
	a) Eliminate the use of SF6 and carry out research to find alternatives	Plan? Yes
	b) Create a risk assessment of assets containing SF6 and replace assets susceptible to leaks	Yes
	c) Set a target for reducing harmful leaks and monitor the environmental impacts	Yes
	d) Reduce use of oils	Yes
	 e) Set clear targets and adopt best practice in terms of regularly inspecting and replacing equipment f) Look at examples of best practice from other sectors 	Yes Yes
	g) Increase the efficiency of transmission	Yes
	h) Encourage innovation around heat capturing technologies	Yes
	i) Focus on innovation to replace harmful materials	Yes
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	 i) Increased replacement of assets When presenting the options to stakeholders, WPD were able to offer to remove 60km of cable for no bill increase and at the levels that had replaced 48.5km of cable in the first five years of RIIO-ED1. This is therefore a measure of the ongoing efficiency of a swe would be able to deliver increased volumes of activities without increasing costs for customers. A separate Engineering Justification Paper has been produced on WPD's expenditure in relation to fluid filled cables, which specified format and will enable WPD's costs to be benchmarked to other DNOs. The delivery of this activity is a highly specialised task with the removal of oil-filled cables and the laying of replacement not 132KV network carried out by specialist contractors. This will therefore enable WPD to ensure this activity is delivered at the market rate, by putting this work out to competitive tender, for which the most cost effective contracts will be awarded. 	ciency of our costs h follows Ofgem's on-oil cables on the



	—				
	1: 60km of FFC Replacement (-3.5p on annual bil) 5%			
	2: 70km of FFC Replacement (bill as today		34%		
	3: 80km of FFC Replacement (+3.5p on annual bill) 10%			
	4: 90km of FFC Replacement (+7p on annual bill		46%		
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming				
	o	% 10%	20% 30%	40%	50%
			Percentage of vote		
	In addition to the very high levels of stakeholder acceptance testing.				
5. Customers are not exposed to	We have a very strong track record of delivering ED1, customers can have confidence that this t	arget and the activity v	olumes required to deliver	it are highly achie	evable as WPD's environmental
unacceptable risks	and network services teams are therefore well p If WPD under delivers against this commitment, losses is very high on the environment regulator reputational risk and would bring legal complian to Ofgem, WPD is required to report performance our compliance with environmental standards a	we will incur reputation 's radar; therefore any ce issues regarding po ce in this area to the E and legislation.	nal penalties as part of the under delivery against this ollution prevention and com nvironment Agency in Engl	ODI. In addition, s commitment wo trol legislation. Ov and and Natural F	achieving a reduction in oil uld bring significant ver and above annual reporting Resources Wales to evidence
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD's performance in this area will be presented standard each year. Ofgem requires the annual comparisons of delivery outcomes between DN will voluntarily undergo each year.	publication of an envi	onment report as part of th	e Environmental	Action Plan to enable
	WPD also reports fluid filled cable leakage rates therefore any change in approach/under deliver			in England and Na	atural Resources Wales and

Commitment 14: Undergrounding for visual amenity

Improve visual amenity by removing at least 50km of overhead lines in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and National Parks (NPs)

Justification criteria:	WF	WPD action:								
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	_	Significantly improve the visual amenity in key beauty spots and outlooks, by removing key strategic overhead lines from AONBs and IPs.								
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO		his commitment addresses the direct impact of WPD's network assets on the visual amenity of the landscape in beauty spots across our perating region.								
2. Considered alternative approaches (and	Wh	ny did we offer th	iese d	ption	s / ev	idenc	e of approp	priate ambition:		
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Ор	tions considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:	
	Α.	Do nothing: No undergrounding	×	~	~	×	£0	No visual amenity benefit.	Rejected: Stakeholders have consistently supported investment to improve visual amenity in AONBs and NPs. At stakeholder events on the RIIO-ED2 options for visual amenity, none selected to do less than present day levels.	
	B.	Maximum: Remove all overhead lines from AONBs and NPs as fast as possible	~	~	×	×	£575m (£11.50 bill increase per annum)	Majorly enhanced visual amenity, but potential huge ecological damage.	Rejected: There are over 16,000km overhead lines in AONBs and NPs in WPD's region. AONB and NP representatives have no desire for all lines to be removed in totality – in fact doing so would cause potential ecological, geological and archaeological damage which is a cause of significant concern. Selecting this option for further stakeholder consideration would be contrary to all stakeholder insights gained over the last 10+ years. AONB/NP representatives are clear that in the totality of overhead lines in their regions they only have interest in a very small percentage being underground, prioritising those at the most beautiful outlooks and with maximum visual amenity benefits due to footfall of visitors. There are also serious doubts over the deliverability of this in practice: Were we commit to the total removal of all lines within 20 years for example, this would require the removal of 800km per year, which would represent an 11,000% increase on present day levels (6.9km a year) which AONB/NP representatives already tell us is a stretch to deliver. In addition, given the ecological impact of undergrounding in these sites we would require extensive ecological surveys, incurring high expense. To obtain the necessary licences we would need legal interventions for which we must demonstrate there is a danger to human life that trumps the ecological impact, which will never be secured on the grounds of visual amenity.	

C.	Accelerate: Maximum number of schemes AONBs and NPs can feasibly project manage	>	~	~	~	£7.2m	50km of targeted visual amenity schemes, selected by AONBs/NPs as the most impactful and desired sites, avoiding ecological damage.	In RIIO-ED1 year. The ini significant m Taking all of consultation	tial draft plan co ajority of stakeh this into conside a range of coste	l extensively on intained a more olders asked W eration, we there	the eventual targ ambitious propos PD to reduce in s fore proposed in ng incremental in ows: Option 3: 45km of overhead	sal of 8.75km pe scope and lower our initial RIIO-	r year, which a our ambitions. ED2 stakeholder
D.	Continue: Maintain RIIO- ED1 delivery levels	✓	~	~	Tested & rejected	£5m	35km of targeted visual amenity schemes, selected by AONBs/NPs as the most impactful and desired sites, avoiding ecological damage.	Bill impact	lines removed by 2028 (In line with current baseline) (7km per year) -0.5p	lines removed by 2028 (8km per year) No bill impact	lines removed by 2028 (9km per year) +0.5p	lines removed by 2028 (10km per year) +1p	an alternative (uncapped) -
E.	Various target options between options C & D	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£5-7m	35-50km of targeted visual amenity schemes, selected by AONBs/NPs as the most impactful and desired sites, avoiding ecological damage.		ntirely different		th option for stak that we should g		
F.	Accelerate: Increase the maximum number of schemes AONBs and NPs can accommodate by funding project management support on the partner's side	~	~	×	×	Dependent on number of schemes	More than 50km of targeted visual amenity schemes, selected by AONBs/NPs as the most impactful and desired sites, avoiding ecological damage.	Volumes of <i>J</i> without inter managemen with WPD th representativ concern – th e.g. significa In RIIO-ED1 as much as representativ in this area. unlock signif Spending cu AONBs/NPs stakeholder enhanced vi	vention, will not t capacity to be roughout the pla ves tell us the to eir needs for un int beauty spots as part of the c 60km per year, ves as being ou With this wider icantly greater t stomers' money does not appea and regulatory of	be practically de able to scope a anning and delivi- tal volume of ov dergrounding ar and viewpoints. commitment creat which was round to forpoposition to context in mind, han present day to therefore fun ar to be an appro- bjectives to kee nefit that no stak	ntly beyond exist diverable as they significant increa- ery of these. In a erhead lines in A e in relation to sr tion phase WPD lily rejected by st o the level of pric there is very little volumes of visu- d project manag opriate use of fun p bills as low as iceholders have in	of not have the se in viable sch ddition, AONB a ONBs and NPs nall spans of line offered a range akeholders, inclu- rity (medium) th stakeholder app al amenity under ement support o ds, is contrary to possible, and wo	e project emes and liaise ind NP is not a primary is not a primary of extremes up t ding AONB/NP ey placed on act betite for WPD to grounding. n the side of n the side of o overall buld deliver an

	resulted in unprompted stakeholder suggestions in relation RIIO-ED2. This is a strong indication that WPD's current co	e are additional actions WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events to improving visual amenity. These are all wider commitments that we will deliver in ommitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support. These include: al impact of WPD's amenities / equipment										
	Stakeholder created actions Included in WPD's Plan?											
	a) Consider visual impact of substations: keep them tidy	a) Consider visual impact of substations: keep them tidy Yes - We will continue working with substation maintenance contract to ensure substations are well maintained, promote biodiversity whilst ensuring optimal operational functionality.										
	b) Maintain wild flowers and ecology around WPD infrastructure	Yes – We will work with local Wildlife Trusts to improve biodiversity on our owned land and at operational substation sites.										
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	deliver 7km per year (option 1 offered to stakeholders), this increase from present levels (option 2: 40km in 5 years, or Visual amenity expenditure is £6.6 million, this is 0.1% of th unit costs, due to its lack of materiality on our overall Totex Business Plan are based on RIIO-ED1 unit costs delivered pragmatic approach to forecasting the cost, as costs can version scheme including the stakeholder requirements, the require recognises this mix of factors in the scheme costs and so t subject to the Ongoing Efficiency target that is applied in on An additional factor to demonstrate efficient cost delivery is	rea, is that if we were we to continue at present RIIO-ED1 levels in RIIO-ED2 and a would have resulted in a bill reduction. In addition, we were then able to offer a 16% 8km per year) for no bill impact. This is all achieved by driving ongoing efficiency. The overall £6.7 billion Totex plan. We have not separately assessed visual amenity a delivery and expected scheme variations. Visual amenity unit costs in the RIIO-ED2 to date, rather than efficient asset replacement unit costs. We have to take this ary so much scheme to scheme, with a number of factors influencing the costs of each ed design and the landscape of the area. The RIIO-ED1 to date approach therefore herefore is the most sensible approach to adopt. The activity of visual amenity will be ur plan to all Totex activities.										
		nis outcome, with a mean value of £1.44 per customer, as revealed by WPD's -05), which significantly outstrips the cost of delivery (circa 1p).										
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	sizeable number wanted us to go further amongst stakehol	akeholders actually wanted to see option 2: 40km undergrounded. However as a ders, and a large majority 70% of surveyed customers wanted option 4, a commitment to even further, indicating that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in										

	1: 35km of overhead lines removed by 2028 (-0.5p on annual bil)
	2: 40km of overhead lines removed by 2028 (bill as today) 39%
	S: 45km of overhead lines removed by 2028 (+0.5p on annual bill)
	4: 50km of overhead lines removed by 2028 (+1p on annual bill) 33%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming)
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% Percentage of vote
5. Customers are not	In addition, WPD's acceptance testing revealed that a very high level of 82% of customers supported this initiative. This will be treated as a reputational ODI within Ofgem's output framework and it will be measured and reported against annually.
exposed to unacceptable risks	WPD has a proven track record of delivering against our stated commitments for undergrounding visual amenity schemes and spending our associated allowances. The level negotiated with stakeholders for our RIIO-ED2 commitment, while a 72% increase is therefore not a huge step change which would introduce risk of non-delivery. AONB and NP representatives are confident they can provide the volume of schemes stated The total expenditure to fund this initiative (£7.2m in 5 years) is very small in the context of our total expenditure of £6.7 billion and therefore we do not consider a PCD to be appropriate due to the lack of materiality in the unlikely event of under delivery and any risk to customers as a resu
6. Assurance undertaken	 of under delivery being extremely small. WPD's performance in this area will be presented and externally audited as part of the ISO14001 Environmental Management accreditation standard each year. Ofgem requires the annual publication of an environment report as part of the Environmental Action Plan to enable comparisons of delivery outcomes between DNOs. In addition, this commitment is in line the scope of the ESG rating and assessment that WPE will voluntarily undergo each year.

CATEGORY 2: MEETING THE NEEDS OF OUR CONSUMERS AND NETWORK USERS

Commitment 18: Smart energy action plans for vulnerable customers

Ensure customers are not left behind in the smart energy transition by offering at least 600,000 Priority Services Register customers a bespoke smart energy action plan each year.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:									
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Customers most as risk of being left behind as part of the smart energy transition will be far more likely to participate and benefit from LCTs, smart meters, and flexible energy services (e.g. saving money through efficient use of energy) as a result of WPD's targeted advice and support.									
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	s a DNO, WPD is uniquely positioned to democratise access to smart energy by reaching out to Priority Services Register (PSR) customers. VPD's responsibilities are to operate, and connect all customers to, a smart network, ensuring nobody will be left behind and this is a key omponent of Ofgem's Business Plan guidance in relation to vulnerable customers. The smart energy action plans are directly focused on this oal. They will cover advice and support for vulnerable customers directly in relation to WPD delivered services, including access to flexibility ervices, LCT connections and community energy schemes.									
	WPD owns and constantly seeks to improve relations with vulnerable customers. With access to PSR data and a responsibility to cleanse the PSR register once every two years (involving direct and effective contact with vulnerable customers), WPD can provide the action plans efficiently and effectively within its current customer touchpoints.									
	The achievement of net zero will be underpinned by the decentralisation of energy resources and the universal adoption of LCTs, smart meters, and flexible energy services across DNOs. As a DNO, WPD is best positioned to lead this democratisation and roll out the transition to a smart energy plan for as many customers as possible.									
	Vulnerable customers have previously encountered difficulties in adhering to smart energy plans (Ofgem Market Report). As a trusted party, known to be independent of providing products and commercial services, it is appropriate for WPD to be contacting vulnerable customers on this matter. These customers may need additional support. It is crucial that this support comes through an independent source, such as WPD.									
2. Considered alternative approaches (and	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:									
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Achieves outcome? Technically feasible? Cost effective? Stakeholder support? Cost effective?									

			-				r	
Α.	Minimum:					Zero		Rejected:
	No support						be no material	Stakeholders have been adamant that they see a key role for WPD in supporting vulnerable
							impact on	customers through the smart energy transition. In 2018, as a result of our annual customer
							customer bills	vulnerability conferences, stakeholders led us to update our Vulnerability Strategy to include a
							and a sustained	specific commitment in relation to supporting customers in a smart future and removing barriers
							risk of	to participation. Were we to take no action in this area we would fail to meet Ofgem's Business
		x	1	\checkmark	×		customers	Plan guidance; therefore failing the Business Plan Incentive and the criteria set for DNO
		*	•	•	*		being left	Customer Vulnerability strategies. It would also be contrary to WPD's values to not seek to
							behind and	deliver support to customers and place them at risk of suffering detriment, in particular relation to
							WPD leaving	services that WPD provides and has control over the impact of. It was also mean WPD would be
							this to other	in contravention of the requirements of key external assurance audit's such as the British
							unspecified	Standard for Inclusive Service Provision, which seeks to ensure fair and equal access for all
							providers to	customers to WPD's services.
							address.	
В.	Maximum:					£10.8m	Every PSR	Rejected:
	1m customers						customer	WPD's experience of delivering PSR data cleansing for the last six years shows us that offers of
	offered a year						offered smart	support by letter are significantly less successful than personalised contact by phone (c.20% vs
	offered support						energy advice	50% success rate). The requirement to phone every customer in relation to smart energy advice
	by phone (in line						and support	would lead to a very large Contact Centre headcount increase (an addition ten staff for each of
	with biennial PSR						once every 2	the three shift cycles) to achieve enhanced levels of support for which stakeholders have
	data cleanse)						vears.	consistently been clear they do not support or expect.
		1	1				Jouro	
		\checkmark	~	×	×			Stakeholders have also been clear that we must target PSR customers with the most serious
								needs. Were we to contact every customer, including those on the register for reasons unrelated
								to financial hardship (e.g. being aged 60 or above; or having recently been discharged from
								hospital) we would be targeting PSR customers with less critical needs for whom the offer of a
								smart energy advice plan will be less relevant. This in turn would mean WPD was delivering a
								less efficient service and the cost benefit of using customer money to fund this initiative relative
								to the benefits achieved when targeting only those with the greatest need would reduce
								significantly.
С	High ambition:					£5m	600,000 PSR	Offered:
0.	600,000 a year					~0111	customers	In order to drive the most efficient delivery method possible for this commitment, WPD can
	offered by WPD						offered smart	utilise the existing commitment (#22) to contact all PSR customers every two years to update
	(by phone)						energy advice	their details and deliver advice, of which 60% (600,000 a year) will be achieved by direct
	(by phone)						and support a	telephone contact. By adding the offer of a smart energy action plan at this point of successful
		1	1	~	1		year, targeting	engagement with the customer, we stand to maximise the positive impact and customer buy-in
							those with the	while only extended the current call length by 5-10 minutes. Those with the greatest needs are
							greatest needs	
							and most	targeted by phone call rather than letter, due to the large difference in success rates achieved,
								meaning that those receiving the offer of a smart action plan will be those that stand to benefit
							relevant	the most from this action.
							vulnerabilities.	

_		-					1		
D.	Lower ambition: Less than 600,000 a year offered by WPD (by phone) - e.g. 300,000 a year	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£3.9m	Around 300,000 PSR customers offered smart energy advice and support a year, targeting those with the greatest needs and most relevant vulnerabilities, but with fewer customers supported than is possible and therefore diminished benefits compared to the more ambitious commitment option.	WPD has led the industry in relation to our actions to cleanse our PSR and maintain high quadata. We conducted 4.5 million proactive calls to PSR customers in the first five years of RIIOED2, more than the rest of the industry achieved combined. We therefore understand thatsuccess rates of contact stand at around 60%, combining direct telephony outreach with letteand response forms sent to customers. Based on a commitment to contact every PSR customerevery two years to update their details (1.9m in total on WPD's PSR), this results in 950,000attempted contacts a year, of which around 570,000 (60%) are successful. This means that pyear we are successfully establishing contact with 30% of registered customers.This knowledge and insight therefore shaped the setting of realistic targets for successfullycontacting PSR customers in order to offer a new service of establishing a smart energy actionplan. WPD proposes to utilise our existing PSR data cleanse processes to combine theseactivities in order to share costs and deliver this service as efficiently as possible. As the delivof a smart energy action plan will be a far more involved process with each customer thansimply updating their records, it was logical to assume that success rates may therefore beslightly lower than the 30% per year currently being achieved. As such we therefore propose anentirely different alternative action in this area.method by of thePSR peryearyearyearyearyearyearyearyearyearyearyearyearyear	- rs ner er n ery
E.	Send letters only (up to 1m customers per year)	×	~	~	×	£1m	A high number of customers offered support, but not a point of engagement with WPD. Therefore unlikely to convert more than 15% to take up the offer a year (therefore likely to support only 115,000 customers a year).	Rejected: Our experience of proactively contacting PSR customers to update their records and offer port cut resilience advice is that letters are significantly less successful than telephone calls. In addition, were the offer of a smart action plan to only be made via letter, despite elsewhere in our Business Plan making the commitment that we will speak directly to 600,000 PSR customers a year to update their records, we would be missing the opportunity to capitalise or successful engagement with each PSR customer to make this related offer of support.	

F.	WPD signpost customers to external agencies only, no direct delivery of services by WPD	×	~	~	×	Minor reduction on costs associated with row C, due to shorter call duration	The offer of support is still made to customers, but customers themselves have to go to the effort of contacting external agencies for support with less hand- holding and support through this process.	Rejected: Our experience of delivering the industry's largest and most successful fuel poverty programme is that signposting customers to support services is highly ineffective and very few customers follow up on this advice. This relies on the customer making all of the effort, which offers poor customer satisfaction and in an area where customer understanding is already low, risks the customer abandoning the process. WPD would therefore achieve a headline of having offered support to customers, but the achievement of any successful outcomes and benefits for customers as a result of this offer would be highly questionable. For these reasons, stakeholders at our specialist vulnerability workshops roundly rejected the idea of signposting and blanket letter drops, as effective support in relation to the smart energy transition must be tailored and holistic.
G.	WPD offer support initially, but smart action plans are all partner delivered	~	~	×	N/A	£42m	600,000 PSR customers offered smart energy advice and support a year, targeting those with the greatest needs and most relevant vulnerabilities and likely to receive a highly personalised and supported service.	Rejected: While this would undoubtedly lead to a highly targeted and personalised service for PSR customers, in order to achieve the volumes supported by customers (600,000 PSR customers a year) the cost of delivery would be incredibly high. Using our fuel poverty outreach services as a model, where the average cost per partner referral is c.£70, achieving this level of support across 600,000 customers would cost £42m a year. In doing so we would also be outsourcing advice and support for some services that are directly in WPD's control and for which we are the experts (e.g. flexibility services). Instead we concluded that the options outlined in row C were more appropriate, whereby WPD staff are upskilled to offer smart energy advice and action planning, we deliver this efficiently by utilising existing calls to PSR customers, and only those customers in need of the most involved and complex support will then be referred out to external partners as part of a managed referral process.
H.	Inclusive service design from the outset in relation to WPD's DSO services	~	~	~	~	Zero	All WPD innovation projects and DSO services (e.g. flexibility products and services) will be assessed to ensure maximum inclusivity and wherever possible barriers to vulnerable customer participation are removed from each process.	Offered: While this core commitment focuses on smart energy action plans to help to overcome barriers to participation and to promote opportunities to share the benefits of the smart energy transition, stakeholder shave been clear that WPD must seek to design smart services that are inclusive from the outset. As such we have made a wider commitment that we will develop a model to identify the capabilities of vulnerable customers to participate in a smart low carbon future. We will then use this (and this is a specified commitment in our DSO strategy and action plans) to maximise customer participation in new services, remove barriers to entry and encourage collaboration and best practice sharing with the wider industry to ensure vulnerable customers are not left behind by the smart energy transition.

energy grants	×	~	×	×	Dependent on number of customer supported. At c£2k a customer, support for 60% of WPD's PSR in RIIO-ED2 (1.2m customers) would cost £2.4bn	Installation of LCTs for some vulnerable customers. The number of benefitting customers would be very small unless funding was significantly greater than the £5m stated for row C.	Rejected: In general WPD stakeholders have always been clear that they do no customers as often these provide short term fixes rather than long ter value the benefit of effective engagement with customers and the dei a result. In relation to this core commitment, for the same volume of a grants of £2k to a PSR customer to fund the installation of a small PV would result in support to only 500 customers a year versus the offer which there are significant financial values (see section 3 below). Gra one-size-fits all solution for a much smaller number of customers. Elsewhere in WPD's Business Plan we are proposing core commitme energy actions for customers but in a more impactful and cost efficient fund PV installations at schools in highly deprived areas and work cle lower their demand and energy bills but to explore how they can deliv services when the school is not in use, including potentially providing vulnerable customers in the community. In addition, WPD's £1m ann will include funding for actions to support vulnerable customers and f technologies for customers.	rm solutions; instead they livery of tailored services as spent (£5m in five years), a v roof-top array for example of support to 600,000 for ants would therefore offer a ents that will fund smart nt way. For example, we will osely with them to not only ver community energy g cheaper power to ual Community Matters und
that WPD has comm this area. This comm 'vulnerability and fue	this ov mitted mitme el pov incluc	veraro to de ent is verty', ded a	ching eliver. theref and s wid stakef	WPI fore t key r er co nolde	D's co-creat he result of equested or mmitments ers support.	ion events res a filtering proc utput to 'Protec that we will de For example:	number of ambitious new actions, as well as stretches to ulted in a large number of unprompted stakeholder sug cess from an initial list of 27 alternatives that were co-cu ct the interest of vulnerable customers in the switch to a liver in RIIO-ED2. This is a strong indication that WPD	ggestions in relation to reated in the category of a smarter network'. Of
			٦	Горіс:	Protect the in			
						terest of vulnerad	le customers in the switch to a smarter network	
					Stal	keholder created a		Included in WPD's plan?
a) Make sure no one is lo	left beh	nind in	the trai	nsition		keholder created a		
b) Understand the barrie					to a smart net	keholder created a work, especially cu	ctions:	plan?
b) Understand the barrie and messaging	iers to p	articip	ation, s	uch as	to a smart net s the complexit	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice	plan? Yes Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to 	iers to p o help p	oarticip	ation, s e cheap	ouch as	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services	plan? Yes Yes Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a 	iers to p o help p and soc	oarticip promote cial hou	ation, s e cheap using pi	oer tari rovide	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportui	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty ind initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services nities for community energy schemes	plan? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol	oarticip promote cial hou licy tha	ation, s e cheap using pl at mand	oer tari rovidei lates p	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants protecting the ir	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportui	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services	plan? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol he impa	oarticip promote cial hou licy tha	ation, s e cheap using pl at mand	oer tari rovidei lates p	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants protecting the ir	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportui	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty ind initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services nities for community energy schemes	plan? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart network 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impa- prks	promote cial hou licy that icts of o	ation, s <u>e cheap</u> using pi at mand climate	oer tari rovidei lates p	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants protecting the ir	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportui	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty ind initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services nities for community energy schemes	plan? Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart networh h) Education on energy to 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impa- orks / usage	promote cial hou licy that icts of o	ation, s <u>e cheap</u> using pi at mand climate	oer tari rovidei lates p	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants protecting the ir	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportui	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty ind initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services nities for community energy schemes	plan? Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart network h) Education on energy v i) Work with local authori 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impa- orks / usage orities	promote cial hou licy that cts of o	ation, s e cheap using pl at mand climate ency	ouch as per tari rovidel lates p chang	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants rotecting the in ge	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportu terests of vulnerab	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty nd initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services ities for community energy schemes ole customers in the transition to a low carbon, smarter network	plan? Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart networh h) Education on energy ti i) Work with local authori j) Investigate the opportu- 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impac orks / usage orities tunities	particip promote cial hou licy that licts of c / efficie for pee	ation, s e chear using pr at mand climate ency er-to-pe	oer tari rovidel lates p chang eer sup	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants rotecting the ir ge	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportu terests of vulnerab	ctions: stomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty nd initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services ities for community energy schemes ole customers in the transition to a low carbon, smarter network	plan? Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart network h) Education on energy i i) Work with local authori j) Investigate the opportu- k) Consider alternative c 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol for a pol ne impa orks / usage orities tunities cheap f	particip promote cial hou- licy that acts of of / efficient for pee- fuels for	ation, s e cheap using p at mand climate ency er-to-pe or those	eer sup eer sup chang eer sup	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants rotecting the ir ge	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportun terests of vulnerab system charges fo	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services inities for community energy schemes alle customers in the transition to a low carbon, smarter network or fuel poor households	plan? Yes Yes <td< td=""></td<>
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart networf h) Education on energy in i) Work with local authori j) Investigate the opportu- k) Consider alternative c l) Fund design, innovation 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impa orks / usage orities tunities cheap f ion and	particip promote cial hou licy that icts of c / efficie for pee fuels for autom	ation, s e chear using pr at mand climate ency er-to-pe or those nation p	eer sup eer sup chang eer sup	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants rotecting the ir ge	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportun terests of vulnerab system charges fo	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services inities for community energy schemes alle customers in the transition to a low carbon, smarter network or fuel poor households	plan? Yes
 b) Understand the barrie and messaging c) Influence suppliers to d) Work with landlords a e) Lobby Government fo f) Plan proactively for the g) Roll out smart network h) Education on energy of i) Work with local authori j) Investigate the opportu- k) Consider alternative c 	iers to p o help p and soc for a pol ne impa- orks / usage vrities tunities cheap f ion and of smai	particip promote cial hou licy that cts of c / efficie for pee fuels for autom	ation, s e chear using pr at mand climate ency er-to-pe or those nation p	eer sup eer sup chang eer sup	to a smart net s the complexit iffs, incentivisin rs and tenants rotecting the ir ge	keholder created a work, especially cu y of the services a g vulnerable custo to identify opportun terests of vulnerab system charges fo	ctions: Instomers in vulnerable circumstances and in fuel poverty and initiatives: address these through engagement with clear, advice mers to participate in new services inities for community energy schemes alle customers in the transition to a low carbon, smarter network or fuel poor households	plan? Yes No - confusion on WPD's role Yes

	 customers to participate in a smart, low carbon future and offer 60% of PSR customers specific support and education". Another option considered "Take a leading role in a coordinated approach with a range of industry participants (including funding for collaborations with community energy stakeholders) to share best practice and co-deliver schemes to ensure vulnerable customers are not left behind by the smart energy transition". Even though there was broad stakeholder support for both commitments in the previous Business Plan draft (97% and 99% respectively) and no notable alternatives were requested, WPD concluded that there was an underlying objective common to both commitments. For the July business plan, WPD decided to stretch the ambition and specify the following: The model to identify capabilities of vulnerable customers to participate in a smart and low carbon future is now implied in the commitment as a necessary, enabling step. We increased our ambition from offering "specific support and education" to an explicit commitment to offer a smart energy plan tailored to each customer's needs. III. The commitment of taking a "leading role in a coordinated approach to share best practice and co-deliver schemes to ensure vulnerable customers are not left behind by the smart energy transition" was refined into a more targeted initiative. The "leading role in a coordinated approach" is implicit in the new commitment.
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	As set out in WPD's Customer Vulnerability strategy, the estimated cost to deliver this commitment is £1 million per year (£5 million total in RIIO- ED2). This has considered a number of synergies including utilising: • The PSR cleansing process where a phone call is already established, • The experience of WPD customer advice teams, • The use of existing referral schemes with partnering organisations, which will enable a significantly more efficient offer to vulnerable customers while keeping costs low. Through social value modelling, we estimate that this commitment will deliver estimated social benefits of £33.75 million, measured over a period of 10 years. These benefits consist of the estimated savings from smart meters (BEIS) and the potential savings from behavioural changes that our past programmes have delivered. Therefore, we can conclude that the cost of delivering this commitment is significantly lower than the cost that the consumer is willing to pay. The estimated social value also outweighs the cost of delivery. The benefits of this commitment – at a high level – consist of the financial savings achieved by the recipients (the PSR customers), and the carbon benefits of reduced consumption achieved via behaviour changes. The benefits case for the commitment is as follows: <u>Offering smart energy action plans</u> • Cost i. There is a total cost of £1m per year, for a total of £5m over RIIO-ED2. • Financial benefit 1 (smart meters) i. Of the 600k contacted each year, WPD expects a proportion to be referred to an extended partner network that will provide advice and track outcomes through to completion. ii. It is expected that this proportion will start at 5% for the first 2 years of RIIO-ED2, rising to 10% for the remainder of the period as the network of partners develops. This expectation is built on tested data from WPD's past programmes including 'Power Up' and is linked to the time required to set up a network of trusted partners. iii. This tharastates to an estimate of 30,000 c

 vi. Based on the average reduction in consumption due to a smart meter (2.8% based on BEIS review), and typical annual consumption values (2,900kWh – Ofgem), this provides a saving of £14 per customer per year. Financial benefit 2 (behavioural changes) A recent trial carried out by WPD (Power Up) included an intervention related to behavioural changes. In particular, it included advice on behavioural changes to improve the thermal comfort and living environment in the home, using the smart meter to help monitor changes in behaviour (such as control of mould and damp and to reduce household energy consumption where possible). The trial reached out to 800 people, with 385 of them obtaining £32,736.50 in benefits related to behavioural changes.
 iii. If we assume that the reduction in consumption is already included in this figure (to ensure we aren't double counting), this results in £71.02 benefit per person. iv. To calculate the probability or success we consider the number of people that implemented the changes versus the number of people that received the advice – 385/800 = 48.1%.
Societal benefit
 i. If we take the same reduction in consumption due to smart meters (2.8%), and apply it to the average consumption (2,900 kWh), when using carbon prices and grid emission factors from Ofgem's Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA) template, we can forecast the tonnes of carbon removed.
ii. This adds up to £1.9m in benefit (non-discounted) over the 10 years of RIIO-ED2 and RIIO-ED3.
Alternatives
 A less ambition option would have been to passively provide information (i.e. websites/leaflets etc.). While this may have delivered some of the associated benefit, from WPD's past experience, direct 1-1 interventions are the most effective for reaching hard-to-reach customers. A more ambitious offer would have been to go beyond PSR customers, offering smart energy action plans to all who
wanted one. This however would've been going beyond the remit of the DNO, whereas the current option is clearly targeted at "making sure no one is left behind" during the smart energy transition.
 Specific rationale/stakeholder support WPD was urged to identify fuel poor customers, and better serve their needs in future smart grid planning. They want WPD to take steps to reduce fuel poverty, educate customers to increase awareness of our available support and support communities to address a lack of energy choice, help access to flexibility and LCTs. (Synth report 2) Make sure no one is left behind in the transition to a smart network (Specific commitment suggestion – Synth report 2) The initial measure (to develop a capability model only) was seen as acceptable but needs specific measures, such as how many customers are benefitting. (Synth report 3) 97% of stakeholders supported the development of a model, and of the five options presented a strong majority of 47% custometed the bishert entire to support 60% of ESE support.
 47% supported the highest option to support 60% of PSR customers. (Synth report 4) The proposed bespoke smart energy action plan will provide PSR customers with the following services: Customer access to domestic flexible and/or aggregated services: Enabling customers to make direct savings on their energy bills by joining community-level flexibility tariffs where they can reduce their energy costs by adjusting the timing of their energy use. Connection aid and advice for adoption of EVs and LCTs, potentially in collaboration with local authorities:

	 Providing specialist advice and referrals to key partner agencies to provide vulnerable customers with the support required to navigate the process to make use of LCTs and EVs, accelerating the shift towards these technologies as a result of WPD's support. Linking customers to relevant energy community schemes based on customer location: Enabling customers to access lower cost energy produced locally via community energy schemes in their region. Energy savings and energy efficiency measures:
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	better use of their smart meter and data. WPD does not have any charges associated with smart meters. As Supplementary Annex SA-05 outlines, of the five options presented a clear majority of 42% of stakeholders wanted to see option 3: 30% of PSR customer per year. 75% of surveyed end user customers agreed. Only 6% of stakeholders selected option 5 to request an alternative approach, indicating that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious. In addition, a huge majority support the associated action for WPD to develop a capability tool to assess the opportunities for stakeholders to participate in a smart future in order to identify barriers that we must seek to remove when designing any new services in this area.
	provided with support each year in relation to low carbon, technologies, smart meters and flexible energy services amounts to £1.39 per customer, resulting in a total of £11.12 million per year (considerably above the costs of delivery of £1 million).

	75% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing.
5. Customers are not exposed to	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI.
unacceptable risks	This commitment is also submitted as a CVP due to the proposal's significant additional value above business as usual. If WPD is unable to deliver the value associated with the CVP, WPD will return any reward associated with delivery.
	WPD's customer advisers are trained to communicate with customers and are experienced in facing initial resistance to new ideas or proposals by the company, and have consistently cleansed PSR records by phone for several years. We have taken reasonable measures to ensure that we will deliver this commitment (including the training of customer advice teams, update of procedures, etc.)
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD has a strong track record of external accreditations from independent experts who assess and endorse our vulnerability processes. These institutions and associated accreditations (including the British Standard Institute's (BSI) standard for inclusive service provision, the Customer Service Excellence Standard, Action on Hearing Loss' Louder Than Words accreditation and AbilityNet accessibility accreditation) provide guidance and advice that allow us to set strategic direction, assuring us that our targets are sufficiently ambitious based on extensive benchmarking across a range of sectors.

Commitment 19: Fuel poverty reduction

Support at least 113,0	000 fuel poor customers to save £60 million on their energy bills over RIIO-ED2.
Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Customers living in cold homes and/or struggling to afford their energy bills will receive tailored support to make long term changes to improve their ability to afford to heat their home.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	WPD has a statutory duty to protect customers in vulnerable situations and to maintain a PSR to drive bespoke for customers in relation to power cuts.
	Over the years, our vulnerable customer strategy has evolved from a focus solely on customers with permanent conditions to also include those in vulnerable situations that make them more likely to suffer in a power cut. Stakeholders tell that the causes are often interconnected, with non- financial impacts such as resilience and wellbeing during emergencies often hand-in-hand with financial impacts such as debt or fuel poverty. Our own delivery has also revealed this. When contacting customers to update their details on the PSR many also mention associated difficulties affording to heat their home. In response, WPD created an extensive programme of fuel poverty support schemes, which has seen us support over 92,000 customers to save more than £37 million on their energy bills since 2015. We have worked with expert stakeholders and delivery partners to devise an approach that ensures WPD doesn't go "too far" in the eyes of stakeholders and stray too far from our core remit as a DNO, but to address fuel poverty in an efficient but impactful way where it is a key factor also impacting our customers' ability to cope during a power cut.
	In 2017/18 we sought to more robustly evidence this correlation between fuel poverty and power cut resilience. We surveyed 77 vulnerable customer support agencies including charities, LAs and housing associations. We then took this a step further, working with the Centre for Sustainable Energy, as part of our new social indicator mapping we sought to identify customers that are both PSR eligible and fuel poor. The analysis combined Housing Survey datasets that contain indicators of fuel poverty, with additional data on household demographics (e.g. age, disabilities, etc.) and building features (e.g. stairlifts) that indicate likely PSR eligibility. The results revealed that of the total number eligible for the PSR, 10% are also fuel poor. However, crucially of the total customers in fuel poverty, a huge 43% are also eligible for the PSR. Their fuel poverty status would suggest that they are likely to experience additional vulnerabilities (e.g. harder to heat housing) that reduce their resilience to power cuts. This has significantly informed our strategy by revealing that targeting fuel poor households is a highly valuable approach to identify hard-to-reach vulnerable customers for the PSR.
	WPD has pioneered fuel poverty support in the sector, being rated as the number one company for our approach to vulnerable customer support for eight consecutive years as part of Ofgem's Stakeholder Engagement and Customer Vulnerability incentive. For RIIO-ED2 an effective approach to address fuel poverty is a specified baseline requirement of WPD's customer vulnerability strategy as part of the Business Plan Guidance.

2. Considered alternative	Wh	ny did we offer th	nese o	option	is / ev	videnc	e of approp	priate ambition:	
approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Ор	tions considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
	Α.	No fuel poverty support	×	~	~	×	Zero	None – WPD would not provide any fuel poverty support to customers in vulnerable situations. Given annual spend is c.£1.5m, this would have an immaterial reduction (c.1p) on customer bills).	Rejected: This would be contrary to Ofgem's guidance and baseline requirements of DNOs in relation to addressing fuel poverty as part of our vulnerable customer strategy. It would also go against consistent stakeholder feedback received over the last 10 years which values highly WPD's programme of fuel poverty support. Despite already delivering an industry leading approach (around 4 times larger than any other DNO) stakeholders have been clear throughout the RIIO-ED2 process that they expect us to build on this and seek to go even further. Were we to remove all fuel poverty support it would also be against our company values to ensure that we protect vulnerable customers and seek to deliver continual improvements to our services. It would also curtail our ability to support customers in a smart energy future as man of the issues associated with fuel poverty including disengagement from the energy sector and issues with affordability will have a direct impact on the ability of customers to participate in future smart energy services.
	B.	Blanket service: Blanket service for 70,000 customers (maintaining current RIIO-ED1 volumes of 14,000 customers supported a year)	×	~	~	×	£2.5m	£500k reduction in costs (immaterial impact on customer bills). Delivering some standardised support to help address causes of fuel poverty, but much reduced quality and scope of support from the bespoke, tailored programmes delivered in RIIO-ED1. Savings per customer supported likely to be around £50 per head – a 90% reduction from existing levels.	Rejected: Key to the success of WPD's fuel poverty programme in RIIO-ED1 relative to other DNOs (our savings are around 10 times higher than the average amongst other DNOs) has been the delivery of tailored and holistic support for fuel poor customers. Stakeholders and expert delivery partners tell us that this is the only way to effectively tackle the root causes of fuel poverty and seek to permanently lift customers out of fuel poverty, rather than offer temporary fixes. WPD's schemes all therefore cover nine key interventions ranging from income maximisation measures to energy tariff switching to energy efficiency installations. Were WPD to adopt a blank one-size-fix all we would risk only addressing a limited number of factors contributing to the issues facing customers, rendering it highly unlikely that the customer benefits will be enduring. As a significant backward step from the quality of WPD's industry leading services
	C.	Blanket service - increased: Blanket service to a larger number of customers e.g. 100,000-500,000	×	~	~	×	£5m	Delivering some standardised support to help address causes of fuel poverty, but much reduced quality and scope of support from the bespoke, tailored programmes delivered in RIIO-ED1. Savings per customer supported likely to be around £50 per head – a 90% reduction from existing levels. While greater volumes of customers may benefit, the savings will be significantly less and all will therefore be temporary fixes rather than permanent solutions to tackle the root causes of fuel poverty.	In RIIO-ED1, this option would see a significant 90% reduction in the average savings achieved per customer, while not achieving the desired outcome of achieving long term benefits for customers. By only tackling one or two of the most common issues facing customers (unlike our existing schemes that tackle nine interventions) we leave customers still at severe fuel poverty risk. WPD's programme has always focused on 1-1 interventions, not only to increase the scale of the benefit, but to track test the value we are providing. Whereas a blanket approach may lead to "forecasted" benefits of ~£50 per head, it is impossible to assess how effective the materials actually are at scale. WPD's tailored service on the other hand reports tested values, providing confidence that the target number of customers and target savings have been reached.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·														
	D.	Holistic service - maintain: Holistic, tailored service for 75,000 customers (broadly in line with current RIIO- ED1 volumes of customers supported a year)	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£5m	Holistic, tailored fuel poverty support service, offering support in every conceivable intervention area. Resulting in £40m of savings direct to customers – over £500 per head achieved.	savings for customers than ambitious level of performa options to stakeholders. We have consistently heard continual improvement, but holistic support provided for performance that are still pr operating an extensive part	bgramme is already delivering around ten times greater in any other DNO in RIIO-ED1, maintaining this highly ance was a sensible point to start from when presenting rd from stakeholders that they expect WPD to pursue it that WPD must maintain the high quality, tailored and or customers. We therefore proposed levels of enhanced oractically deliverable based on our experience of rthreship model (over 70 partners are involved in our				
	E.	Holistic service - increase: Holistic, tailored service for 94,000 customers (broadly in line with current RIIO- ED1 volumes of customers supported a year)	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£7.5m	Holistic, tailored fuel poverty support service, offering support in every conceivable intervention area. Resulting in £50m of savings direct to customers – over £500 per head achieved.	existing deliv for stakehold significantly shows that t maintaining funding to el size of build funding WPI engagemen	very). As with a der to suggest a further in our a here is a cap o	all optioneering an entirely diff imbitions. In the n the level of d significant s any charities h would be diffic These practic akeholders at	g with stakeho ferent alternati ne case of fuel volume partne avings per he have a ceiling pult to expand ality considera our customer	olders, we gave ive or to reque l poverty our e ers can deliver ad. While WPI on the numbe beyond, regan ations followin- vulnerability c	e a 5 th option set to go experience while still D can increase r of staff and rdless of the g extensive conferences
	F.	Holistic service – significant increase: Holistic, tailored service for 113,000 customers	~	~	~	~	£10m	Holistic, tailored fuel poverty support service, offering support in every conceivable intervention area. Resulting in £60m of savings direct to customers – over £500 per head achieved.	Ambition level:	Option 1: 56,000 customers to save £30m	Option 2: 75,000 customers to save £40m	Option 3: 94,000 customers to save £50m	Option 4: 113,000 customers to save £60m	Option 5: Even further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)
	G.	Holistic service – uncapped increase: Holistic, tailored service for more than 113,000 customers	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£10m plus an additional £5m per 20,000 customer supported (over 113,000 customers)	Holistic, tailored fuel poverty support service, offering support in every conceivable intervention area. Resulting in more than £60m of savings direct to customers – over £500 per head achieved.	Bill impact:	-1.5p	No bill impact	+1.5p	+3p	-
	H.	Hardship funds (monetary grants to customers)	×	~	~	Tested & rejected	Huge potential range	Customers receive one-off payments and grants towards in-home installations to help to address factors impacting fuel poverty. However without specialist and tailored advice this run this risk of being a temporary fix and one-off boost to finances without tackling the root causes of fuel poverty and resulting in long term benefits.	workshops h rejected by v to achieve th customers b This option a the cost per £500. Were (£10m in the this would re to deliver the	s forward to sta held as part of t wider stakehold he desired outco by tackling the r also delivers fa	the Business I ders because come of achiev oot causes of r less cost ber 7, yet results n a hardship fu O-ED2), if the wer customers cavings per cu	Plan developm it offers a tem ring long term fuel poverty. nefit for custor in an average and to be at th e average gran s supported (2 stomers, and	nent stage. Ho porary fix and , enduring ber mers. In the ca saving per cu e same level o nt to customer 0,000 vs 113, therefore deliv	owever, it was therefore fails hefits for ase of row F, istomer of over of £2m a year 's was £100 000). In order vering £500 to

[I. WPD's Custome				£0	The benefits in terms of	Rejected:
	Engagement Group asked us to show consideration of the following option: Alternative funding models (e.g. "pay as yo save" / "no benefit, no fee"" to recoup the costs from fuel poor customers over time from the savings the achieve	wider altern o this overa mmitted to de, the vast	arching deliver. majority	core WP[, are	commitme D's co-creat wider com	services received of each scheme would be as per rows D-G. However wider customers would not pay for this additional service. We would be asking the benefitting customers to pay for the service themselves via a portion of the savings they unlock as a result of the support. They would therefore be less financially well off as a result but it may enable support to be provided some additional customers above the maximum option offered (row G) at no additional cost to wider customers.	 Rejected: Wider customers have been very clear that they place significant value on WPD delivering a programme of fuel poverty support funded by wider customers. Action to alleviate fuel poverty was the second highest valued initiative within WPD's willingness to pay research, with extremely strong support that wider customers should contribute and pay to support the most vulnerable in society. By contrast this model would make fuel poor customers themselves pay a portion of the savings they achieve, in order to fund the outreach in the first place. This notion was rejected for a number of reasons: Firstly, we are not comfortable morally with asking the poorest customers only to fund their own support, when there is overwhelming evidence that wider customers believe they should be funding this service. Secondly, the financial savings achieved by many customers do not result in a circa £500 saving direct into their bank balance; often it enables them to live warmer and happier, which are hugely important and valuable outcomes. For very many customers the savings enable them to better afford their required energy – therefore having the heating on for longer and/or heating multiple rooms in the home. If we were to ask customers to provide the c.2:100 funding from these savings in order to fund the support in the first place, for many customers this would curtail their ability to heat their homes to the required standard, therefore meaning we have not achieved the maximum benefit for each customer which is a stated aim of our schemes. Thirdly, the limits on the options presented above are not a result of a cap on funding – unlimited funding would not result in exponential numbers of customer supported, as there is a limit to what partners can pragmatically deliver at the required quality. There are a finite number of appropriately resourced and skilled partner organisation in our region, who can delive the appropriate quality of who can delive the appropriate quality of
						Topic: Partnerships and outrea	ach services
						-	

Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
a) Develop and continue to expand partnerships with carers and charities such as Citizens Advice	Yes
b) Identify partnership leaders and community champions to support vulnerable customers and protect them from scams	Yes
c) Work closely with key stakeholders and partners to provide education and support for customers in fuel poverty	Yes
d) Include community energy groups in your partnership and outreach services	Yes
 e) Engage with all tiers of Government as well as housing associations to raise awareness of initiatives, including those aimed at alleviating fuel poverty 	Yes
f) Promote the PSR and work to make every contact count	Yes
g) Coordinate your channels of communication with your partners and share resources, data and expertise.	Yes
h) Help scale-up retrofitting projects	Yes
i) Use your partners to educate fuel poor customers on financial management and support them to switch tariffs	Yes
i) Consider whether it is appropriate to work with food banks	Yes
k) Focus on providing outreach services in mental health	Yes
I) Work closely with suppliers to reduce fuel poverty	Yes
m) Work with the private rented sector to tackle fuel poverty	No
n) Join the Public Services Boards	No
o) Engage with resilience forums and use mapping tools	Yes
p) Work with LAs and parish councils	Yes
 Review the way you budget and fund initiatives 	Yes
r) Maintain the services you offer	Yes
s) Focus on cross-referencing; build services in tandem with building network operation	Yes
t) Work on signposting to identify vulnerable and fuel poor customers	Yes
u) Collaborate with other DNOs and suppliers on disconnections	No
 v) Distinguish between crisis and day-to-day support 	Yes
w) Tie this work into your Social Contract	Yes
x) Use WPD brand as a trusted partner	Yes
Topic: Referral networks, data sharing and data quality	
Topic: Referral networks, data sharing and data quality Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of custome vulnerability champions
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this l) Work with Auriga	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of custome vulnerability champions Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this i) Work with Auriga m) Collaborate with the Department of Work and Pensions	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of custome vulnerability champions Yes Yes – Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this i) Work with Auriga m) Collaborate with the Department of Work and Pensions n) Monitor who is accessing vulnerability services to improve data quality	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of custome vulnerability champions Yes Yes – Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping i) Sign up to the JIGSO project j) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this l) Work with Auriga m) Collaborate with the Department of Work and Pensions n) Monitor who is accessing vulnerability services to improve data quality o) Use existing data in a smarter way	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of custome vulnerability champions Yes Yes – Yes Yes
Stakeholder created actions a) Lobby Ofgem to allow for data to enable data to be safely shared with other utilities b) Provide funding and increase the support you give to referral networks c) Encourage more data sharing with referral networks including LAs and healthcare providers d) Build trust with customers to gain more access to smart meter data e) Connect customers to the support they need f) Make it easier for customers to sign up to the PSR g) Work with suppliers h) Use EPC data in social indictor mapping j) Sign up to the JIGSO project i) Go to grassroots level and work with parish councils k) Use team managers dedicated to this m) Collaborate with the Department of Work and Pensions n) Monitor who is accessing vulnerability services to improve data quality b) Use existing data in a smarter way	Included in WPD's Plan? Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes – establishment of customer vulnerability champions Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

	b) Target those on pay-as-you-go meters to receive support	Yes
	 c) Target those with other key indicators of fuel poverty, such as those off gas, using solid fuels for heating, or those with single 	Yes
	glazing	
	d) Work with suppliers	Yes
	e) Use a clear definition of fuel poverty - be aware that there is a difference between 'can't pay' and 'won't pay'	Yes
	f) Create a PSR for fuel poor customers	No
	g) Set targets for funding fuel poor initiatives	Yes
	h) Work with partner organisations on identifying fuel poverty	Yes
3. Costs are efficient and	The cost per referral for WPD's fuel poverty programme have decreased year-on-year throughout RIIO-ED1	
benefits of the actions	increased significantly – indicating that WPD has a highly efficient delivery model. The cost per head will be	just £17 in RIIO-ED2, yet result in an
plausibly outweigh the	average direct saving per customer of over £500.	
costs		
00010	In addition there are considerable wider social values to the outcomes WPD's actions in this area will delive	r The benefits case for the
	commitment is therefore as follows:	
	Support 113,000 fuel poor customers to save £60m in their energy bills over RIIO-ED2	
	Cost	
	i. The estimated cost to deliver this commitment is £10m. These costs support the	expansion of WPD's External Affairs
	team and include:	•
	0. Fuel poverty outreach schemes.	
	1. Social indicator mapping.	
	2. Annual vulnerability stakeholder workshops.	
	Smart energy outreach trials for vulnerable customers.	
	ii. Our experience in RIIO-ED1 provided WPD with lessons learned and we can not	w identify resource needs with more
	certainty.	
	Financial benefits	
	i. In 2019/2020, WPD's fuel poverty programme delivered £10.7m in financial savir	ngs across 18 652 fuel poor
	customers. This equates to an average benefit of £537.67 per customer in 19/20	
	representative year (20/21 was impacted by Covid-19, and therefore less typical)	
	ii. By reaching the targeted number of customers, WPD will deliver a financial bene	ent of ~£64m over RIIO-ED2 (non
	discounted).	
	Societal benefits	
	 In addition to the financial benefits the customers receive, it is also possible to m 	easure the impact on quality of life –
	namely the benefit of preventing customers from developing asthma and other re	espiratory diseases from living in
	cold/damp dwellings.	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	ii. A Quality of Life Year (QALY) is valued at £60,000 per year, with 0.046 (i.e. £2,7	60 - NHS) related to morbidity
	iii. By understanding the chance of developing respiratory issues due to residing in	
	increase – European Parliament), and the likelihood of a customer acting on the	
	Greener Forum), we can forecast that this advice will result in 4.18% fewer cases	s among the customers WPD
	supports.	
	iv. This delivers a total benefit of \sim £13m over RIIO-ED2 (non discounted).	
	Therefore, we can conclude that the estimated social value of delivering this commitment is much higher that	an the estimated costs, delivering a
	Net Present Value (all benefits, minus all costs) of £59.2m over RIIO-ED2).	

	In addition, our customer research reveals that customers place considerable social value on the outcomes WPD will deliver in this core commitment. Our willingness to pay research reveals that the value placed by customers on the achievement of this target level of performance is £3.67 (the highest value attributed to any of WPD's Business Plan commitments), which significantly outstrips the costs of delivery (2-3p per customer).
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As outlined in Annex 5, this core commitment has very high levels of stakeholder support. In our preliminary stage engagement, stakeholders had asked us to go further in our levels of fuel poverty support, but not to go too far (particularly the view of major users and business customers) and risk duplicating the services of other agencies. Most importantly stakeholders stressed a duty to keep WPD's overall bills as low as possible and therefore to seek to do more but without increasing our charges significantly. As part of the Business Plan consultation, our stakeholders were asked what level of support we should provide for fuel poor customers. In the first five years of RIIO-ED1 (therefore a comparable time period to the upcoming five year price control review for RIIO-ED2), and at the time of our first draft Business Plan consultation, we had delivered support to 70,000 customers, directly saving them £27 million. In our first draft RIIO-ED2 Business Plan, we therefore proposed supporting 75,000 customers to save £40 million which was a significant
	improvement on WPD's current performance, which significantly surpasses performance by others in the sector (using the information publicly available, for RIIO-ED1 to date, the average savings amongst other DNOs for fuel poor customers was £1.6 million per annum). In the consultation, we therefore gave our customers five choices, including options to go further than our initially proposed level. The results are shown below.
	1: 56,000 customers to save £30m (-1.5p on annual bill)
	2: 75,000 customers to save £40m (bill as today) 27%
	3: 94,000 customers to save £50m (+1.5p on annual bill) 20%
	4: 113,000 customers to save £60m (+3p on annual bill) 42%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming) 3%
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% Percentage of vote

5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	Of the five options, the option to support 113.000 customers to save £60m was voted by 42% of our stakeholders. 75% of our end user customers also agreed. The fact that only 3% of stakeholders supported option 5 strongly indicates that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious. In addition, 82% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing. WPD's performance in relation to customer vulnerability will be subject to a financial ODI, which means that significant under delivery against the targets set for this commitment could result in financial penalties being imposed. In addition, with such a huge cost benefit per supported customer of over £483, even a modest under delivery against the overall target would still deliver significant benefits to all customers supported.
6. Assurance undertaken	 WPD has a strong track record of external accreditations from independent experts who assess and endorse our vulnerability processes. These institutions and associated accreditations (including the BSI standard for inclusive service provision, the Customer Service Excellence Standard, Action on Hearing Loss' Louder Than Words accreditation and AbilityNet accreditation) provide guidance and advice that allow us to set strategic direction, assuring us that our targets are sufficiently ambitious based on extensive benchmarking across a range of sectors. Our fuel poverty schemes work in a 'hub' model to deliver comprehensive support, with an appointed 'lead partner agency' in each of our four licence areas that assesses the individual needs of each customer. After identifying their bespoke requirements, the lead agency works with a pool of sub-partner agencies with specific expertise across the range of factors impacting fuel poverty. Everything is coordinated through the lead agency to avoid hand-offs and confusion for customers. Stakeholders have made it clear that WPD should continue to use this partnership hub model to deliver our customer outreach schemes. The volume and experience of our various partners (examples below), provides assurance that we've taken into account all available best practice. In 2018/19, we launched a pilot 'Power Up Health' scheme, partnering with local health services and support groups to reach fuel poor patients who were previously unknown to WPD's PSR. We have worked with the lead agency, Nottingham Energy Partnership (NEP), to proactively expand the scheme beyond the initial scope of supporting customers referred by their oxygen provider, Air Liquide, after receiving breathing apparatus. 'Power Up Health' has collaborated closely with Derby and Burton Community Hospital Respiratory Unit to improve health support to fuel poor customers in WPD's PSR. We worked with the lead agency in each of our four licence areas providing compreh

Commitment 26: Customer satisfaction

Deliver exceptional service levels by achieving an overall average customer satisfaction of 93% or higher by the end of RIIO-ED2, with separate reporting for emerging technology customers.

Justification criteria:	WF	PD action:							
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	pov inc cha sui	wer cuts, conno lusive digitalis annels in Ofger rveys.	ection ed ap n's o	ns an oproa fficial	d ger ch to surv	neral cust veys a	enquiries, omer satis and demon	with improve faction measu strating how	ustomer satisfaction across all service areas, including in particular ments over time (and absolutely no regression). WPD will develop a more urement over the course of RIIO-ED2, championing the inclusion of these this can be done by including them in all WPD's own commissioned
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	(po cor ger act imp WF	wer cuts (planner nmission additioneration connect ions to a) give corrovements to W 2D to undertake.	ed an nal, i ions, uston /PD's	d unp ndepe PSR ners c servi	lanne enden advic confid ces a	ed), co nt surv ce serv ence i nd co	onnections veys to mea vices, fuel p in, and obje ntinually re	(quotations and sure performa poverty suppor ective assurance fresh our unde	n ODI, measuring the quality of WPD's service delivery across key activities d completed works) and general enquiries). In addition, WPD will also nce in other key service areas including major connections, distributed t, flexibility services and access to open data. These are critical research ce of, the quality of WPD's service deliver, and; b) identify ongoing rstanding of customer expectations. These are therefore critical actions for
2. Considered alternative approaches (and	<u>Wh</u>	ny did we offer th	iese d	option	s/ev	ridenc	e of approp	priate ambition:	
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Ор	tions considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
	Α.	Regression: Worse than RIIO-ED1 (e.g. <90%)	×	~	~	×	Marginal cost reduction (e.g. fewer Contact Centre headcount)	Detrimental to customer service. Benefit of marginally lower bills, but against an area of service customers significantly value.	Rejected: Stakeholders have been adamant that they will not entertain a reduction in performance, the cost benefit of doing so would be minimal, and it would also be contrary to WPD's values to not seek continual improvement and consistent delivery of excellent customer service levels, particularly as people's reliance on energy increases significantly in light of a smart energy future.
	В.	Maintain: Performance in line with RIIO- ED1 (90% = 6 year average; 92% in 2020/21)	~	~	~	×	None	Maintained service level but some risk associated with lack of continual improvement as new services emerge.	Offered (but rejected by stakeholders): This was offered to stakeholders. It is feasible to just target maintaining current service levels, but this carries risk. As new services emerge in RIIO-ED2 and customer expectations continue to increase as a result of the shift to a more electricity-dependent future (e.g. expansion in EVs) this will likely require WPD to "run to stand still". As such, targeting to continually improve will ensure we pursue innovative approaches at all times and keep pace with changing customer expectations.

 	1					1		
C.	Incremental improvements: RIIO-ED1 performance plus 1%	~	~	~	~	No additional bill impact	Continual improvement above already exceptional, industry leading satisfaction levels achieved in RIIO-ED1.	Offered: Incremental improvements up to around a maximum of 95% are deemed realistic. Analysis of the BMCS reveals that the current area of lowest satisfaction is 'connections' and specifically aspects of service that would benefit from greater hand-holding, ownership and proactive information (e.g. ease of process, understanding charges, complexity of information etc). We are therefore confident that an increase of 2-3% on top of current RIIO-ED1 performance is possible as a result of employing a number of dedicated connections staff in each regional depot to provide this hand-holding and key account management for customers.
D.	Incremental improvements: RIIO-ED1 performance plus 2%	~	~	~	Tested & rejected	£43m	Continual improvement above already exceptional, industry leading satisfaction levels achieved in RIIO-ED1.	From the outset of our engagement, stakeholders have consistently expressed the view that WPD's current customer satisfaction performance is excellent (see Supplementary Annex SA-05, pg 89). Stakeholders have expressed the view that beyond a very high threshold of 90%, they see little distinction or merit between the improvements levels possible beyond this. The consensus has therefore been that while there should be absolutely no regression, even in exchange for a reduction in customer bills, any further improvement should be incremental.
E.	Incremental improvements: RIIO-ED1					£86m	Continual improvement above already	This feedback therefore drove the selection of incremental performance options that were uncapped, for stakeholders to consider as part of our consultation process. They were: Option 1: Option 2: Option 3: Option 4: Option 5:
	performance plus 3%						above already exceptional, industry leading satisfaction levels achieved in RIIO-ED1.	Maintain current baseline (original: 89%; Updated: 92%)1% improvement2% improvement3% improvementEven further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)
					ected			Bill reduction No bill impact +24p +48p (+24p per 1% improvement from option 2)
		~	~	~	Tested & rejected			As set out in Annex 5, the majority of stakeholders voted for option 2. The lack of support for options above this, including just 5% support for option 5 strongly indicates that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious. As reviewed by the Research Subgroup of the Customer Engagement Group, in all stakeholder research on this topic, including deliberative focus groups and stated preference surveys, respondents were given key context about WPD's existing performance relative to other performers in the sector. In relation to the aspirational performance targets set by DNOs in their Business Plans published in July 2021, some of which surpassed WPD's initial target, we have since sought to provide relevant context with customers as part of acceptability research in October 2021 to test whether the knowledge that others are targeting levels around 1% higher than WPD influences the scale of stakeholder aspiration in relation to this commitment.
F.	Dramatic improvements: RIIO-ED1 performance plus 4% or higher (resulting in 95%+ satisfaction)	~	~	×	×	£129m plus	Continual improvement above already exceptional, industry leading satisfaction levels achieved in RIIO-ED1.	Offered (but rejected by stakeholders): In addition, the introduction of specialist staff in each regional depot to support our connections process will have a diminishing impact beyond the level of 95%. Experience shows that some customers will never award a 10/10, and therefore attainment about 95% on a consistent basis is questionable over whether it is possible. Stakeholders have never indicated they expect service of this level and have been clear that 90%+ is deemed exceptional. The costs to pursue 95%+ will also increase significantly as it will require fundamental system and process changes in the pursuit of a 1-2% improvement, which does not appear proportionate.

G.	Entirely new					Additional	No realistic	Rejected:	Τ
	measures (e.g.					costs to all	benefit in	The existing BMCS is a customer experience measure. There are 30 breakdown questions	
	customer					listed above	addition to the	posed about all aspects of the customer experience, ranging from staff politeness, to speed of	
	experience)					(as these	measures listed	response to clarity of information to ease of processes. In addition, WPD commissions additional	
						are part of	above, given	top-up surveys to the Ofgem measures, including experience research with major connections	
						industry	already	customers, distributed generation customers, PSR customers and all those supported by a WPD	
						measure)	exceptional	fuel poverty scheme.	
						,	customer		
					×		service levels.	Introducing a separate measure from the Ofgem BMCS model is therefore unlikely to change	
		•	•	~	^			the overall experience received by our customers, which is already at exceptional levels. The	
								need for an entirely different approach would be more relevant for a company whose satisfaction	
								is low with significant improvements still to be made. Furthermore, the BMCS is an Ofgem-set,	
								industry-wide mechanism that has driven huge uplifts in customer experience across the sector	
								during RIIO-ED1. There is therefore no evidence of what benefit introducing a new customer	
								experience measure would bring over and above the existing approach, stakeholders have not	
								suggested this as change they want to see and benchmarking with the Customer Service	
								Excellence Standard and Institute of Customer Service reveals that WPD's approach is in line	
								with UK-wide best practice.	

Consideration of wider alternatives:

As key enablers to this overarching core commitment there are a number of ambitious new actions, as well as stretches to existing performance, that WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events resulted in a large number of unprompted stakeholder suggestions in relation to this area. Of these, the vast majority are wider commitments that we will deliver in RIIO-ED2. This is a strong indication that WPD's current commitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support. For example:

Topic: Customer service during power	cuis
Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
a) Adopt smarter options, such as web chats, apps and localised social media feeds	Yes
b) Improve the amount of communication before and during a power cut	Yes
c) Prioritise customer service for those on the PSR during power cuts	Yes
d) Increase awareness of PSR, as well as those vulnerable customers not on the register	Yes
e) Collaborate cross-utilities and communities to ensure effective backup power systems	Yes
f) Maintain frequent communications in rural and at risk customers	Yes
g) Collaborate with National Grid	No – customer confusion of WPI role
h) Improve communications with stakeholders involved in supporting outages	Yes
i) Send automated text messages to customers based on their geographic location	Yes
j) Focus on mobile support, reaching out to customers	Yes
k) Ensure your website is up to date and has accurate information	Yes
I) Create dedicated helpline	Yes
m) Share good practice within WPD	Yes
n) More frequent, multi-channel communications, promote the 105 number	Yes
 Work with local authorities during power cuts to support vulnerable customers 	Yes

	 In addition, WPD's own expertise/knowledge, coupled with engagement with expert and specialist stakeholders, led to the identification of additional innovations in customer service that wider stakeholders may not have spontaneously considered. We will deliver these as key improvements to drive the achievement of this core commitment. For example, in relation to innovation and digitalisation we anticipate we will: Introduce entirely new customer interface channels such as same day connections self-quotation tools for high volume work types (e.g. LCT connections). Refine our proactive texting service within minutes of a fault occurring. Ensure the same up to date information is available across all our communication platforms, telephony and digital, in real-time. Make better use of technology to improve information flow from site to office to customer. Improve the accuracy of restoration times and explanations of fault causes. Improve our planned interruption notification process, providing visibility on digital channels. Expand the volume and speed of proactive customer calls during and post fault. The ultimate measure of the impact of these actions, and whether we are sufficiently keeping pace with (and exceeding) customer expectations, will be the customer satisfaction measure outlined in this core commitment.
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	WPD is proposing no increase to baseline funding from RIIO-ED1 to achieve this enhanced performance target, despite the significant expansion of services it entails. These will therefore be achieved through ongoing efficiencies and improvements. In a further measure of the efficiency of our delivery, while there is a growth in the work programme and expansion of our satisfaction measures and associated actions to achieve this, both the closely associated costs for this area and staff levels to achieve it, will remain flat. Our customer value research has been used as a prioritisation tool to calibrate the scale and scope of the options offered to stakeholders in this area. Our willingness to pay research reveals that the value placed by customers on the achievement of a target for customer service 1-2% higher than our RIIO-ED1 baseline (at £1.01) significantly outstrips the costs of delivery (24p per 1% improvement).
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	In addition to the high levels of stakeholder support for this commitment as outlined in Annex 5, 86% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing. At workshops in September 2021, where WPD returned to stakeholders to test this commitment in light of updated baseline performance 64% favoured the option of a 1% improvement on present day service levels. 29% wanted to see us go a little further than this (e.g. 2% above existing levels) but 0% asked for performance to improve beyond this. Further customer research is underway in October 2021 that will provide the context to customers that WPD's updated target will be 1% below the top target in our sector, to help us understand if customers are happy with a 93% level of satisfaction even if this will not be industry leading by a small margin.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur financial penalties as part of the ODI.
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD's performance in this area has been benchmarked, and the robustness and efficacy of our initiatives to improve customer service have been independently assessed as part of the Customer Service Excellence Standard, in which WPD is the top performing company in the UK across all sectors, and British Standard for Inclusive Service Provision.

CATEGORY 3: MAINTAINING A SAFE AND RESILIENT NETWORK

Commitment 33: Power cuts

Deliver improved network reliability where on average power cuts are better than one interruption every two years lasting less than 22 minutes (12% reduction in customer interruptions (frequency) and 16% reduction in customer minutes lost (duration)), utilising vulnerable customer data to prioritise network improvement schemes.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:							
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Customers receive a highly reliable supply of electricity, delivering our lowest ever power cut levels (with an average duration of less than 22 minutes per year.)							
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	This commitment a	addres	ses tl	ne fur	ndam	ental purpose of WPD's role a	as DNO to pr	ovide a safe and secure supply of energy for our customers.
2. Considered alternative	Why did we offer t	hese o	ption	s / ev	idenc	e of appropriate ambition:	-	
approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Options considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
	A. Regression: Worse performance than in RIIO-ED1	×	~	~	×	Same as for row C below. Were WPD to scale back on certain activities that have historically driven improvements in network performance (e.g. we could reduce our tree maintenance programme), the cost saving from doing so would largely be offset by increases in fault response costs which would be reasonably expected to increase as a result of these proactive works being scaled back.	Worsened service and no guarantee of lower bills (e.g. savings via less maintenance offset against increased fault response call outs).	Rejected: Stakeholders have stated in every overarching engagement workshop in the last 10+ years that despite WPD's network reliability levels improving year-on-year and achieving best ever performance levels, they will not entertain any regression in this performance, even if it resulted in lower bills (the offer of this option in willingness to pay surveys over this period has always been roundly rejected). This option would also be contrary to WPD's values, which seeks to deliver industry leading network and customer service performance and deliver a culture that seeks continual improvement in all we do. There is also ultimately no guarantee that it will result in bill savings. It would lead to inefficient ways of working by waiting for faults reactively rather than proactively taking steps to prevent them from occurring and investing in technology to speed up restoration times if faults do occur. A worsening in network performance would also have a hugely negative potential impact on customer service and satisfaction levels.

B.	Maintain: Average power cut frequency of one every two years; and an average power cut duration of 24 minutes	×	~	~	×		Maintain existing excellent network performance and reliability levels for customers (which have historically achieved better than target).	Offered and rejected: Stakeholders have been very clear that in order to avoid any risk of regression in performance, WPD must target continual, albeit incremental due to our exceptional baseline levels of service and therefore starting point for RIIO-ED2. It would also be against WPD's values not to seek continual improvement, especially in an areas that is WPD's fundamental purpose and reason for existing for our customers. It is also unclear how this would be achieve in practice as aiming simply to stand still would likely require the same existing staff base (as WPD has driven significant efficiencies in our operations throughout RIIO-ED1), but to choose simply to not continue to drive and implement further efficiencies in RIIO-ED2 when they arise.
C.	Incremental improvement: Average power cut frequency better than one every two years; and an average power cut duration better than 24 minutes (Improvement levels in line with Ofgem's stretch targets of: 0.5% reduction in customer interruptions (frequency) and 2% reduction in customer minutes lost (duration))	V	V	~	✓	The vast majority of WPD's £6.7bn Totex contributes to the delivery of this outcome. At least £1.5bn is for asset replacement explicitly, although £5.6bn (Totex, minus load related reinforcement) covers wider activities including refurbishment, diversions, overhead line tree clearances, flood mitigation, quality of supply improvements, fault response, inspections maintenance and repairs, engineering management, transport (to attend faults) etc.	Improve on existing, excellent network reliability levels (achieving better than Ofgem benchmarked targets for DNOs).	Offered: This option aligns perfectly with stakeholder feedback. It seeks continual improvement, at a stretching but realistic level of performance, and at no additional cost to customers. We will target the delivery of improved performance in RIIO-ED2 while maintaining expenditure at existing RIIO- ED1 levels (subject to a 0.5% ongoing efficiency saving).
D.	Dramatically improve: E.g. above Ofgem targets	~	~	×	×	Unlimited. for example, 10% addition to Totex = £620m (£3.10 on the bill per year)	Improve on existing, excellent network reliability levels (achieving better than Ofgem benchmarked targets for DNOs).	Offered and rejected: While stakeholders have consistently implored WPD to seek continual improvement, they have done so in the context of considering WPD's existing reliability levels to be exceptional and therefore they have ruled out the need for dramatic improvements. They prefer focus to be given to improving service for customers that are significantly outside of the average performance levels (Worst Served Customers) rather than seeking to deliver larger percentage improvements to WPD's already excellent average. To do so could lead to potential very high bill impacts, which stakeholders do not support.
As res	ulted in unprom	this c oted s	verar stakel	ching nolder	core sugg	gestions in relation to a numbe	er of areas a	WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events ssociated with improving overall network reliability, including majority of these are included as wider commitments that we

Topic: Protect the network from risk	of flooding
Stakeholder created actions:	Included in WPD's plan?
a) Use long term climate scenarios and work with housing developers and utilities to mitigate risk	Yes – we will continue to utilise the latest Environment Agency data to drive our risk analysis to identify sites for protection measures
 b) Explore innovative ideas for flood defence and invest in these 	Yes
 c) Avoid building sub stations on flood plains and relocate those that are / Formalise engagement with LAs on housing developments: advise against building on floodplains 	Yes – we will liaise with developers and Local Authorities to try to ensur the location of new developments are appropriate and where several prospective sites are under consideration the impact of the risk of floodir on WPD's equipment is taken into account. However, we ultimately have statutory duty to connect where the customer requests.
d) Have an ongoing focus on flood protection	Yes
e) Consider the role of trees in flood prevention and plant more trees in appropriate locations	No – limited impact on flood mitigation on the scale required to remove ris of disruption to substations
f) Be a consultee and have an influence on the planning process	Yes
 g) Carry out a review of vulnerable assets. Ensure substations have adequate defences and underground cables where necessary 	Yes
h) Share scenario planning and GIS data with stakeholders	Yes
i) Prioritise those substations in flood plains for replacement	No
i) Share best practice and work with others	Yes
 k) Support communities to understand critical infrastructure, including location of substations 	Yes – part of engagements with Local Authorities and Local Resilience Forums
I) Forecast the future case for vulnerable customers in high risk flooding areas	Yes – WPD's social indicator mapping will be used as a factor in the prioritisation of network investment schemes
m) Install flood protection as standard in new substations	Yes – substations built in high risk flood areas will have in-built protection in their design
n) Liaise and collaborate with relevant parties including government, LAs, and the EA	Yes
Topic Tree suffice	
Topic: Tree cutting	
Stakeholder created actions:	Included in WPD's plan?
	Yes
a) Adopt an environmentally sustainable approach to tree cutting, replacing tress you fell	100
b) Underground cables where appropriate	Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues 	
b) Underground cables where appropriate	Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact 	Yes Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost 	Yes Yes Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the 	Yes Yes Yes Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the involvement of local groups 	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the involvement of local groups g) Assistance with maintenance costs for landowners 	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the involvement of local groups g) Assistance with maintenance costs for landowners h) Continue tree cutting for high risk circuits 	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the involvement of local groups g) Assistance with maintenance costs for landowners h) Continue tree cutting for high risk circuits i) Better reporting on tree cutting programme j) Focus on species of tree for cutting and replacement k) Work strategically with local authorities' environmental teams on initiatives relating to clearing of 	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes
 b) Underground cables where appropriate c) Engage with communities and make it simpler for customers to report issues d) Engage with stakeholders including landowners, Woodland Trusts, charities to enhance biodiversity and to minimise your impact on wildlife e) Take a strategic approach to your tree cutting programme and base your approach on cost benefit analyses and environmental impact f) Work with local stakeholders to identify locations for tree planting and encourage the involvement of local groups g) Assistance with maintenance costs for landowners h) Continue tree cutting for high risk circuits i) Better reporting on tree cutting programme j) Focus on species of tree for cutting and replacement 	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes
	n) Engage, educate and inform customers as to their role, e.g. don't plant trees close to overhead Yes
--	--
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	We will deliver lower fault unit costs in RIIO-ED2 than we are currently delivering in RIIO-ED1, while total expenditure will be subject to an ongoing efficiency saving of at least 0.5%. The majority of the Totex increase being proposed above RIIO-ED1 levels is to deliver smart systems and the DSO transition; by contrast expenditure to improve quality of supply is broadly flat despite improvements committed to in terms of service. Our willingness to pay research reveals that there is significant value placed by customers on incrementally reducing the number of planned power cuts (£0.99 extra per customer, per year) and on incrementally improving speed of restoration when faults do occur (£1.68), whereas WPD is proposing to deliver both of these outcomes without the need to increase customer bills.
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As Supplementary Annex SA-05 outlines, as part of our Business Plan refinement phase and responses to our draft Business Plan consultations 92% of stakeholders supported a commitment to deliver on average fewer and shorter power cuts in RIIO-ED2 than RIIO-ED1. Only 8% stated they wanted to see greater ambition or an alternative commitment, although when probed the majority stated their reasons were that they wanted WPD to better quantify the improvements that will be offered. Having done so in WPD's second draft consultation and set the targets as per the core commitment now stated, 82% of stakeholders found this to be acceptable, as did 86% of surveyed end user customers. In further evidence of the appropriateness of the scale of improvement being proposed by WPD in relation to power cuts, WPD tested options in relation to a wider commitment regarding the percentage of customers to be restored with one hour of a power cut on the high voltage network. From a starting point of an average of 85% in RIIO-ED1, WPD offered uncapped options to improve on this in RIIO-ED2. A majority voted for the option to see performance improve only incrementally by 1% from existing levels:
	1: 0.85 (-1p on annual bill)
	2: 0.86 (bill as today) 52%
	3: 0.87 (+0.5p on annual bill) 6%
	4: 0.88 (+1p on annual bill) 36%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming)
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% Percentage of vote

5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	WPD's performance in relation to network reliability will be subject to a financial ODI as part of Ofgem's IIS. As part of this WPD will face financial penalties in the result of under delivery and targets being missed in relation to customer interruptions (frequency of power cuts) and Customer Minutes Lost (duration of power cuts).
6. Assurance undertaken	Not applicable. This is a core Ofgem assessed area, and part of a significant financial ODI, as part of which WPD's performance will be reported and benchmarked against all other DNOs on an annual basis.

Commitment 34: Worst Served Customers

Improve service for a	t least 8,260 Worst Served Customers by undertaking 70 schemes.
Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Significantly improved supply reliability for customers that have experienced a significantly poorer service (higher volumes of power cuts) than the average. Improvements will result in less inconvenience and disruption for customers. Aim to improve service to the total number of Worst Served Customers known at the beginning of RIIO-ED2, such that they are no longer classified as Worst Served by the end of the period.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	The Electricity Distribution Licence states that the Licensee is responsible for the development, maintenance and operation of an efficient, coordinated, and economical Distribution System.
	In RIIO-ED1, 'Worst Served Customers' were defined as those who experience 12 or more, 11kV or higher interruptions over a three year period, with a minimum of three in each year. For RIIO-ED2, Ofgem has revised the definition to be based upon having a minimum of two in each year, which has increased the number of customers that are defined as worst served. Using the revised RIIO-ED2 definition, there were approximately 9,000 Worst Served Customers across the four WPD licence areas in 2020/21.
	In Sector Specific RIIO-ED2 Methodology Consultation (SSMC), Ofgem defines the Worst Served Customer (WSC) mechanism to address the experience of customers who may not be adequately catered for by the Interruptions Incentive Scheme (IIS), particularly those who experience an unusually high number of interruptions.
	Our stakeholders have consistently raised as a high priority the requirement for WPD to carry out work to improve the network reliability for our Worst Served Customers. Some of the most vulnerable customers live in isolated and rural communities who would not come top of our list for improvement if decisions were based solely on the total number of customers benefitting from each scheme.
	Following on from the Covid-19 pandemic we recognise that more customers will be working from home and as the UK government seek to achieve decarbonisation targets there will be a greater reliance on electricity to heat homes and provide power for EVs. This means that there will be a greater reliance upon electricity supplies and a need to reduce power cuts.
	As a DNO, WPD is responsible for ensuring security of supply for its customers and optimise network performance. The expertise this necessitates means we are therefore well placed to deliver it to our customers. This is due to our expertise in electrical engineering, network maintenance and network operations, and due to our recent experience in improving the performance of our network. Solutions adopted during RIIO-ED1 include network reconfiguration, replacement of poor condition overhead lines, undergrounding of overhead lines, refurbishment of circuit components and installation of additional switching points/protection zones. WPD has undertaken multiple projects to increase the reliability of the network on poorest performing circuits throughout RIIO-ED1, delivering 48 improvement schemes in the first five years.

2. Considered alternative approaches (and	<u>Wh</u>	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:														
options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Op	tions considered:	Achieves outcome?	Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:							
	Α.	Minimum: No Worst Served Customer improvement schemes	×	~	×	×	£0m	Marginal bill reduction, poor service continues for a significant number of customers, which may increase further in RIIO- ED2 as the network ages.	This option would not fulfil the desired outcome, raised by stakeholders as a key priority, and it would also put WPD in breach of Ofgem guidance and expectations (e.g. Ofgem has a multiple interruptions guaranteed standard to incentivise DNOs to improve service for customers on the poorest performing circuits). There is no stakeholder support for this option and it would also not prove cost effective as any saving made by not carrying out network improvement schemes will be somewhat offset by the increased fault management costs of responding reactively to numerous power cuts when they occur.							
	В.	Maintain: 40 Worst Served Customer network improvement schemes (in line with RIIO-ED1 delivery volumes and reduction rates in overall Worst Served Customers)	×	~	~	Tested & rejected	£2.8m	Improve service for 57% of total Worst Served Customers as defined in RIIO- ED1.	As this commitment is a network improvement activity focused on a finite number of customers, we selected options ranging from maintaining a comparable level of activity to that in RIIO-ED1, through to the complete elimination of Worst Served Customers (as per the RIIO-ED1 definition). At the time of presenting these options to stakeholders, the subsequent change to the definition of a Worst Served Customer for RIIO-ED2 was not known. We did however test the option to invest in a greater number of schemes and benefitting							
		Increase: 50 Worst Served Customer network improvement schemes (RIIO-ED1 delivery volumes and reduction rates in overall Worst Served Customers, plus 10 additional schemes)		~	~	Tested & rejected	£3.2m	Improve service for 71% of total Worst Served Customers as defined in RIIO- ED1.	more customers than are currently classified as worst served, in order to maintain the virtual elimination of Worst Served Customers over time as the network ages and vegetation grows; factors which increase the risk of new customers becoming worst served unless pre-emptive action is taken. Option 1: Option 2: Option 3: Option 4: Option 5: Ambition 40 50 60 70 Even							
		Further increase: 60 Worst Served Customer network improvement schemes (RIIO-ED1 delivery volumes and reduction rates in overall Worst Served Customers, plus 20 additional schemes)	×	~	~	Tested & rejected	£3.6m	Improve service for 86% of total Worst Served Customers as defined in RIIO- ED1.	Annolitorii 40 50 50 60 70 Even level: schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes benefitting benefitting benefitting benefitting benefitting benefitting ambition / 4,720 5,900 7,080 8,260 an Worst Worst Worst Worst alternative Served Served Served Served Customers Customers Customers Customers Bill -0.5p No bill +0.5p +1p							
	C.	Maximum (as per the RIIO-ED1 definition known at the time): 70 Worst Served Customer network improvement schemes (RIIO-ED1 delivery volumes and reduction rates in overall Worst Served Customers, plus 30 additional schemes)	~	~	~	~	£4m	Improve service for 100% of total Worst Served Customers as defined in RIIO- ED1.								

	D. Maximum – plus begin to tackle those outside of the Worst Served Customer threshold: Improve service for 100% of total Worst Served Customer as defined in RIIO-ED1, and a further number of Customers against the new RIIO-ED2 definition) V V V V Consideration of wider alternatives: Rilo-ED2 period. Rilo-ED2 period. Consideration of wider alternatives: As key enablers to this overarching core commitment there are additional actions WPD has committed to deliver. resulted in unprompted stakeholder suggestions for how to address issues with Worst Served Customers. The value wider commitments that we will deliver in RIIO-ED2. This is a strong indication that WPD's current commitment stakeholders support. These include:	ast majority of these are included			
	Topic: Worst Served Customers				
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?			
	a) Investigate the use of battery storage to help make Worst Served Customers more resilient	No – beyond the role of a DNO			
	b) Carry out assessments to better understand and map Worst Served Customers, ensuring they received tailored support mechanisms	Yes			
	c) Create a clear plan with targets to reduce Worst Served Customers, including what constitutes minimum standards	Yes			
	d) Focus on rural areas, ensuring they're as well served as urban areas	Yes			
	e) Prioritise Worst Served Customers who are vulnerable and / or fuel poor	Yes			
	f) Improve communications with Worst Served Customers being mindful not everyone is online	Yes			
	 g) Have a transparent prioritisation strategy when it comes to Worst Served Customers h) Provide compensation for Worst Served Customers, taking into account both frequency and duration of outages 	Yes			
	 h) Provide compensation for Worst Served Customers, taking into account both frequency and duration of outages i) Commit to reducing Worst Served Customer numbers to zero 	Yes			
	 i) Define the term 'worst served' more clearly, perhaps changing to 'most challenged', and set realistic parameters as to what these 	No – specified by Ofgem			
	customers can expect from your service	No - specified by Orgen			
	k) Collaborate with Local Authorities to map and support worst served	Yes			
	I) Invest in undergrounding for worst served rural customers	Yes – if appropriate			
	m) Set yourselves localised targets	Yes			
		No – Ofgem's Worst Served			
		Customer mechanism requires			
	n) Invest ahead of need to improve service to worst served	customers to be at the proven			
		threshold before schemes are			
	 Adopt innovation to find new ways of supporting Worst Served Customers 	Undertaken Yes			
	o) Adopt innovation to find new ways of supporting Worst Served Customers p) Do more to promote new options for Worst Served Customers	No – unclear			
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	When presenting the options to stakeholders, WPD were able to offer to deliver more Worst Served Customer in ED2 than in the first five years of RIIO-ED1. The investment carried out in RIIO-ED1 cover a range of different so particular circumstances encountered for each group of Worst Served Customers. This means that appropriate a out to make the network performance improvements.	blutions that are tailored to the			

	The Regulatory WSC mechanism has an in-built cap per customer, which limits how much cost can be funded. This further drives the identification of efficient solutions for resolving the network issues.
	The minimum level of improvement that is expected from the investments is a reduction of 25% in the number of faults, but in many cases the actual improvements are significantly higher. This means that the customer who were previously worst served see a big improvement in the reliability of their power supplies. Where this is not achieved, WPD does receive funding for the investment. This drives us to deliver solutions that make improvements, while the cost caps ensure that the solution adopted are efficient.
	Customers place significant value on the achievement of this outcome, with a mean value of £0.85 per customer, as revealed by WPD's willingness to pay research (see Supplementary Annex SA-05), which results in a total of £34m value across the five years. The total expenditure for this commitment per year equates to £4m in total, which is outstripped significantly be the value placed on it by customers.
	In addition, as reliance on home working has increased as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic it is likely that there are additional benefits to customers of fewer power cuts due to a reduction in disruption to working customers, especially loss of business for owners of small businesses that may be run from the home. As this is a recently emerged factor for consideration there is limited information on the precise proportion of home workers specifically among the c.6,000 WPD customers currently classified as worst served. However, WPD's willingness to pay value research, which saw wider consumers place a value of £0.99 per customer on the achievement of fewer power cuts, gives some indication of the considerable added value to customers likely to be achieved by this commitment specifically for Worst Served Customers.
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As Supplementary Annex SA-05 outlines in detail, at all stages of our engagement programme stakeholders were very passionate about helping and prioritising Worst Served Customers. Feedback was that four power cuts every year feels high and would be inconvenient, but c.6,000 properties out of 8m is very low and impressive, and indicates the successful steps WPD has already taken to significantly address this problem throughout RIIO-ED1. Some expressed concern that a lot of the most vulnerable live in isolated and rural communities who wouldn't come top of our list for improvement if decisions are based solely on the total number of customers benefitting from each scheme.
	As part of the first draft Business Plan, we committed to undertake 50 schemes to benefit approximately 5,900 customers. In our consultation, we gave our customers five options and the results are shown below:

]
		1: 40 schemes [benefit	tting approx. 4,720 cust (-0.5p on ann										
		2: 50 schemes [benefit	tting approx. 5,900 cust (bi ll as	omers] today)		23%							
	Option	3: 60 schemes [benefit	tting approx. 7,080 cust (+0.5p on ann		10%		 		+				
		4: 70 schemes [benefit	tting approx. 8,260 cust (+1p on ann					57%					
			prefer to suggest an alte (discussion session upc		6% – –								
				0%	10	%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%		
								Percentage of	vote				
	proportion The Busin	-	this new comminance testing reve	itment le	evel (70 s at a stror	scheme ng majo	s). An even	en higher vo customers	blume of end (80%) suppo	user custor	mers (64%	b) agreed. t, at this ambition lev	
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks		ent to monitor the										s are completed, wit been achieved on a	ha
	Customer technolog substation	Through RIIO-ED1, WPD has a proven track record of successfully delivering these schemes, with a significant number of Worst Served Customers receiving an improved service. WPD has extensive experience in improving the reliability of its network in remote areas, using technology to detect, prevent and anticipate faults that may cause long outages and also by improving the general health of its assets in remote substations and replacing the assets in poorer condition. With this experience, WPD is well placed to continue reducing this number and support Worst Served Customers.											
6. Assurance undertaken												C process, to identify customers affected.	
	Looking n		ral reinforcemen	nt enable	es WPD	to fulfil	its obligat	ion to provi	de adequate	network ca	pacity to m	neet network security	

Association Engineering Recommendation for Security of Supply P2/7, which specifies the expected capability of the network to meet demands under defined outage conditions, and the Electricity Safety, Quality and Continuity Regulations (ESQCR), which defines voltage limits.
To ensure we meet the reinforcement targets required, we have used numerous data sources, including national forecasts of growth by the ESO and local information about regional aspirations. Supplementary Annex SA-06a: 'Load Related Expenditure' provides more detail on our primary network and secondary network reinforcement plans and wider expenditure plans to improve the overall reliability of the network, including outlining the various data sources used to provide assurance that they are appropriate.

Commitment 35: Improved network health

Counteract deterioration of network assets through an investment of £216 million per annum, delivering a 22% change in risk to keep network risk at similar levels to the start of the price control period.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Reducing the risk of unplanned power cuts by improving the reliability of our network by replacing equipment in the poorest condition
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	The Electricity Distribution Licence states that the Licensee is responsible for the development, maintenance and operation of an efficient, coordinated, and economical Distribution System. RIIO-ED2 Business Plan guidance sets out the baseline expectations in regard to maintaining a safe and resilient network, and that the DNO must set out the company's views on asset health, criticality and replacement priorities all throughout the RIIO-ED2 period.
	This commitment addresses the fundamental purpose of WPD's role as DNO to provide a safe and secure supply of energy for our customers. WPD's expertise, specifically electrical engineering and in managing a high number of schemes for the network development enables the delivery of this commitment. The network WPD operates is comprised of more than 220,000km of overhead lines and 185,000 substations. The millions of assets (such as transformers, overhead lines and cables) in our network require appropriate actions to counteract the deterioration of the assets as they age.
	We therefore have a comprehensive rolling programme of asset replacement to prevent the deterioration of the network over time. The replacement of assets is prioritised according to the condition of the asset and the risk to the network if it fails. Historically, asset replacement has accounted for the largest part of our capital expenditure, leading to the introduction of regulatory mechanisms to ensure DNOs are delivering agreed work programmes. During RIIO-ED1, Network Asset Secondary Deliverables (NASD) were used, where both the probability of failure (represented by an asset's health) and consequences of failure resulted in a risk measure. For RIIO-ED2, Ofgem has extended the concept of NASD which looked at risk at a point time, to Network Asset Risk Metrics (NARMs) which consider the future risk associated with an asset calculated over a number of years. NARMs are applied to approximately two thirds of the asset replacement programme and inform the scale of asset replacement activity in RIIO-ED2.

2. Considered alternative	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:																
approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Op	Options considered:		Options considered:		Options considered:		Options considered:		Options considered:		Technically feasible?	Cost effective?	Stakeholder support?	Cost	Benefit	Considerations and final decision:
	Α.	Do nothing: Worsened health levels	×	~	~	*	Zero	None: 22% deterioration in asset health risk points from end of RIIO-ED1.	Rejected : Not a viable option as it would put us in breach of our licence obligation to maintain and operate a reliable distribution system. This option would not achieve the objective as it would inevitably lead to a greater increase in unplanned power cuts.								
	B.	Incremental improvement: 11% improvement in asset health (slight worsening to existing risk level)	×	>	~	×	£0.5bn	Asset health improvement, but at a rate that still sees an increase in total network risk.	Offered and rejected: Overall network risk would be higher due to overall deterioration of assets. Some poor condition assets left on network, resulting in greater asset failure risk and thus higher levels of unplanned power cuts.								
	C.	Improvement: 11% improvement in asset health 22% improvement in asset health (maintain existing risk level)					£1.05bn	Asset health improvement at a rate which our modelling shows is the optimal balance between the cost of replacing assets versus the impact of unplanned	Offered: This option will address all assets that have the most urgent need for intervention to mitigate the risk of failure. This considers the improvement that can be made relevant to doing nothing. It shows that the proposed interventions lead to a risk reduction of 22% which counteracts the impact of the deterioration of the network. The net impact is that network risk is broadly at the same level at the end of RIIO-ED2 compared to the start of RIIO-ED2. NARM Network Risk (WPD)								
		risk level)	~	~	~	~		power cuts.	10,000,000,000 Impact of deterioration 9,000,000,000 Impact of deterioration 7,000,000,000 Impact of 6,000,000,000 Impact of 5,000,000,000 Impact of 3,000,000,000 Impact of 2,000,000,000 22% reduction 1,000,000,000 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 • End ED1 • End ED2 (no intervention) • End ED2 (with intervention)								

T		Due e e thue					04.45	A + + +++	Official and initiative
	D.	Proactive enhancement					£1.1bn	Asset health improvement at a	Offered and rejected:
								rate 5% above	Address assets that have deteriorated but not to a condition that are likely to fail – therefore replacing assets before they need to be, which incurs additional cost for little network
		(+5%): 27%				eq		which our	performance benefit.
						st			penomance benent.
		improvement in asset health				& rejected		modelling shows is the optimal	
		assel nealth	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	-00			
								balance between the cost of	
						Tested		replacing assets	
						ĕ		versus the impact	
								of unplanned	
								power cuts.	
	E	Proactive				1	£1.2bn	Asset health	4
	<i>L</i> .	enhancement					21.2011	improvement at a	
		(+10%):				_		rate 10% above	
		32%				ĕ		which our	
		improvement in				ec e		modelling shows	
		asset health		1		5		is the optimal	
			\checkmark	✓	×	త		balance between	
						Tested & rejected		the cost of	
						st		replacing assets	
						Ĕ		versus the impact	
								of unplanned	
								power cuts.	
	F.	Realistic					£1.2bn-	Asset health	1
		maximum:					£42.5bn	improvement at a	
		More than 32%					range	rate greater than	
		improvement in				ed	U	10% above which	
		asset health				Fested & rejected		our modelling	
						ē		shows is the	
			\checkmark	\checkmark	×			optimal balance	
						g		between the cost	
						ste		of replacing	
						He H		assets versus the	
								impact of	
								unplanned power	
								cuts.	
	G.	Maximum:					£42.5bn	Brand new	Rejected:
		Replace						network, limiting	The option is cost prohibitive and does not have stakeholder support.
		everything	×	×	×	×		(but not fully	
								removing) risk of	It is also impractical to achieve due to a lack of workforce to deliver, plus despite removing
								failure as much as	perfectly functioning assets just to ensure every asset is brand new and therefore has the best
								possible.	possible health rating, there would still be asset failure risk.
	Cor	nsideration of all	ernat	tives:					
				_					
	Δc	kev enablers to	this o	verar	ching	CORE	commitme	nt there are addi	tional actions WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events
									this topic. The vast majority of these are included as wider commitments that
	we	will deliver in RI	IO-El	D2. T	his is	a stro	ong indicatio	on that WPD's cu	urrent commitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support.
	The	ese include:							

			Тор	ic: Overa	II health of network assets									
			Stakeholder created acti	ons			Included in W	'PD's Pla	n?					
	a) Create accurate forecasting	models	and ensure that assets can resp	ond to fu	ture (higher) demand		Ye	s						
			nent programme for ageing asse				Ye	S						
			assets, providing better and clea				Ye							
	d) Use AI, innovative technolo	Ye												
	e) Create more localised, resi f) Focus on smaller / micro-c	Ye	-											
	g) Plan proactively for the imp	Ye												
		h) Create a register of assets and their health Yes												
	i) Carry out more routine inspections for ageing assets Yes j) Consider the health of assets and don't base this solely on their age Yes													
	k) Review assets in light of climate change and extreme weather events Yes l) Create a map of ageing assets Yes m) Share and communicate capacity constraints Yes													
3. Costs are efficient and		n) Continue to train, up-skill and future proof WPD workforce Yes WPD has delivered industry leading cost efficiency for asset replacement in RIIO-ED1 as per Ofgem benchmarking, which demonstrates we are												
benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	able to deliver significant b unit costs, including factori unit costs that we have pre- accurate and efficient". As part our asset replacent minimum cable size WPD As indicated in the commit below shows the estimated Option 1: Maintain current asset health levels: The benefits of this commit assets on the network. NARMs are used to identifit techniques to derive foreca and how the network will d reduction to risk associate risk. The net effect of the r broadly maintain the overa We have developed a proop being renewed each year. volumes of activity for som	ng in a spared nent pr installs ment a d impa- -27p tment of -27p tment of st req eterior d with t eduction l healt with the ramm	In ongoing efficiency chal for our asset replacement ogrammes, we will also be s, which delivers a dual be opproach options, the estinct of the options we prese <u>Option 2:</u> Incrementally improve asset health levels: will be reflected on the relevant nost cost beneficial activit uirements. The asset replacements. The forecast number the assets that are replaced on from the proposed inter th of the assets (as measure of replacement that pro- ave not been driven by market and the proposed inter the of replacement that pro-	enge to t foreca e factor enefit of mated or nated or iability of y for ea acement of pool ed. How rventior ured by vides ac	o drive costs lower. We hast. GHD's conclusion is the st. GHD's conclusion and the st. GHD's conclusion and it is a different st. GHD and the st. GHD and	ave als hat the ss netw mprove 2216m ill. +27p creasing is analy akes int d to der ne netw f the re ategori lable be	o worked with GHD, who "resulting unit costs for e ork losses for example, in ad losses benefits. per annum which relates Option 4: Proactively advancement +10%: g risks from the deterioration vsis is supplemented by co o account the current net ive forecast volumes. The rork continues to deterioration mainder of the network mainder of the network mainder of es to ensure that a propo- because this would potentiation would potentiation or the state of t	have re- ach as: ncluding to Opti- +54p tion of t work re- is activ ate and neans the rtion of ally lead	eviewed the set are typical, g increasing the on 2. The table he millions of odelling equirements ity results in increase in hat WPD will the network is d to high					



5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	The ultimate measure of the impact of WPD's expenditure to improve asset health is how this translates into the reliability of the network. WPD's performance in relation to network reliability will be subject to a financial ODI as part of Ofgem's Interruptions Incentive Scheme. The delivery of the asset replacement programmed will also be subject to a NARM ODI. As part of these incentive WPD will face financial penalties in the result of under delivery and targets being missed.
6. Assurance undertaken	Not applicable. This is a core Ofgem assessed area, and part of a significant financial ODI, as part of which WPD's performance will be reported and benchmarked against all other DNOs on an annual basis.

Commitment 37: Safety enhancements near schools

Increase the safety of that cross school play	f around 200,000 children by delivering 780 schemes to underground, insulate or divert overhead lines ying areas.
Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	To continue to ensure that school children come to no harm as a result of contact with our electricity distribution network, but targeting remedial works to remove the risk at the higher risk level schools.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	According to the Electricity Distribution Licence, the Licensee is responsible for the development, maintenance and operation of an efficient, coordinated, and economical Distribution System. The Licensee is also responsible for ensuring safety and resilience of the Distribution System assets, not only for staff but for general public. According to RIIO-ED2 Business Plan guidance, network companies shall and are incentivised to ensure long term safety and resilience.
	As a DNO, WPD maintains and develops a network with 220,000km of overhead lines. Some of these lines pass near schools or playgrounds where young children spend significant amounts of their time. Schools and playgrounds are risk assessed and WPD assets do not constitute a major safety risk, but the risk will never be null as long as children can see or access overhead lines.
	For instance, an incident occurred in Gloucester where a tree brought down a line across a school playing field - it was fortunate that this occurred out of hours rather than when children were playing. An assessment was carried out of all lines that cross school playing fields to assess their risks and all those classified as medium risk or higher are proposed to be addressed in RIIO-ED2.
	With that in mind, this commitment proposes to limit the sight or access to overhead lines. Thus, the realisation of this commitment will reduce the risk of harm to the general public, in particular young children.
	WPD's expertise is unique for the delivery of this commitment. We have the data about our overhead lines (location, height, etc.) and we are in a unique position to deliver the construction and electrical works required to reduce the risk of harm to children as a result of the electricity infrastructure in these areas. We will make use of our expertise in engineering as well as our past effective collaboration with local authorities and schools.
2. Considered alternative approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition: Every school site in WPD's region has been subject to a safety survey and we have utilised an app to collect the data and arrive at a robust risk rating as below. The survey looked at schools to identify areas where children are likely to congregate (i.e. school playing fields or play grounds) that are also in close proximity to our assets. Then a risk rating is attributed to that site based on actual proximity to the playing area, the age and condition of the asset, the operating voltage and the existing insulation on asset. The risk assessment created four risk levels as below: Level 1 – HV & EHV Medium Risk Level 2 – All medium risk Level 3 – Medium and low risk Level 4 – Medium, low and very low risk
	All level 1 risk sites have been addresses in RIIO-ED1. Overall the school risk survey identified 1827 school sites where a risk is present; however it is possible to increase the scope of the work to include additional playing areas outside of schools (i.e. general public playgrounds).

are	when we went of eas that also mat otions considered:		the ri	sk as		nent thresh		of schemes as 3,120 which consisted of 1,827 schools and 1,293 wider play bove.
A.	Do nothing: Having already addressed HV&EHV risk lines, go no further	A A	v €	√	ন্দ ম ×	Zero	No enhanced safety benefits.	Rejected: Doesn't achieve the outcome and therefore leaves a level of risk in place that stakeholders have told us they consider to be unacceptable.
В.	Education only to limit risk	×	~	~	~	£2.1m	Education would make the school children aware of the risk, however that risk would not be removed.	Offered: There is very strong stakeholder support for education and this is a separate core commitmen that has received very strong support from stakeholders. However, in relation to this particular issue and the targeted outcome relating to keeping children safe near to our equipment particularly at school play areas, education mitigates some risk but does not remove the underlying hazard which can only be done by undergrounding/insulating/diverting the lines. We therefore offered stakeholders a number of options to go significantly further to understand if there was stakeholder support for doing so.
C.	Maximum (all sites with any risk associated – medium, low and very low risk): Underground, insulate or divert all OH circuits near every school play area and other play areas (3120)	~	~	~	×	£93.6m	This would remove the risks at the 1,827 known school sites with playing areas and a further 1,293 general public playing areas.	Offered and rejected: This option would remove the risks at all schools and an additional 1,293 general public playir areas within 5 years, but this was not supported by stakeholders. The stakeholders felt that th was a worthwhile exercise they were not prepared to have the bill impact increase of 13p per annum associated with undertaking this level of activity.
D.	(Medium and low risk) Underground, insulate or divert all OH circuits near every school play area (1560)	~	~	~	×	£46.8m	This would remove the risks at the 85% of known school sites with playing areas.	Offered and rejected: This option would remove the risks at all schools within 6 years should the same level continu in RIIO-ED3 but was not supported by stakeholders. The stakeholders felt that this was a worthwhile exercise they were not prepared to have the bill impact increase of 6.5p per annur associated with undertaking this level of activity.

	E. All medium risk: Underground, insulate or divert all OH circuits near every school play area and other play areas (780)	~ ~	✓ ,	£23.4m	This would remove the risks at the 43% of known school sites with playing areas.	activity continue in RIIO	-ED3 and	e the risks at all schools within 12 years should the same level of ED3 and beyond. The stakeholders felt that this targeted schools' he higher level of risk sites first was acceptable to them.		
	F. Medium risk at HV and EHV only: Underground, insulate or	×	✓ s	£11.7m	This would remove the risks at the 21% of known school sites with playing areas.	in RIIO-ED3 and beyond	:ted: remove the risks at all schools within 24 years should the same level continue eyond but was not supported by stakeholders. The stakeholders felt that this exercise they were not prepared this lower level of activity.			
	Consideration of alternatives: During the Business Plan development stage, stakeholders were given the opportunity to co-create a number of actions in this areas, s from a blank sheet of paper. Stakeholders suggested:						reas, starting			
					older created action	gers of electricity to me	empers of		Included in WI	PD's Plan?
	a) Reach out to schools	to inform c	hildren ab			at surround WPD assets			Yes	
	b) Communicate to mer	nbers of the				hey should report, on safe	ety and he	ealth to improve the	Yes	
	c) Provide electricity ch		mo for ov	ample checking t	he sefety of wiring	in households		N	o – beyond the	
				ample checking t	The safety of willing	in nousenoids			beyond the	
3. Costs are efficient and	 There were also calls for WPD to increase cable undergrounding with a view to increasing resilience and fostering sustainability. It would be beneficial to liaise with local planning authorities more effectively to ensure that play areas are not created under power lines. Stakeholders mentioned that it is important to identify other risk areas and assets with the greatest public risk, such as any civic play area or recreational ground. In our initial consultation we set out the following options for customers with an indication of the likely bill impact: 						akeholders			
benefits of the actions										
plausibly outweigh the costs	Option 1			Option 2		Option 3		Option 4		
	390 Schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2	ⁿ -6.5p	780 Sch	emes to be done RIIO-ED2	in - 1560	Schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2	+6.5p	3120 Schemes to be done RIIO-ED2	n +13p	
	WPD's expenditure in other DNOs. An addit	relation tion	to this c or in rel	ommitment, w ation to efficie	which follows C ent cost deliver	fgem's specified for y is WPD's geograp	mat and hically l	ring Justification Paper d will enable WPD's cos based structure, where ions than a central desi	sts to be ber each schem	nchmarked to ne is designed

4. Customers, as well as	The expenditure category of 'Legal and safety' (of which this core commitment is part) will be subject to the Ongoing Efficiency that is applied in our plan to all Totex activities of 0.5%. Our willingness to pay research reveals that there is significant value placed by customers on taking action to lower the risk in this areas. This valued the achievement of the maximum delivery option at £1.39 extra a year. While stakeholders have told us they do not want us to go this far (to the maximum level), this is still as strong indication that this action area has significant value to our customers. As stakeholders have elected for a level one quarter the scale of the maximum, if we apply the same ratio to the social value this returns a figure of £0.35, against an area where we are proposing no bill increase from RIIO-ED1 levels, and the total expenditure of £11.4m over the years equates to less than 1p per customer as a portion of Totex.
stakeholders, support the Business Plan	Plan, we committed to undertake 780 schemes to reduce the risk to school children from overhead lines crossing playing fields. As part of our first draft Business Plan consultation, our stakeholders were asked what level of scheme they wanted WPD to commit to. In our consultation, we gave our customers five options and the results are shown below.
	1: 390 schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2 (-6.5p on annual bill)
	2: 780 schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2 (bill as today) 57%
	3: 1,560 schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2 (+13p on annual bill) 17%
	4: 3,120 schemes to be done in RIIO-ED2 (+39p on annual bill) 17%
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming) 7%
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% Percentage of vote
	Of the five options, a significant proportion (57%) supported the ambition of 780 schemes. The fact that only 7% of stakeholders supported option 5 strongly indicates that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious. Of those selecting option 5 the majority asked WPD to provide a clearer outcome and to quantify the number of school children who would benefit from this commitment, which we have since done in the final version of this commitment.

	In addition, 77% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing.
5. Customers are not exposed to	This will be treated as a reputational ODI within Ofgem's output framework and it will be measured and reported against annually.
unacceptable risks	WPD has a proven track record of delivering against our stated commitments in this area and have successfully address all the risk sites at HV and EVH level within RIIO-ED1. The level negotiated with stakeholders for our RIIO-ED2 commitment, while an ambitious commitment is at a number of sites that is small in the context of our total work volumes in relation to network improvement schemes, and therefore there is very little risk of non-delivery. All actions in relation to this commitment are going to successfully reduce risk to children, which is an outcome stakeholders have consistently championed. Throughout RIIO-ED1 to date, focused safety campaigns designed to align with recognised public safety issues have proven to be effective and positively received by targeted audiences. Stakeholders have told us that safety should continue to be a priority for WPD. Future customers at the Youth Community Measures of Success Research thought that power lines can be very dangerous for children of school age, especially if they do not understand the dangers.
	The total expenditure to fund this initiative (£11.4m in 5 years) is very small in the context of our total expenditure of £6.7 billion and therefore we do not consider a PCD to be appropriate due to the lack of materiality in the unlikely event of under delivery and any risk to customers as a result of under delivery being extremely small.
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD ensures all teams and processes run in accordance with health and safety law, aiming to reduce accidents and harm for employees, customers, and the public. This is reinforced with operational aspects such as prizes for teams with the best safety records. Over RIIO-ED1, we delivered a strong performance in safety with 386,000 children taught about safety, four million customers issued with
	literature, and close engagement with both the Health and Safety Executive and our staff to deliver safety initiatives. This provides assurance that our future efforts are built on the solid foundations of our past work.

6. Wider justification papers:

Commitment 3: Local authority (LA) engagement

Make it easy for customers to adopt low carbon technologies and achieve net zero in their region much sooner than 2050, by driving the delivery of ambitious local area energy plans and proactively engaging all 130 local authorities each year via 90 local energy surgeries.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed	Helping LAs and developers to create local energy plans that are high ambitious and achievable, in order to deliver a network ready for
with stakeholders	the future, as quickly as possible. Ensure the local energy requirements in each of our regions are fully understood
(see Annex 5)	and feed into our long term strategic planning in a timely and effective way. This is not simply about the volume of engagements undertaken; WPD will ensure that these are of high quality, conducted by WPD staff with adequate skills and knowledge (see relevant
	strategy document for further details) and will survey stakeholders after these engagements to identify improvements and assess the
	overall efficacy of our actions.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	With this commitment, WPD will leverage the work carried out currently and in the past with LAs to better plan the future decarbonised network.
	During the consultation of the RIIO-ED2 framework, some stakeholders wanted to see closer engagement between network operators and local authorities. There were several mentions of the need to align network planning with the delivery of local energy strategies. As a DNO, WPD is critical to this task, and is well placed to bring the requisite parties together in the planning effort.
	Net zero is a national target, but it will be delivered regionally. In the region served by WPD, nearly 80% of the LAs have declared climate emergencies, setting targets well in advance of 2050. It will take a collaborative approach between WPD and a wide range of stakeholders to achieve a decentralised energy system to deliver these ambitious targets.
	WPD is taking a leading role by engaging local stakeholders extensively to understand their priorities and bake these into our Business Plan commitments. We have engaged every LA in our region on our plans for RIIO-ED2, while providing key forecast information, as well as trusted advice and support to co-create their bespoke local energy plans, and ensuring they align with and inform WPD's DFES. In project EPIC, WPD is developing a standardised process that can be used with different local authorities to support the creation of integrated local energy plans, and in a format that can be incorporate back in the DFES analysis.
	When engaging LAs, we also sought feedback on the DFES projections, our proposed investment and LCT forecasts. As a result, we processed over 10,000 LA new development records as part of our DFES for 2020/21, achieving unprecedented granularity and accuracy in our forecasts - all of which helped shaped the accuracy of our planning for RIIO-ED2.
2. Considered alternative	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition:
approaches (and	In order to deliver the desired outcome the action required is self-evident – to initiate regular and effective engagement with Local Authorities.
	The only question was the frequency of these activities, with WPD offering stakeholders a range of options from contact every 5 years, through to

options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	the option of annual sessions. Within this, we also tested whether we should hold one meeting a year in each of our local dist through to three times a year (making 90 meetings in total annually). Consideration of wider alternatives:	ribution regions,
	This commitment is the result of a filtering process from an initial list of alternatives that were co-created in our RIIO-ED2 stak in the category of 'whole system approach to net zero' under "Predict future changes and uptake of localised WPD future ene "Facilitate collaboration between local groups to deliver local energy plans". The alternatives considered included:	
	Topic: Predict future changes and uptake of localised WPD future energy scenarios	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Invest ahead of need to keep pace with future energy changes on the network, increasing capacity in areas of predicted need and ensuring reasonable cost of connection	Yes
	b) Take a cross-utility approach, working collaboratively with local authorities, industry, government, developers, energy providers	Yes
	c) Drive innovation in this area	Yes
	d) Take a whole system approach to future energy scenarios, including nuclear	Yes
	e) Strategically focus on outages, localised isolation points and alternative connection paths with regard to renewables	No
	f) Conduct horizon scanning	Yes
	g) Participate in Welsh Government planning to better respond to future energy changes	Yes
	h) Invest in, and facilitate, battery storage	No – licence condition restricts our ability to do this
	i) Monitor evidence and plan long term	Yes
	j) Make use of vehicle to grid technology	Yes
	k) Consider the National Planning Policy Framework	Yes
	I) Make use of embedded generation and create local grids	Yes
	m) Lobby for regional regulatory variations: map and create district area scenarios	Yes
	n) Model current distribution vs predicted changes to customer use and demand	Yes
	o) Participate in a statutory forum to establish cross-utility collaboration	Yes
	p) Roll out the work you do with Energy Capital (West Midlands Planning Authority Scheme)	Yes
	q) Invest in the local network	Yes
	Topic: Facilitate collaboration between local groups to deliver local energy plans	Included in MODI
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Formalise an engagement plan with local authorities and developers on net zero targets and planning	Yes
	b) Provide key data: illustrative constraint information, interactive capacity maps, database of local energy groups and networks	Yes
	c) Facilitate better collaboration between developers on new connections	Yes
	d) Provide support and leadership to achieve net zero	Yes

	e) Coordinate cross-agency initiatives to reduce demand and promote the use of flexibility services	Yes					
	f) Lobby to become a statutory consultee on planning applications	No					
	g) Aggregate local connections requests to facilitate, for example, district heating plans	No – licence condition restricts our ability to do this					
	h) Work with LAs to identify prime locations on the network for delivering local, low carbon energy plans	Yes					
	i) Make local plans that are based on delivering net zero	Yes					
	j) Look for examples of best practice, including from other countries						
	k) Provide capacity on the network to facilitate EVs	Yes					
	I) Consider waste to energy and provide advice to local government	No – licence condition restricts our ability to do this					
	m) Provide consultancy services for local energy groups	Yes					
	n) Incentivise local energy production	Yes					
	o) Lead on creating a joint taskforce comprised of industry, combined authority, LA, and government	Yes					
	p) Consider heat pumps as part of local energy plans, including thermal storage options						
	q) Create consensual partnerships between local groups Yes						
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	By engaging proactively with LAs, we will optimise the planning process, optimise costs, minimise risks and reinforce security accurately anticipating potential network constraints. The estimated cost for the delivery of this commitment is £2.25m. Indirect benefits for WPD's customers are estimated at £8r value per customer of £4.85 (in a total of £38.8m for approximately 8m customers) and a total social value of £36.89m deliver. These benefits have been derived from increased efficiency from a number of parties (BEIS, Ofgem, GDNs, developers, and name a few). Savings will be made (reduced data and processing costs and reduced consultancy fees incurred across both sengineering advisory) through the introduction of a standard process, led by WPD. In a pilot study conducted to understand the impact of local area energy planning, and the relevant costs involved, Energy Sy found that the latest study in Bury (the most reflective of the expected costs of scaling) had a short term cost of £570k. This in of one-off costs and room for efficiencies. In the same report, Energy Systems Catapult anticipated that for scale-up across lot a structured process would have an average cost of between £100k and £250k. This places the benefit of a "structured process" – to be delivered by WPD – at £570k minus the top end of the estimate, £25 benefit of £320k per local area. We can conclude that the benefits of this commitment clearly outweigh its delivery costs.	n, with a social red over 10 years. regional bodies to software and rstems Catapult ncluding a number ocal areas in the UK					

4. Customers, as well as	As set out in detail in Annex 5, stakeholders strongly support this commitment.
stakeholders, support the Business Plan	This commitment looks across the wider energy system to provide capacity for the future needs of our customers in the most efficient way. This is one of our eight CVP commitments and reflects our mission of delivering the best value for our customers, beyond WPD's obligations as a DNO.
	DNO.
	Overall there was wide agreement that more engagement is needed and that LAs and enterprise partnerships need to work more closely with WPD to deliver aligned energy plans and streamline the sharing of information. Stakeholders specifically raised the need to increase engagement to assess any gaps in EV charging infrastructure and mentioned having a local contact so they can see whether LA plans match those of WPD.
	At the Business Plan refinement phase, the majority of stakeholders (74%) favoured greater ambition and 53% favoured an annual contact with LAs. The Business Plan acceptance testing revealed that 79% of WPD's customers supported this commitment.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	If WPD under delivers against this commitment (for example, if deadlines are missed and WPD does not manage to engage all 130 LAs by the end of ED2), we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI.
	WPD has been engaging with all 130 LAs for both Business as Usual (BAU) engagement, as well as workshops specific to the RIIO-ED2 Business Plan. Given the experience and connections already in place, there is limited risk of not meeting the target set.
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD experience in this area has been demonstrated by previous collaboration with local authorities, as per project EPIC and VENICE.
	Our work in this area has been delivered through partnerships with organisations like Regen, who have helped create our "Connecting Community Energy" guide, and the Centre for Sustainable Energy (CSE) who helped develop a guide on Community-Based Network Innovation. This collaboration ensures we are always reaching for improved resources for our communities and provides assurance that our ambitions are sufficiently stretching.

Commitment 8: Community energy engagement

Actively support the expansion of green, renewable energy generation and help local communities to decarbonise and lower their bills, by connecting at least 30 community energy groups to the network each year. We will hold 60 community energy surgeries per year and providing a dedicated WPD community energy representative to assist with connection and flexibility offers.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:	
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Community groups with less knowledge and expertise of the connections process receive tailored support to dev and connect to the network. This will increase their confidence and understanding of our processes, so that they access to our network. This is not simply about the volume of engagements undertaken; WPD will ensure that the quality, conducted by WPD staff with adequate skills and knowledge (see relevant strategy document for further survey stakeholders after these engagements to identify improvements and assess the overall efficacy of our act	find it easier to gain ese are of high details) and will ions.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	As a DNO, WPD has a licence obligation to enable a fair and effective access to its network. Community energy schemes component of the shift to the decentralisation of energy resources, which will be critical to achieve net zero. The integration resources and LCTs require that potential connection applicants understand network connection processes and new flexit	n of distributed energy
	WPD has the expertise required to ensure this understanding. It was clear from our stakeholders that they needed suppor opportunities associated with community energy schemes. We can assist in providing an understanding of process, times considerations, consents/legal requirements and possible constraints involved with either making a single connection to the particular area or a more strategic approach to decarbonisation across a region.	cales, technical
	This commitment supports the liaison with local energy communities and the execution of LAEPs together with LAs. To da successfully provided support to the communities and their representatives through accessible guides. Our 'Connecting C guide is a 'how to' for any local energy group looking to develop its own renewable energy project and connect to our networganisations prefer to discuss matters in more detail. We are well placed to provide this support, in this case through the energy surgeries.	ommunity Energy' vork. However, some
2. Considered alternative	Consideration of wider alternatives:	
approaches (and	This commitment is the result of a filtering process from an initial list of alternatives that were created in our RIIO-ED2 stal	ebolder co-creation
options presented were	workshops, across two different topics: "Help local communities to achieve their net zero carbon emissions targets" and "F	
sufficiently ambitious)	between local groups and to deliver energy plans". The alternatives are shown below:	
sufficiently ambitious)	Topic: Help local communities to achieve their net zero carbon emissions targets	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Engage with LAs to support them to deliver on their net zero targets, sharing knowledge and information	Yes
	b) Support communities to deliver local energy projects, including the provision of funding and advice	Yes
	c) Take a leadership role in terms of education and communication	Yes
	d) Support communities to identify key areas suitable for renewable energy generation	Yes
	e) Encourage battery storage as part of the solution	Yes
	f) Plan proactively for the impacts of climate change	Yes
	g) Support schemes that retrofit insulation	No – beyond WPD's role
	h) Work through trusted partners in the communities (e.g. LEAP groups)	Yes
	i) Encourage entrepreneurs	No
	j) Help reduce energy use	No

	k) Take a holistic, country-wide approach	Yes
	I) Provide incentives and financial support for zero carbon energy products	No – beyond WPD's role
	m) Drive changes to national planning and investment policy that support net zero	Yes
	n) Create a clear engagement strategy that educates and gives guidance to communities reaching net zero	Yes
	 Work with government to create a national policy framework that will enable all local communities to reach net zero 	Yes
	p) Ensure that there is enough capacity in the network	Yes
	q) Engage with commercial customers	Yes
	r) Develop case studies: set up a trial village	Yes
	s) Have more involvement with local plans at the drafting stage	Yes
	t) Take a multi-level approach, working with regional stakeholders down to individuals	Yes
	u) Collaborate with suppliers	Yes
	v) Help to publicise a carbon calculator	Yes
	w) Educate customers on reducing carbon footprint	Yes
	x) Lobby government to decarbonise generation	No
	y) Develop KPIs to measure the impact of your activities	Yes
		·
	Regarding the next topic, the alternatives considered are shown in the table below:	
	Topic: Facilitate collaboration between local groups to deliver local energy plans	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Formalise an engagement plan with local authorities and developers on net zero targets and planning	Yes
	b) Provide key data: illustrative constraint information, interactive capacity maps, database of local energy groups and networks	Yes
	 c) Facilitate better collaboration between developers on new connections 	Yes
	d) Provide support and leadership to achieve net zero	Yes
	 e) Coordinate cross-agency initiatives to reduce demand and promote the use of flexibility services 	No
	 f) Lobby to become a statutory consultee on planning applications 	No
		No – Licence condition
	g) Aggregate local connections requests to facilitate, for example, district heating plans	restricts this
	h) Work with local authorities to identify prime locations on the network for delivering local, low carbon energy plans	Yes
	i) Make local plans that are based on delivering net zero	Yes
	i) Look for examples of best practice, including from other countries	Yes
	k) Provide capacity on the network to facilitate EVs	Yes
	i) Consider waste to energy and provide advice to local government	No – beyond WPD's role
	m) Provide consultancy services for local energy groups	Yes
	n) Incentivise local energy production	Yes
	o) Lead on creating a joint taskforce comprised of industry, combined authority, LA, and government	Yes
	p) Make a target to engage hard-to-reach energy groups	No
	q) Consider heat pumps as part of local energy plans, including thermal storage options	Yes
	r) Create consensual partnerships between local groups	Yes
	s) Maintain an emphasis on affordability, including for 'eco-flex' customers (working poor)	Yes
	t) Formalise an engagement plan with local authorities and developers on net zero targets and planning	Yes
	 u) Provide key data: illustrative constraint information, interactive capacity maps, database of local energy groups and networks 	Yes
	WPD will provide a dedicated WPD community energy representative to assist with connection and flexibility offers, and v consensual partnership between local groups via the realisation of this commitment.	will seek the creation of
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the	The estimated cost of Establishing Community Energy Engineers is £1.26 million in RIIO-ED2. This is one of WPD's Cus Propositions and is therefore subject to a range of cost benefit considerations mandated as part of that process.	
costs	By engaging proactively with community energy groups, we will facilitate the planning process and optimise network reinf an overall benefit for communities and WPD customers in a region. This benefit will consist of both an increase in connect	

	number of uns side, and that I I Our current re current commo	nefits (savings for local communities successful attempts at developing a of the community groups). The con Energy efficiency savings from insta ncreased value of community shar ncreased local expenditure that be Jobs created. search estimates the positive bene unity installed capacity (100MW), we be benefits we are confident that the	and implemen nmunity grou alled technolo es of success nefits the cor fit of the four <i>ie</i> are expect	iting comi ps' benef ogies. sful install nmunity. bullet poi ing signifi	munity energ its will consis lations. ints above a icant benefit	gy schemes (st of: t £164k per y s by increasir	time and reso ear, per MW i ng the ease by	urce wastage nstalled. Giver y which groups	both on WPD's
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support	As part of our results are sho	consultation, our stakeholders were own below:	e asked how	often we	should hold	surgeries. W	e gave our cu	stomers four o	ptions, and the
the Business Plan									
		1:	Not-applicable-						
		2: 30 per year – one per WPD operating region per year (bill as today)			41%				
	Option	3: 60 per year – two per WPD operating region per year (+1p on annual bill)		27%					
		4: 90 per year – three per WPD operating region per year (+2p on annual bill)		28%					
		5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming)	4%						
		0%	109	6	20%	30%	40%	50%	
					Percenta	ge of vote			
	(55%). There y particularly hig	t supported individual option was to was no consensus on the precise lo h support for introducing local WP d flexibility offers.	evel, so WPD	has pick	ed the mid-p	point option o	f '60 events a	year'. In addit	ion, there was
	The Business	Plan acceptance testing revealed t	hat a strong	majority c	of our custon	ners (78%) su	upported this o	commitment.	

5.	Customers are not exposed to	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI.
	unacceptable risks	This commitment is underpinned by a proactive approach by WPD in reaching out to communities and customers, minimising risks of fuel poverty and lack of awareness of LCTs.
		WPD has significant experience in delivering projects in partnership with energy communities, with proven benefits and can therefore minimise any risks faced.
6.	Assurance undertaken	WPD has carried out several community engagement initiatives since 2014, as mentioned in the WPD Communities Strategy paper.
		Also, WPD's experience in this area has been demonstrated by previous collaboration with several energy communities, as demonstrated by the innovation project Community Energy Action. Our work in this area has been delivered through partnerships with organisations like Regen, who have helped create our "Connecting Community Energy" guide, and the CSE who helped develop a guide on Community-Based Network Innovation.
		This collaboration ensures we are always reaching for improved resources for our communities and provides assurance that our ambitions are sufficiently stretching.

Commitment 12: Leakage of SF₆ gas

Significantly reduce our impact on climate change by delivering a 20% reduction in SF6 losses and drive industry partners to develop technological alternatives to reduce overall volumes of SF6 on the system.

Justification criteria:	WPD action	ו:				
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Significantly improve WPD's carbon footprint by reducing the risk of leaks from environmentally harmful gases from WPD's equipment.					
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	integral to th environment urged WPD	This commitment addresses the direct impact of WPD's operations on the environment. SF_6 is a highly potent Greenhouse Gas but it is currently integral to the operation of the electricity network, particularly at high voltages. Leakages of SF_6 gas can therefore cause a significant environmental impact, and at 23,000 times the potency of CO_2 , losses have a huge potential global warming impact. Stakeholders have strongly urged WPD to take action to mitigate our impact on the environment, with this issue consistently rated as a high priority at every overarching stakeholder event.				
2. Considered alternative approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	stakeholder event. Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition: In RIIO-ED1 we are committed to deliver a major 17% reduction in SF6 losses over 8 years. We have actually been able to go significantly fu				-ED1 period, but as of 2021 we ions, given that leakage rates e delivered – hence offering example, the scale of further t therefore select further be a cost/benefit consideration s for customers, switching out d lifespan. RIIO-ED1, given that the 20% reduction over the 5 year we offered stakeholders the	
	Ambition level: Bill impact:	Option 1: 5% reduction in SF ₆ losses -6p	Option 2: 10% reduction No bill impact	Option 3: 15% reduction +8p	Option 4: 20% reduction +10p	Option 5: Even further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)
	As Supplements stakeholders probed most	entary Annex SA-05 outl selected option 5 to req just sought greater clari	ines, a clear majority of sta uest an alternative approa	akeholders wanted to se ch, which was relatively	e the maximum level of ar	nbition of option 4. 10% of ommitments. However, when sholders considered the options

	 <u>Consideration of wider alternatives:</u> WPD was encouraged to work with industry partners to develop ways to eliminate SF₆ in the future, which is include commitments in this area. Another factor in the rate of SF₆ losses is the operational trade-offs required between environment versus network avoiding the risk of prolonged outages may result in allowing leaks to continue slightly longer in order to maintain of thresholds for decision-making will be reviewed and updated in RIIO-ED2 to expedite the replacement of leaking e supplies via other means (e.g. temporary generation/battery power). In addition, as key enablers to this overarching core commitment there are a number of ambitious new actions, as performance, that WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events resulted in a large number of unprom in relation to this area. Of these, the vast majority are wider commitments that we will deliver in RIIO-ED2. This is a current commitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support. 	performance data, whereby customer supplies. The equipment and maintain well as stretches to existing pted stakeholder suggestions
	Topic: Harmful leaks from WPD equipment	
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?
	a) Eliminate the use of SF ₆ and carry out research to find alternatives	Yes
	b) Create a risk assessment of assets containing SF ₆ and replace assets susceptible to leaks	Yes
	c) Set a target for reducing harmful leaks and monitor the environmental impacts	Yes
	d) Reduce use of oils	Yes
	e) Set clear targets and adopt best practice in terms of regularly inspecting and replacing equipment	Yes
	f) Look at examples of best practice from other sectors	Yes
	g) Increase the efficiency of transmission	Yes
	h) Encourage innovation around heat capturing technologies	Yes
	i) Focus on innovation to replace harmful materials j) Increased replacement of assets	Yes Yes
		Tes
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	We will significantly improve WPD's carbon footprint by reducing the risk of leaks from environmentally harmful gas Targeted asset replacement via early leakage detection and prioritising assets with the poorest health condition wi spend for customers and deliver actions that deliver the greatest overall environmental benefit. Were WPD to seek replacement of assets containing SF ₆ (that are currently in good condition and operating effectively) in the interests environmental impact risk this could actually cause negative environmental impacts. For example, we must consid associated with the manufacturing, transport and use of concrete in the asset replacement activity required for larg caused as a result of bringing forward the asset replacement of non-leaking equipment. Customers place significant value on the achievement of this outcome, with a mean value of £1.26 per customer, a willingness to pay research (see Supplementary Annex SA-05). The total expenditure for this commitment per yea which is outstripped significantly be the value placed on it by customers.	Il ensure the most efficient to bring forward the s of removing potential er the embodied carbon ge switchgear, which would be as revealed by WPD's r equates to 10p per customer,
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As set out in detail in Annex 5, stakeholders place a very high priority on the importance of reducing leaks from SF technological alternatives that will enable the eventual total removal of SF ₆ for the electricity system.	₆ and seeking to develop

	1: 5% reduction in SF6 losses (-6p on annual bill)				
	2: 10% reduction in SF6 losses (bill as today) 37%				
	3: 15% reduction in SF6 losses (+8p on annual bill) 6%				
	4: 20% reduction in SF6 losses (+10p on annual bill)				
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming)				
	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% Percentage of vote				
	The majority of stakeholders wanted to see greater ambition, and of the five options considered, 44% supported the maximum target level of a 20% reduction. 10% wanted to suggest an alternative commitment, which was relatively high compared to other commitments. When probed, most sought greater clarity to understand the scale of the problem. WPD was encouraged to work with industry partners to develop ways to eliminate SF ₆ in the future.				
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	acceptance testing. We have a very strong track record of delivering improvements in this area and significantly outperforming our targets. While this is an ambitious commitment and an increase from RIIO-ED1, customers can have confidence that this target and the activity volumes required to deliver it are highly achievable as WPD's environmental and network services teams are therefore well placed to understand the work involved in delivery and to meet the ambitious targets set.				
	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI.				
	In addition, achieving a reduction in SF ₆ is very high on the environment regulator's radar; therefore any under delivery against this commitment would bring significant reputational risk and would bring legal compliance issues regarding pollution prevention and control legislation.				
	Even in the unlikely event of under delivery WPD's actions in this area are a vital contribution to the overall achievement of driving net zero across our own operations and meeting the Science Based Target of 1.5°C to limit the climate impact of our activities, for which there is very strong stakeholder support and high customer value associated with actions to deliver this.				
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD's performance in this area will be presented and externally audited as part of the ISO14001 Environmental Management accreditation standard each year. Ofgem requires the annual publication of an environment report as part of the Environmental Action Plan to enable				

comparisons of delivery outcomes between DNOs. In addition, this commitment is in line the scope of the ESG rating and assessment that WPD will voluntarily undergo each year.
WPD's published BCF data, the methodology, assumptions, and calculations have been verified and data assured for accuracy and compliance with various standards – including the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) reporting protocol and ISO14064-1 (part of the wider ISO14001 assessment).
WPD's commitment in this area is also in line with annual company environmental reporting required as part of UK legislation, via the Streamlined Energy Carbon Reporting regulations (covering scope 1 and scope 2 company emissions).

Commitment 13: Waste sent to landfill

Significantly reduce the environmental impact of our operations by achieving zero waste to landfill by 2028 (excluding hazardous waste) and delivering an overall 30% reduction in tonnage waste produced.

Justification criteria:	WPD action	ו:				
Desired outcome - agreed						the carbon impact of our
with stakeholders		operations. By removing our use of landfill, we will also remove the negative environmental impact of land waste disposal including				
(see Annex 5)		nherent emissions associated with this process (e.g. methane). Additional benefits include improving our cost efficiency by reducing				
		s of single use materials				
1. Actions are appropriate						rged WPD to take action to
for a DNO	mitigate our	impact on the environment	, with this issue consistent	ly rated as a high priority a	at every overarching stake	holder event.
		produced by our operation				
		n. The cost of waste dispo				
		ced can help to reduce cos				
		ot only aid the environment der supply chain.	but also drives eniciency	via reuse of materials. WP	D is also well placed to all	ect real positive change
2. Considered alternative		offer these options / evider	ce of appropriate ambition			
approaches (and		waste reduction we offere			ving zero waste to landfill	This is a believable target
options presented were		D1 we have achieve drama				
sufficiently ambitious)		have confidence we can a				
,						
	In relation to	In relation to total tonnage of waste produced, there is inevitably a cap in how far this can be reduced as some waste is inevitable as a result of				
	our core operations, work types and activity volumes (although we are driving this down as much as can). We conducted modelling ahead of					
	devising the options for stakeholders to consider and a maximum achievement of 30% is modelled on specific actions, particularly in relation to					
	packaging a	packaging and arrangements with suppliers. We therefore have high confidence it is a very stretching, but achievable target. In addition, we				
	offered stake	eholders the option to sugg	est entirely different altern	atives and/or even greater	levels of ambition.	
					-	
		Option 1:	Option 2:	Option 3:	Option 4:	Option 5:
	Ambition	15% reduction in tonnage	20% reduction	25% reduction	30% reduction	Even further ambition / an
	level:	of waste per £ total business expenditure				alternative (uncapped)
	Bill impact:	-0.5p	No bill impact	+0.5p	+1p	
		•·•F	···· ···· ···· ···· ·····		I · · F	-
	Ambition		10%	5%	Zero	Even further ambition / an
	level:	_	of waste sent to landfill	of waste sent to landfill	waste sent to landfill	alternative (uncapped)
	Bill impact:	-	No bill impact	+0.5p	+1p	-
		n of wider alternatives:	wooto wo oro working with		ustry collocation to devide	n alternative dianagal
		the disposal of hazardous		i our supply chain and ind	usity colleagues to develo	p alternative disposal
	methods, bu	t at present these do not ye	el exist.			

	As key enablers to this overarching core commitment there are a number of ambitious new actions, as well as stretches to existing performance, that WPD has committed to deliver. WPD's co-creation events resulted in a large number of unprompted stakeholder suggestions in relation to this area. Of these, the vast majority are wider commitments that we will deliver in RIIO-ED2. This is a strong indication that WPD's current commitments are at a level of ambition that stakeholders support. For example:		
	Topic: Harmful leaks from WPD equipment		
	Stakeholder created actions	Included in WPD's Plan?	
	a) Focus on supporting a circular economy and ensure that your supply chain partners do the same	Yes	
	b) Reduce the amount of waste you generate and set a 'zero waste to landfill' target date (e.g. 2025)	Yes	
	c) Reduce, reuse, and recycle all materials and assets, including cables	Yes	
	d) Produce and implement a waste hierarchy model with clearly defined targets	Yes	
	e) Incentivise staff to reduce their use of skips f) Use recyclable materials where possible, e.g. PPE and copper	Yes Yes	
	g) Get involved in local initiatives	Yes	
	h) Where possible, repair IT equipment rather than buying new	Yes	
	i) Exceed all current recycling standards	Yes	
	j) Link with community groups, including when disposing of wood from felling / lopping as this can be put to use	Partial - we will investigate opportunities with our waste contractors. There may be possible legal compliance issues	
	k) Donate old materials to groups and organisations who may be able to put them to use	which would need to be resolved.	
	I) Consider all waste, not just plastic	Yes	
	m) Ensure that the land you own is used sustainably	Yes	
	n) Research / invest in waste to energy plants	No - confusion on WPD's role	
	o) Focus on recycling initiatives for EV batteries	Yes	
	In addition, there were 9 recommended initiatives (that have been adopted in our RIIO-ED2 B plastic use.		
3. Costs are efficient and benefits of the actions plausibly outweigh the costs	WPD were able to offer a further significant reduction in waste to landfill beyond the levels achieved in RIIO-ED1 at minimal cost increase (£150k per annum) and therefore minimal bill impact. This is therefore a measure of the ongoing efficiency of our costs insofar as we would be able to deliver increased volumes of activities with very little increased cost for customers.		
	As outlined in relation to WPD's core commitment to achieve net zero in our overall BCF by 2028, customers place significant value on the achievement of a dramatic reduction in WPD's BCF, with a mean value of £1.60 per customer, as revealed by WPD's willingness to pay research (see Supplementary Annex SA-05). The total expenditure for this commitment per year equates to 2p per customer, which is outstripped significantly be the value placed on it by customers.		
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	As Supplementary Annex SA-05 outlines, a clear majority of stakeholders wanted to see the maximum level of ambition, with a combined 62% of stakeholders wanting to greater ambition from option 2 (WPD's initial minded-to position) in relation to waste reduction. Separately 69% of stakeholders favoured zero waste to landfill. Across the two questions only 5% selected option 5 to go even further, indicating that stakeholders considered the options presented to be in the correct range and sufficiently ambitious.		



	In addition to the very high levels of stakeholder support for this commitment, 82% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing.
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	We have a very strong track record of delivering improvements in this area, including significantly outperforming our RIIO-ED1 targets. While this is an ambitious commitment and an increase from RIIO-ED1, customers can have confidence that this target and the activity volumes required to deliver it are highly achievable as WPD's environmental and network services teams are therefore well placed to understand the work involved in delivery and to meet the ambitious targets set.
	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI. Over and above annual reporting to Ofgem, WPD is required to report performance in this area to the Environment Agency in England and Natural Resources Wales to evidence our compliance with environmental standards and legislation. There would therefore be significant reputational risk in the event of under delivery and potential enforcement action were we to be in breach of legislation. In addition, achieving a reduction in waste is very high on the Welsh Government's environmental agenda; therefore any under delivery against this commitment would bring further reputational risk and political pressure regarding waste prevention and control legislation.
	In a further step to minimise risk to customers of funding under delivery, we currently have very close working relationship with our waste contractors who are critical to the success of this initiative, and we will include contractual penalties to mitigate against risk of under delivery within our supply chain.
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD's performance in this area will be presented and externally audited as part of the ISO14001 Environmental Management accreditation standard each year. Ofgem requires the annual publication of an environment report as part of the Environmental Action Plan to enable comparisons of delivery outcomes between DNOs. In addition, this commitment is in line the scope of the ESG rating and assessment that WPD will voluntarily undergo each year.
	WPD's published BCF data, the methodology, assumptions, and calculations have been verified and data assured for accuracy and compliance with various standards – including the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) reporting protocol and ISO14064-1 (part of the wider ISO14001 assessment).
	WPD's commitment in this area is also in line with annual company environmental reporting required as part of UK legislation, via the Streamlined Energy Carbon Reporting regulations (covering scope 1 and scope 2 company emissions).

Commitment 16: Innovation driving efficiency

Keep bills for customers low by delivering an additional stretch efficiency saving of £95 million through RIIO-ED2 (on top of £723 million of efficiencies already included in the plan) by utilising innovation to improve our processes and show a positive carbon impact.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Ensure WPD pursues continual innovation across its full range of processes and successful innovation is quickly rolled out across the business to improve day-to-day operations to improve WPD's efficiency and overall quality of service for customers.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	WPD has been very active in carrying out innovation work for more than 10 years. This has led to the development of a number of new processes and ways of managing the network that are now incorporated within our Business as Usual activities. In many cases, innovation projects have contributed to the evolution of these new processes.
	We want to ensure that the innovation work that we carry out is seeking to provide a benefit or enhancement. For this reason, we carry out a cost benefit assessment to identify the potential benefits of each innovation project. This may be a bespoke benefit arising from the project or a benefit that contributes to a wider innovation challenge.
	WPD is focused on maintaining and improving the performance of our network. We aim to explore every possibility to maintain asset health and to promote operational excellence.
2. Considered alternative approaches (and options presented were	The full justification for these efficiencies and how they have been arrived at can be found in WPD's 'Destination net zero: Business Innovation and Efficiency Strategy.
sufficiently ambitious)	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition: Several stakeholders praised WPD for being the best DNO for innovation and flagged that trying to speed up the process of innovation trials into business as usual is really important as there is often fatigue at the end of projects and it's essential that key successes are rolled out widely across WPD's operations to achieve maximum benefit.
	We want to ensure that the innovation work that we carry out is seeking to provide a benefit or enhancement. For this reason, we decided to specify that each innovation carry out a cost benefit assessment to identify the potential benefits of each project. This may be a bespoke benefit arising from the project or a benefit that contributes to a wider innovation challenge. We asked our stakeholders about carrying out a cost benefit assessment and implementing the resulting innovation into business practice, with the results below:



	plausibly outweigh the costs	As written, WPD's objective is that this commitment will lead to the realisation of £95 million of savings in business efficiencies, far outweighing the cost of the initial innovation activities and undertaking the cost benefit assessments.
4.	Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	Our stakeholders felt that a commitment on efficiency was important but that we needed to show the extent of the savings this efficiency will lead to throughout RIIO-ED2. We have since reworded the commitment to specify a saving of £95 million. This commitment was not included in our first draft Business Plan but was added as a new core commitment, following consultation with our
		stakeholders who felt we should include a core commitment on efficiency. In our second draft Business Plan, we proposed a new core commitment to deliver service improvement, driven by business efficiencies, to ensure customers saved money on their bills. In the consultation, customers were asked if they were happy with this commitment.
		95% supported the commitment to ensure a positive carbon impact for every innovation scheme. Stakeholders stated that decisions regarding innovation projects should not be based solely on cost benefits, but also the consideration of the environmental and carbon reductions they could achieve. Stakeholders accepted that in general there may be a need for costs to increase in order to deliver on the UK's net zero aspirations. However, across several commitments, stakeholders sought clarity on how the actions we take will improve the efficiency of our operations. They therefore wanted assurances that our first priority will always be to pursue efficiencies and innovative approaches to achieve more for less cost, and therefore any increases in customer bills would only be necessary as a last resort.
		The Business Plan Acceptance testing revealed that a strong majority of our customers (85%) supported this commitment.
5.	Customers are not exposed to	If WPD under delivers against this commitment, we will incur reputational penalties as part of the ODI.
	unacceptable risks	We realise that the implementation of innovation project into Business as Usual activities may be improved, given that there have been signs of fatigue in the end of innovation projects. As internal communication in WPD is essential, this commitment will be underpinned by the nomination of a senior project sponsor that will be responsible for the successful follow up and implementation of innovation projects that will drive efficiencies. This senior sponsor will ensure there are no unacceptable risks to WPD's delivery.
6.	Assurance undertaken	WPD experience in this area has been demonstrated via the realisation of more than 50 innovation projects funded via Ofgem's Innovation incentives during RIIO-ED1.
		This success has been built on the strong internal innovation framework, based on internationally recognised project management methodologies (PRINCE2). This framework is documented within our Project Governance Guidelines, ensuring that our team consistently follow best practice in all projects.
		Lastly, to ensure that our innovation work provides solutions to Whole System challenges, we have strengthened our links with the water and rail industries, as well as international DNOs who are leading the industry changes in their countries. We believe that close collaboration between industry leaders internationally is the only way to effectively address global issues such as decarbonisation.

Commitment 20: Priority Services Register (PSR) reach

Expand the reach of our Priority Services Register to at least 75% of total eligible customers and 80% of customers with critical medical dependencies to ensure those in greatest need receive targeted support services. This will include registering at least 50,000 additional hard-to-reach customers each year.

Justification criteria:	WPD action:
Desired outcome - agreed with stakeholders (see Annex 5)	Customers with the most serious vulnerabilities are proactively identified and offered support.
1. Actions are appropriate for a DNO	As a Licenced DNO, WPD shall maintain a PSR. Eligible PSR Customers are Domestic Customers who are either of pensionable age, disabled, chronically sick or live with children aged under 5, or due to otherwise being in a vulnerable situation, in need of additional services related to their access, safety and communication needs. Key hard-to-reach groups include customers with the most serious vulnerabilities, such as visual or hearing impaired or with medical dependencies.
	Ofgem's RIIO-ED2 Business Plans Guidance sets out baseline expectations for vulnerability strategies under four key principles: support consumers in vulnerable situations, maximise opportunities to identify consumers in vulnerable situations, understand new forms of vulnerability and embed the approach to protect the interests of consumers in vulnerable situations. The RIIO-ED2 Business Plan guidance requests networks to submit a Vulnerability Strategy, establishing the baseline for our support to vulnerable and fuel poor customers. It must address three primary areas of focus: vulnerability during a loss of supply; being in, or at risk of, fuel poverty; and the risk of being left behind by the energy system transition towards net zero.
	The core focus of the PSR must always be to protect the most vulnerable in our region against the risks associated with a power cut. To provide bespoke support for customers and increase the reach of our programme, we must locate the hardest to reach and most in need, establishing effective, trusted contact through a single point and continually improve the accuracy of the data we hold. As a DNO, WPD is uniquely positioned to deliver this commitment. WPD has a licence obligation to maintain the PSR and it can be used to improve the lives of 50.000 hard-to-reach customers. WPD has a long experience in this space, working with hundreds of partners to identify and register vulnerable customers. WPD's consumer vulnerability data mapping enables us to see where potentially high volumes of vulnerability align with gaps in our PSR take up. As part of our strategy, we will reach out to trusted local agencies which can help to extend our support to these areas, ensuring that more comprehensive overage.
	In addition, the PSR will increasingly be a crucial tool to enable wider, bespoke support to customers, particularly in relation to the smart energy transition. WPD owns and constantly seeks to improve relations with vulnerable and fuel poor customers. Vulnerable customers have previously encountered difficulties in adhering to smart energy plans (Ofgem Market Report). As a trusted party, known to be independent of providing products and commercial services, it is appropriate for WPD to be contacting vulnerable customers on this matter. These customers may need additional support. It is crucial that this support comes through an independent source, such as WPD. With this commitment, customers with the most serious vulnerabilities are proactively identified and offered support.
2. Considered alternative approaches (and options presented were sufficiently ambitious)	Why did we offer these options / evidence of appropriate ambition: WPD's initial target for total PSR reach (actual sign ups vs total eligibility) in our first Business Plan submission to Ofgem in July 2021 (40%) was based on the most recent social indicator mapping data analysis (2019) available at the time. We had conducted optioneering with customers for levels of improvement from a starting baseline of 25-30% reach (when calculated on total population in our region of circa 28 million) as follows:

	Option 1:	Option 2:	Option 3:	Option 4:	Option 5:
Ambition level:	Identify and engage 20,000 hard-to-reach vulnerable	30,000 customers annually	40,000 customers annually	50,000 customers annually	Even further ambition / an alternative (uncapped)
	customers each year to join the Priority Services Register within RIIO-ED2	(35% reach – based on total population)	(37.5% reach – based on total population)	(40% reach – based on total population)	
	(32.5% reach – based on total population)				
Bill impact:	-0.5p	No bill impact	+0.5p	+1p	-
WPD's existing bas Total Analy This methodology of interventions. In or methodology, but ti now based on hous also multiple PSR on households not This shows that Wi Total PSR By applying the sca ED2 as follows, wh Total PSR We have provided Customer Vulneratic consistency is ther unrivalled PSR dat	seline of 25-30% PSR re population (not househo rsis against standalone v nave multiple vulnerabiliti was previously fit-for-pur der to consider a more ro his was not complete in t scholds and the overall v occupants). Importantly t population. PD's updated current bas PSR reach: ~59% of tota reach specifically for crit ale of improvement reque ich were subject to furth PSR reach: 75% of total reach specifically for crit a more detailed overview polity strategy. There is a efore difficult. However, la	ach was based on: olds, and also not conside vulnerability reason code ies). pose as the analysis was obust view of total reach, time for the July Busines vulnerable situations facilithis allows us to compare selines are as follows: al eligible customers (To ical medical needs (hear ested previously by stake er stakeholder consultati I eligible customers ical medical needs (hear w of our methodology, wi lack of clarity on how the based on the published h RIIO-ED1) and our updat	ering cases of multiple P s (not considering the co s used to identify and tar , we began re-running ou s Plan submission. This ng those occupants (the e more accurately with W tal eligible households = t and lung, dialysis and o eholders via our extensiv on in September 2021: t and lung, dialysis and o th a breakdown of the da e other DNO PSR targets headlines alone, WPD's ted targets for RIIO-ED2	SR occupancy) incidence of these codes rget WPD's PSR promotion analysis in early 2021, has since been complete refore considering where (PD's current PSR total current) (PD's current	ed and WPD's latest data is reason codes overlap and of 1.9 million, which is based istered 1.9m) osed new targets for RIIO- tal eligibility, in our updated osolute comparability and best in sector (following our ustry, which is compatible
Consideration of w In addition, as key performance, that v in relation to this au	ider alternatives: enablers to this overarch WPD has committed to d rea. Of these, the vast m	ning core commitment the leliver. WPD's co-creatio	ere are a number of amb n events resulted in a la ments that we will delive	itious new actions, as we	ell as stretches to existing ed stakeholder suggestions strong indication that WPD's

	Topic: Identifying vulnerability			
	Stakeholder created actions: Includ			
	 a) Continue to identify vulnerability by working with partners including local authorities, disability forums and health and social care providers 	Yes		
	b) Broaden the description of vulnerability and clearly define what this means ensuring the terminology you use does not put customers off	Yes		
	c) Map customers according to demographics to identify vulnerable customers and consider carrying out a vulnerability census	Yes		
	d) Include vulnerable premises such as are homes and sheltered accommodation on the PSR	Yes		
	e) Use smart meter data to identify vulnerable customers	No – licence conditions restrict this		
	f) Raise awareness of the PSR and the services you provide	Yes		
	g) Consider rural vulnerabilities and vulnerable areas such as those prone to flooding	Yes		
	h) Work with suppliers to identify vulnerability	Yes		
	i) Share vulnerability data with emergency services	Yes		
	j) Identify the right source of help for vulnerable customers	Yes		
	k) Show leadership in this area and foster a joined-up approach with relevant partners	Yes		
	I) Understand that the risk of vulnerability increases with electrification	Yes		
	m) Continue to train WPD workforce to identify vulnerability	Yes		
	n) Develop automated registration for customers reliant on medical equipment	Yes		
	o) Continue to develop one PSR across utilities	Yes		
	p) Work with the postal service	Yes		
costs	 period of RIIO-ED2. Societal benefit This commitment contributes to the delivery of the consumer Vulnerability Strategy, with a wider positive social impact in the territory covered by our network. Under this commitment, customers with the most serious vulnerabilities are proactively identified and offered support. The benefit is largely felt in the form of reduced stress during an outage; a benefit that applies to approximately half of WPD's 1.9 million PSR customers a year (the average customer is impacted by a power cut once every two years). In addition to reduced stress, our PSR customers are eligible for additional support, in the form of crisis packs, portable generators, and British Red Cross support, that can only be provided effectively to those with updated details on our register. WPD provides thousands of generator hours and crisis packs each year, enabled by the PSR. This commitment is valued by our customers at £1.91 through our willingness to pay research, resulting in a total benefit of £15.28m, 			
4. Customers, as well as stakeholders, support the Business Plan	significantly above the cost to deliver. Our stakeholders wanted us to ensure that we encourage hard-to-reach vulnerable customer to join our PSR, revealing this as a high priority area. In RIIO-ED1 on average, around 20,000 newly identified customers are registered to WPD's PSR each year, as a result of our outreach and referral partnerships. Stakeholders discussed the difficulties in identifying and engaging the vulnerable, especially as a result of communication going digital due to the pandemic, and because it is a private matter and sometimes people do not feel comfortable or become defensive discussing these issues. Stakeholders therefore wanted to see WPD set up a referral process with partner organisations. The pandemic has also revealed different types of vulnerability that need to be understood and accounted for.			

	As set out in detail in Annex 5, stakeholders place a very high priority on the importance of this core commitment:						
	1: 20,000 customers (-0.5p on annual bill)						
	2: 30,000 customers (bill as today) 36%						
	3: 40,000 customers (+0.5p on annual bill) 12%						
	4: 50,000 customers (+1p on annual bill)						
	5: I would prefer to suggest an alternative (discussion session upcoming)						
	0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% Percentage of vote						
	While there was some disagreement in the feedback received from stakeholders initially, a majority of 54% wanted WPD to go further than our initial proposal of option 2. Of the five options the highest support (38%) was for WPD to identify 50,000 new customers a year. Informing our decision to go with this option was the fact that an even higher proportion of end user customers (57%) supported this option out of the five offered. Covid-19 was also seen as a factor in increasing the number of people likely to need support, and at our engagement events through 2021 we saw the strength of stakeholder feeling for WPD to go as far as possible in identifying and supporting customers in vulnerable situations strengthen considerably.						
5. Customers are not exposed to unacceptable risks	 This culminated in 81% of customers supported this initiative as part of WPD's acceptance testing. WPD's performance in relation to customer vulnerability will be subject to a financial ODI, which means that significant under delivery against the targets set for this commitment could result in financial penalties being imposed. In addition, with such a significant cost benefit per supported customer as outlined above, even a modest under delivery against the overall target would still deliver significant benefits to all customers identified and registered on the PSR. 						
	 WPD is experienced in delivering the work required by this commitment, minimising the risk of under delivery. During RIIO-ED1, we have delivered significant work to update and maintain an accurate PSR and support vulnerable customers, and WPD proactively contacted 957,3 PSR customers. Achievements included: 43,856 direct sign ups to WPD's PSR 106 PSR referral networks identifying hard-to-reach customers 						

	 19 fuel poverty support schemes all provide PSR referrals 60k reached by PSR 'YouAreOurPriority' social media campaign Online PSR Information Hub created 46,500 patients reached by PSR animation adverts in GP surgeries
6. Assurance undertaken	WPD has a strong track record of external accreditations from independent experts who assess and endorse our vulnerability processes. These institutions and associated accreditations (including the BSI standard for inclusive service provision, the Customer Service Excellence Standard, Action on Hearing Loss' Louder Than Words accreditation and AbilityNet accessibility accreditation) provide guidance and advice that allow us to set strategic direction, assuring us that our targets are sufficiently ambitious based on extensive benchmarking across a range of sectors.



Western Power Distribution (East Midlands) plc, No2366923 Western Power Distribution (West Midlands) plc, No3600574 Western Power Distribution (South West) plc, No2366894 Western Power Distribution (South Wales) plc, No2366985

53

9

Registered in England and Wales Registered Office: Avonbank, Feeder Road, Bristol BS2 0TB

www.westernpower.co.uk





